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CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY
LIMITED

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
under the stock code 291.HK, is a subsidiary company of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”). The Group focuses on the
manufacturing, sales and distribution of beer products, and is the parent
company of China Resources Snow Breweries Limited.

In 2015, the Group successfully completed its business restructuring by the
disposal of all non-beer businesses (including retail, food and beverage
businesses) to CRH. It transformed itself into a beer-focused corporate and
strengthened its leading market position. The Group was renamed from “China
Resources Enterprise, Limited” to “China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Limited”.

The Group has been in the beer business in China since 1994. lts total sales
volume ranked No.1 in the China market since 2006. The flagship brand “=
1€ Snow” has become the largest single beer brand by volume worldwide
since 2008. Building on the strategy of “market leadership with operational
excellence and outstanding brands”, the Company will further upgrade its
product mix; extract value through synergies from mergers and acquisitions;
strengthen its geographical coverage; and further improve its profitability.

As a member of China Resources Group, the Company is dedicated to the
corporate mission of “Better Life Together”, pursuing excellence to bring
quality life to customers.
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Completion of the first phase of new
Zhengzhou production plant with annual
capacity of 0.6 million kiloliters in Anhui
Province. The total annual production
capacity of the plant will be 1 million
kiloliters.
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The retail business started using a new
brand logo — a six-point red star
representing the brand’s philosophy of
“modern, high-quality, caring, fresh,
economy and convenient” — a new
milestone in the integration of the Group
and Tesco PLC.

2 8 March
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The beer business held the start-up
ceremony of the campaign “SNOW —
Great Expedition, Challenge the
Unclimbed by College Students”. It was
the 11th consecutive year that the
campaign to promote the spirit of
“ambitious, challenging and innovative”
was held.
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P

Launch of the new brand concept of “Purify
Your Heart, Beautify Your Life” by the “}&
2 C’estbon” brand focuses on product
quality and addresses consumers’
emotional needs.
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The first “448% express” convenience
store opened in Shenzhen, becoming a
superior convenience store brand in the
retail business with the operating concept
of “My Life, My Home”.
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The retail business ranked No. 1 on the “Top
100 Fast Moving Consumer Goods Chain
Stores in China” list for 5 consecutive years
and No. 3 on the “2014 Top 100 Chain
Stores in China” list by China Chain Store
& Franchise Association.
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The food business received the “National
Model for Business Integrity and
Operation” certificate by the China
General Chamber of Commerce, and the
“Hangzhou Labor Day Honor” by the
Hangzhou Federation of Trade Unions, in
recognition of its integrity, social
credibility and economic benefit.
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Launch of the 30th anniversary campaign
of beverage business with the theme of
“Having Our Hearts Set on C’estbon for
30 Years”. Front-line staff was
interviewed and their work life was filmed
to enhance team cohesion and
employees’ recognition of corporate
culture,
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The parent company, CRH proposed to
acquire the non-beer businesses (including
retail, food and beverage businesses) with
an offer of HK$28 billion (in consideration
of the surge in the stock market during
trade suspension of the Company shares
in early April, the transaction price was
increased to HK$30 billion in June). The
Company will transform into a beer-
focused company.
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Inauguration of the national photo
competition on Chinese architecture “Snow
Draft Beer Ingenuity in Craft” in 2015 in
collaboration with The School of
Architecture, Tsinghua University. It is the
first time of the competition under the
theme of “sets of brackets” with the view
to popularizing and inheriting traditional
Chinese culture.
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“E3E Snow” ranked 28th on the World
Brand Laboratory’s list of “China’s 500
Most Valuable Brands” in 2015. Its brand
value surged to RMB98.075 billion.
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Launch of online retail store “e& % ew;.
com”, extending retail business to the
e-commerce market, brings into full play
the nationwide store network to form an
integrated online and offline (O20) retail
chain.
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The retail business ranked No. 1 on the
“2014 Top 50 Chain Stores in Guangdong”
list by Guangdong Chain Operation
Association for the 5th consecutive year.
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Cross-border e-commerce individual
physical shop under retail business
“e 8% ewj.com” opened in Shenzhen.
“e BZX ewj.com” cross-border
e-commerce zones in certain of its
hypermarkets in Shenzhen were
established in September, allowing

customers to conveniently purchase high
quality cross-border products.
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The disposal of the non-beer businesses
to CRH was completed (The proposal
had obtained support of 98.84% of voted
independent shareholders in August).
The Company changed its name from
“China Resources Enterprise, Limited” to
“China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Limited” in October.

+ 28 Jecember
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The China Brand Power Index
announced by China’s Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology at
the “2015 Fourth China Brand Leader
Summit”; “Z7E Snow” selected as the “Top
Beer Brand”.
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2REE25058

E 578

Top 250 Global Retailers
Ranked 78th

z B ﬁ/ﬁaaﬁ/

MERCOMM, INC.
MERCOMM, INC.

Mercury Awards
1&£5% - 3RR2EER
Mercury Awards

1 Gold, 3 Bronzes and 2 Honors

Z B March

a2 M 38 F)) 5 5%
YAZHOU ZHOUKAN

2IREF 100051745
2014FEHRAGELFERR
Global Chinese Business
1000 Ranking

The Largest Conglomerates
Company Award 2014

(5 )
THE MIRROR

FNER/ECETSEER
The 4th Outstanding Corporate
Social Responsibility Award

w B 45/‘//

(ZE M 1 3R B OR) M
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE ASIA

20155 EEn il S MR\ RIG AR
DNREEFHNTE (REEBR)
DNREEEVHE (REEBR)
TNGRECELSER
REREEE

REREEBRRLE
BEREEBREAER

Asian Excellence Recognition
Awards 2015

Asia's Best CEO (Investor Relations)
Asia's Best CFO (Investor Relations)
Asia's Best Corporate Social
Responsibility

Best Environmental Responsibility
Best Investor Relations Company
Best Investor Relations Professional

%8 /%/

(18 10 1) 3 5&
FORBES

21200058 %
£55120012
Global 2000
Ranked 1200th

BERREEMAGS
HONG KONG INVESTOR
RELATIONS ASSOCIATION

F-EERBREERERR
BREREEBRAT — PERK
BEREGEBEERES — FER

HKIRA 1st Investor Relations Awards
Best IR Company — Mid Cap

Best IRO (Investor Relations Officer)
— Mid Cap

hk &

IR Awards
¥ BJuty

(B & Bll) 3 58
FORTUNE CHINA

FEI5005R %
£515E381u
Fortune China 500
Ranked 38th

XESREXRKNA
LEAGUE OF AMERICAN
COMMUNICATIONS
PROFESSIONALS LLC
(LACP)

2014 VisionF 3R LL B A5

128K 2MR 1%

2014 Vision Awards Annual Report
Competition

1 Gold and 2 Silvers
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MERCOMM, INC.
MERCOMM, INC.
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15R%% - SR R1IBRE
International Annual Report
Competition (ARC) Awards

1 Silver, 5 Bronzes and 1 Honor

+8 Qetober

(B —B) M=
ECONOMIC DIGEST

2015F EEBA LD EKE

BRAH EmhE

Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises
Parade 2015

Hong Kong Outstanding

Enterprise Award

N T AR A
RETAIL ASIA

DABEBEAZTELEKRE
Best of the Best T ABRITTE
BERE
FHE+AREZSELESHE
Retail Asia Pacific Top 500 Awards
Best of the Best Retailers Award,
Asia Pacific
© Top 10 Retailers in China —

Gold Award

+— B Movember

BEEREDNAIHS

THE HONG KONG
INSTITUTE OF

FINANCIAL ANALYSTS
AND PROFESSIONAL
COMMENTATORS LIMITED

2015FERERESMAHE LH D
AR

ERARFERSE

IFAPC Outstanding Listed Company
Award 2015

Outstanding Listed Company

of the Year

+Z 8 December

(Bt &) 5 58
THE ASSET

2015F EH & b HRIE

BIERIE - DEER HEEE
RIBEIRRELZBFRESE

The Asset Corporate Awards 2015
Gold Award for Financial Performance,
Corporate Governance, Social
Responsibility, Environmental
Responsibility and Investor Relations

E 3R 2015 Annual Report
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE ASIA

2015FEE N EESRB AR
TNEEES

Asian Corporate Director of the Year
Award 2015

Asian Corporate Director

G2 & R B O8) M
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE ASIA

2015F E M EERRIB AR

TN TR

Corporate Governance Asia
Recognition Awards 2015

Asia's Icon on Corporate Governance
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Frnancial ///}é//}ét@

(2T —RAF+=-_A=+—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2015

EXE
TURNOVER
BEREZXK
Continuing operations
75 ¥ B & 7T HKS million

SREARBERF

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

FEKE XK
Continuing operations

7B T HKS

2015 m 34,821 2015 0.34
2014 m 34,482 2014 0.30
2013 ‘ 32,994 2013 0.37
=2-1% —F-nmE  ZF-=F
2015 2014 2013
BEBER BEBET BEBHETT
HK$ million HK$ million HKS$ million
= Turnover
—HEREER — continuing operations 34,821 34,482 32,994
— BRI E — discontinued operations’ 98,416 134,488 113,578
HEERBEZRS Elimination of inter-segment transactions (134) (106) (159)
133,103 168,864 146,413
RATIREEEE R (EE) Profit/oss) attributable to
shareholders of the Company
—HEBERECER — continuing operations 831 730 899
—BERIEEE 7 ER — discontinued operations' (4,826) (891) 1,009
(3,995) (161) 1,908
MR EAR REERN, () Basic and diuted earnings/(loss)
(BT per share (HK$)
—FBEREERS — continuing operations $0.34 $0.30 $0.37
— BRIEEE 7R — discontinued operations’ $(1.99) $(0.37) $0.42
$(1.65) $(0.07) $0.79
R A% B (GE & T) Dividend per share (HK$)
— i Hf — interim - $0.11 $0.13
— K — final - $0.16 $0.14
- $0.27 $0.27
— 3 — special $12.30 - -




R-ZZE—RAF+=-HA=+—H Asat31 December2015

R B PR A5 R
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

3R 2015 Annual Report

SREEFE: REE

NET ASSETS PER SHARE: BOOK VALUE

75 ® 8 & 7T HKS million 78 % JT HKS

2015 . 12,003' 2015 . 4,931

2014 ‘ 48,747 2014 - 20.14

2013 - 44,073 2013 - 18.34

R-B-FF R-T-NF R-T-=F
+=ZA=+—-R t=-A=+—-8B +Z-A=+—H
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December
2015 2014 2013
BEEET BEBET BEBETT
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
NN R e Equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company 12,003 48,747 44,073

JE 58 1) A% B AE 25 Non-controlling interests 11,057 20,876 15,538

B Total equity 23,060 69,623 59,611

HAERFE Consolidated net borrowings 3,210 8,063 1,167

B &% Gearing ratio? 13.9% 11.6% 2.0%

e =S Current ratio 0.59 0.76 0.86

K& EFE: Net assets per share:

—BREAEEET) — book value (HK$) $4.93 $20.14 $18.34

B 5E Notes:

1. AEEBR-ZTE—AFNA—AEHEHEEHEE 1. The Group disposed of its non-beer businesses on 1 September 2015. These
BT EBRCIRE M B RE LR E55E Y 1E businesses are presented as discontinued operations according to the Hong Kong
BARIEEE 7 ¥ - Financial Reporting Standard 5.

2. BELERERAEFFERAERAOLD - 2. Gearing ratio represents the ratio of consolidated net borrowings to total equity.
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EIHBRFUME A MBREFBHEMIME
4/{45}@/& af [ arnover and FBIT DA

(2T —RAF+=-_A=+—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2015

BHEFRBZEREE
TURNOVER BY SEGMENT

s . o+

B R &I HK$ million
2015 34,821
! 98,282

® @ ®

Total

B H & 7T HKS million

2014

Continuing operations

34,482
| 134,382

168,864

ERIEEECEBRYHEEBB RS
Discontinued operations and elimination of
inter-segment transactions

—E-EHF —E—MF a0, Ot 2
2015 2014 Increased/
BEEER BEEET (Decreased)
REEKRCEETE Turnover by segment HK$ million HK$ million %
BERE X% Continuing operations
L] Beer 34,821 34,482 1.0%
BERIEREZER Discontinued operations’
=& Retail 79,442 109,500 (27.5%)
B Food 11,089 16,486 (82.7%)
K Beverage 8,959 9,891 (9.4%)
99,490 135,877 (26.8%)
HEEBB 2R S Elimination of inter-segment
transactions (1,074) (1,389) (22.7%)
98,416 134,488 (26.8%)
HEEBR RS Elimination of inter-segment
transactions (134) (108) 26.4%
i Total 133,103 168,864 (21.2%)




BHREBAGANE BB -HERBHEARF

EBITDA? BY SEGMENT

B E &I HK$ million

B H & 7T HKS million

E 3R 2015 Annual Report

2015 4,383 2014 P 4,330
J (1,778) | 2,170
® &= O BECEZEB @ CHRLIERBCEBRHM
Total Continuing operations Discontinued operations and others
—E—-hF —E N4 #n/ Gl )
2015 2014 Increased/
FHEBEZRFTNE - HE - BEBERT BEEETT (Decreased)
wERBHAMBRR EBITDA? by segment HK$ million HK$ million %
BERE XK Continuing operations
Ui Beer 4,409 4,353 1.3%
NI =83 Corporate overheads (26) (23) 13.0%
4,383 4,330 1.2%
ERIEREE ¥ Discontinued operations’
=& Retail (1,212) 1,279 (194.8%)
R Food 247 404 (38.9%)
R Beverage 787 673 16.9%
(178) 2,356 (107.6%)
UNEIFCEE -85 Corporate overheads (122) (186) (34.4%)
EMEHEAEGEERN Loss on re-measurement of
518 disposal group (2,222) — N/A
HEDRIEEREZEBKZ Net profit on disposal of
Fm A discontinued operations 744 - N/A
(1,778) 2,170 (181.9%)
PRl Total 2,605 6,500 (59.9%)
B RE Notes:

1. AAEER _Z—RAFNA—H
% ERIEREZEB T —h
T-—RAF-—A—RBE-_T—1F
MR -

2. EBITDAR AR F B~ TIE - T & REHAT AR o 2.

HEHEFFRAE 1.
FHBEHMR =
NA=+—HH

As the Group disposed of its non-beer businesses on 1 September 2015, the financial
information of discontinued operations in 2015 covered the period from 1 January
2015 to 31 August 2015.

EBITDA represents earnings before interests, taxation, depreciation and amortisation.
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R TBIIEF DS

4/{4@@/& af P/‘af/t Attribatable to Shareholiers

HE-_Z A% +=-A=+—HIFE Fortheyearended 31 December 2015

BIHFEK 2 RREML BT, (FE)

PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS BY SEGMENT

BEH BT HKS million

2015 .

B A EIT HKS million

(3,995)
831 2014
(4,826)
® 2= O BESEZER
Total Continuing operations

‘

® CHREGEZEBRHEM

(161)
730
(891)

Discontinued operations and others

—E-FEF T—E  #ESCRD)
2015 2014 Increased/
REEKIKRE Profit/(loss) attributable to BETERT BERBT (Decreased)
R (ER) shareholders by segment HK$ million HK$ million %
BFERE XK Continuing operations
L] Beer 831 761 9.2%
NEBEFEFELER Net corporate interest and expenses - (31) (100.0%)
831 730 13.8%
BRIEEE £k Discontinued operations’
TE Retail (3,331) (873) 281.6%
R Food (29) 13 (323.1%)
T Beverage 295 237 24.5%
(3,065) (623) 392.0%
NEBEHF B FEE L ER Net corporate interest and expenses (283) (268) 5.6%
EFEHEAGEEN Loss on re-measurement of
518 disposal group (2,222) — N/A
HEERIEEECER Net profit on disposal of discontinued
F 5 ) operations 744 - N/A
(4,826) (891) 441.6%
Fk ) Total (3,995) (161) 2,381.4%




BFEXBNREEEGMRIETEFRRLEE KR

1=

A=
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2 B R E R, (& 18)

PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS EXCLUDING THE EFFECT
OF ASSET REVALUATION AND MAJOR DISPOSAL OF NON-CORE ASSETS/
INVESTMENTS BY SEGMENT

BHHE T HKS million

2015 .

® ==

Sk ik

rgrn

(4,818) (794)
831 2014 730
(5,649) (1,524)

@ sEsEEH

Total Continuing operations

Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders

7T HKS million

® CHREGEZEBRHEM
Discontinued operations and others

excluding the effect of asset —EB-AF —mg gm0k )

LEHEEBRTNRBREEEGR revaluation and major disposal 2015 2014 Increased/
HEFEHFROLEE KRE of non-core assets/investments BEBERL BEHET (Decreased)
FECRREMLEF,(BFE) bysegment HK$ million HKS$ million %
BERE XK Continuing operations

ER Beer 831 761 9.2%
NEBBFEFELER Net corporate interest and expenses - (31) (100%)

831 730 13.8%

ERIEREE ¥ Discontinued operations’

TE? Retail® (3,400) (1,359) 150.2%
B’ Food® (39) (134) (70.9%)
R Beverage 295 237 24.5%

(3,144) (1,256) 150.3%
NABHANE FELEA Net corporate interest and expenses (283) (268) 5.6%
EFEHEEAGEEN Loss on re-measurement of
518 disposal group (2,222) — N/A
(5,649) (1,524) 270.7%
g} Total (4,818) (794) 506.8%
iig=2 Notes:

—

B
2. TEEVBONEET

3. REEBNEETEESHENBHE0OI0ETHER 3.

AREER-_T-—RFNA-—BHEHFERBEX 1.
BOERIEREZEB T -RAFMBERARC
Z-AF-A-RE_Z-—AF N \A=+—HH

BESBEHBE0IET(Z 2.
T-OF BB IT)MNBEEMEFHE

AEMEFEERS -

e Ruu%f%ﬂ’]%iiT@%%*ﬁ A9
’!%’3‘1471 TE)H S JE RO IR E TS EF

been excluded from the result of Food division.

As the Group disposed of its non-beer businesses on 1 September 2015, the financial
information of discontinued operations in 2015 covered the period from 1 January
2015 to 31 August 2015.

Net valuation surplus on investment properties of approximately HK$69 million (2014:
HK$486 million) has been excluded from the results of Retail division.

Net valuation surplus on investment properties of approximately HK$10 million has

Net gain on disposal of non-core investment of approximately HK$147 milion had

been excluded from the results of Food division in 2014.
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EE % Chairman's Statement

S

—E-hERAKEBRERRERE  KME
TEEENN—F R -_F-—FHAFEFAA—B -
REETHK L E 2 S IEEEZ K - LA K300
BrrRABArER(EEARAR(ERE
EDHESTE RAMADEB ZERE
BEREMNBINBIR R - HEMB
REALAPER_ZE—RE+AUNGREBK
1230t EFRIRERMN - RZTE—RF+=
A ZEHEECDCTKRARKRRUEREK12.70
THERRSEKGEBHKRERZ R
—HAE+ A=+ B EHEEHEAR
AEEHBEEITRMLYO51MN% TXZHEE
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FINAL RESULTS

2015 was a year of successful strategic transformation with a focus on long-
term prosperity for the Group. As of 1 September 2015, the Group had
completed the disposal of all of its non-beer businesses — including retail,
food and beverage businesses — to its parent company, China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH"), for a total consideration of HK$30,000
million. The proposal was supported by 98.84% of voted independent
shareholders. The proceeds were largely distributed to the shareholders in
the form of a special dividend of HK$12.30 per share in October 2015. In
December 2015, CRH closed the voluntary unconditional cash partial offer to
the shareholders with an offer price of HK$12.70 per share. As of 31
December 2015, CRH held 51.91% of the entire issued shares of the
Company. After the completion of the disposal, the financial information on
consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2015 represented the
continuing operations whereas the financial information as at 31 December
2014 included both continuing operations and discontinued operations.

The transaction has transformed the Group into a beer-focused listed entity
of which its subsidiary, China Resources Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB”),
is the largest brewer by sales volume in China, the largest beer market by
sales volume in the world. The strategic move has unleashed the value of its
market-leading beer business from the previous conglomerate structure and
associated capital constraints, allowing greater flexibility to execute its
business plan and to lead further industry consolidation.
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E 3R 2015 Annual Report
EFE % Chairman's Statement

Regarding the operational performance for the year ended 31 December
2015, the Group recorded consolidated turnover of approximately
HK$133,103 million. Of this, the beer business generated turnover and profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders of HK$34,821 milion and
HK$831 million, respectively. During the first eight months of 2015,
performance of the discontinued operations (non-beer businesses) was
negatively affected by China’s slower economic growth, integration, as well
as ongoing investment in business transition and nationwide expansion. The
turnover and the loss attributable to the Company’s shareholders of the
discontinued operations were approximately HK$98,416 million and
approximately HK$4,826 million, respectively.

FINAL DIVIDEND

Taking into the accounts of the proceeds from the disposal was largely
distributed as a special dividend, the Board has resolved not to declare a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: HK$0.16 per share).

STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION

The Group is dedicated to creating ample value by various means to its
stakeholders. Instead of focusing on short-term catalysts, the Group
concentrates on reinforcing its competitive advantages for the delivery of
long-term sustainable value. Since 2009, the Group has been transformed
from a conglomerate company with various industries into a consumer goods
conglomerate with four main businesses — beer, retail, food and beverage. It
was an effective implementation of the “subtraction” method — by removing
various businesses with lower synergy potential (such as textile business, joint
venture with Esprit in China and minority investments in container terminal
operations), in order to concentrate resources on the retail space that could
accelerate expansion and maximize value exploration.

Along the way, the Group continued to sharpen its competitive edge by
expanding its nationwide sales network. However, the Group has faced
pressure from the popularity of e-commerce and its associated disruptive
change on the value chain of the retail industry in recent years. It is the
Group’s belief that its scale and nationwide network can generate significant
value while the online channel will integrate with that of physical stores in the
future. However, it needs to take further capital investment and a longer time
frame to realize such value.

Taking into consideration the benefit of stakeholders, the preference by the
investment community for companies with a specific industry focus rather
than conglomerates; and also, the best way on resources allocation for
business development, CRH proposed to acquire the non-beer businesses in
April 2015 to eliminate the associated uncertain short-term outlook and allow
the Group to concentrate on the beer business — the most profitable
business of the Group with a leading market position.
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Instead of generally used “addition” method for value creation, the Group
bravely “subtracted” its businesses again to unlock the hidden value of the
beer business. The Group understood that it was not an easy path, but its
spirit of courage, endurance, innovation and strong operational capability
gave it confidence for long-term prosperity of the beer business. The strategic
move was well recognized by the investment community such that the
Company’s share price nearly doubled year-on-year as of 31 December 2015
excluding the effect of special dividend.

On 2 March 2016, the Group announced that it entered into an agreement
with Anheuser-Busch InBev SA/NV (“ABI”) to purchase the 49% stake held
by SABMiller Asia Limited in CRSB for US$1,600 milion (equivalent to
approximately HK$12,440 million). The transaction is subject to regulatory
approvals and completion of the proposed acquisition by ABI of SABMiller
PLC. Upon completion, CRSB will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. We believe that the acquisition would be beneficial to the
Company and the shareholders, allowing the Company to gain full ownership
in CRSB, and ensuring effective implementation of the Company’s growth
strategies in China. In addition, the acquisition would allow full consolidation
of CRSB at the Company level, enhancing financial transparency to
shareholders and eliminating any value leakage associated with a sizable
minority interest.

With regard to the beer operation in 2015, the overall beer market shrank
during the year due to slower national economic growth and abnormal
weather conditions in China. Despite the unfavorable market conditions, the
beer business delivered a balanced growth of turnover and profitability. On
top of that, the beer business deepened its penetration into various regions,
optimized its product mix, enhanced its cost efficiency by leveraging its
economies of scale and a better management over selling expenses.

As for the Group’s discontinued operations in the first eight months of 2015,
the retail business still suffered from an uncertain short-term economic
outlook, changes in consumer spending habits and new industry players. The
ongoing integration of Tesco PLC’s China business, which is still in a running-
in period, continued to negatively affect the division’s business outlook.
During the first eight months of 2015, a provision for goodwill impairment of
HK$2,014 million (net amount attributable to shareholders) was made and an
attributable loss of HK$3,331 million was incurred. Further investment will be
required to enhance the operations of physical stores, e-commerce and IT
systems, which is unlikely to result in profits in the short- and mid-terms.

The food division went through a transition period, thus resulting in an
attributable loss of HK$29 million in the first eight months of 2015. The rice
business, which has achieved a national presence, and the meat operation
are still in need of continuous capital investment to enhance their market
share, capacity utilization and profitability.
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E 3R 2015 Annual Report
EFE % Chairman's Statement

The beverage business recorded an attributable profit of HK$295 million
during the first eight months of 2015. With intensifying competition in the
industry, it will require additional investment to maintain the business’s leading
position and optimize its product portfolio.

PROSPECTS

The China beer market faced a decline in sales volume in 2015, mainly
attributable to the slower growth of the macro-economy, as well as
unfavorable weather conditions during the peak season. We continue to gain
market share in spite of the sluggish environment. We are confident that the
market’s long-term prospects will be driven by multiple favorable factors. For
instance, the China market has a lower market concentration and per capita
beer consumption compared with most of the mature international markets,
thus there is still capacity for growth. We believe that the beer market will be
further consolidated over the medium term, especially at the expense of
smaller regional players. The beer business will continue to become stronger
through both organic expansion and acquisitions.

Other than the market share gain, the Group will also maintain its strategy of
product mix upgrades. For those regions where we have significant scale and
brand recognition, we will be more in favor of the product mix shifts, adding
to our extensive use of the “ZIf Snow” brand across various product
segments. We continuously pursue innovation on brand concept and product
image which realizes one of the core competences of our management team.
We have different product images for various product segments. For instance,
“Brave the World”, our nationwide mid-end product series, deliver the spirit of
“ambitious, challenging and innovative”, our premium and super premium
products with the image of Chinese architecture and traditional heritage.

To optimize our cost structure, we will explore different ways for better
management on production and administrative costs as well as efficiency
enhancement, such as implementation of IT systems, improvement of overall
production utilization and studying the integration of a number of breweries.
We have demonstrated our capability to strengthen medium-term profitability
by enhancing scale and market share. With the increase in market share and
brand value, we are confident that our profitability improvement can be
sustained in the long run.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our deepest gratitude to all
valued shareholders for their support for our milestone transformation and
their continued confidence in our future. We are also thankful to our
customers, business partners and associates, as well as our management
team and colleagues. We will continue to be committed to delivering quality
products and services to our customers and bringing ample returns to our
shareholders.

CHEN LANG

Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2016
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The photo is taken during the event “Snow — Great Expedition, Challenge the Unclimbed by College Students”, showing college students undaunted in
tackling an unclimbed mountain, demonstrating the spirit of “ambitious, challenging, innovative™ .
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In 2015, the Group completed the restructuring of its businesses and became
a beer focused company. At the extraordinary general meeting on 3 August
2015, 98.84% of voted independent shareholders approved the transaction.
The clearer strategy as a result of the restructuring and the transparent
communications with the investment community have helped the Group to
create more value for its shareholders. This was illustrated by the facts that
the Company’s share price (excluded the impact of the special dividend) on
31 December 2015 had nearly doubled year-on-year.

On 2 April 2015, the parent company of the Group, CRH, proposed to
acquire the non-beer businesses. Together with the potential transaction,
CRH offered to buy up to 10% of the issued shares from the Group’s non-
controlling shareholders. Most of the proceeds of the disposal were
distributed to shareholders as a special dividend.

The Hong Kong stock market rallied while trading in the Company's shares
was suspended from 2 April 2015 to 20 April 2015. In consideration of the
shareholders’ interests, the Group’s management discussed with CRH about
the possibility that the changed market sentiment could be reflected in revised
terms of the transaction. On 17 June 2015, CRH proposed to raise the total
consideration from HK$28,000 million to HK$30,000 million, and increase the
special cash dividend from HK$11.50 to HK$12.30 per share. The partial
offer to buy 10% of the issued shares was revised to 20%. Even though the
Hong Kong stock market subsequently took a nosedive in July 2015, the
revised terms still remained unchanged.
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The offer allowed shareholders of the Company to realize within a short
period of time a significant premium to the trading value of the shares before
suspension. Each share that was accepted into the revised partial offer, for a
total consideration of HK25.00 per share, represented a 64.5% premium over
the closing share price on 2 April 2015. The transaction offered shareholders
an attractive opportunity to realize part of the Company's cash value and to
retain substantial relative value to invest in a transparent and focused beer
business. Furthermore, there was greater transparency for the market to
evaluate the beer business on a standalone basis.

To ensure adequate transparent communications and an accurate
understanding of the transaction, the Group hosted numerous investors
meetings and teleconferences with more than 650 investors between April
and July 2015. As part of its efforts, the Group disclosed relevant information
in public documents, included the opinions of Independent Board Committee
and Independent Financial Advisers in a clear, objective and balanced manner
so as to facilitate shareholders’ understanding and, in turn, their investment
decisions.

Other than the transactions, it is our belief that adherence to the highest
standards of corporate governance will create greater value for shareholders
and stakeholders in the long run. To that end, the Group has spared no
efforts in building an effective mechanism for multi-channel communications
with the shareholders and investment community so as to ensure the
transparent and timely disclosure of the Group’s major developments. In
2015, the Group continued its active engagement with institutional investors,
analysts and potential investors, conducting approximately 250 meetings with
more than 1,300 analysts and fund managers. These included one-on-one
meetings, luncheons, face-to-face and telephone conferences arranged by
financial institutions. In addition, the Group hosted a two-day site visit in
October 2015 for approximately 70 investors to showcase the scale and
operations of its beer manufacturing plants and distribution channels in
Chengdu, Sichuan province.
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The Group’s dedication and perseverance in investor relations has won it
considerable recognition. In 2015, the Group was named “Asia's Best CEO
(Investor Relations)”, “Asia's Best CFO (Investor Relations)”, “Asia's Best
Corporate Social Responsibility”, “Best Environmental Responsibility”, “Best
Investor Relations Company” and “Best Investor Relations Professional” by
Corporate Governance Asia; The Group was also awarded “Best IR Company
— Mid Cap” and “Best IRO (Investor Relations Officer) — Mid Cap” by the
Hong Kong Investor Relations Association; as well as received accolades for
the quality and creativity of its annual financial report at the “International
Annual Report Competition (ARC) Awards” organized by MerComm, Inc. The
Group is committed to good standard of corporate governance to maximize
shareholder value and sustain the healthy development of its business.

SHARE PERFORMANCE

In 2015, the Group’s disposal of all its non-beer businesses resulted in a
reduction of assets, which was positively reflected in the share price.
Excluded the special dividend payout of HK$12.30 per share, the Company’s
closing share price almost doubled year-on-year to HK$16.60 as of 31
December 2015. The market capitalization amounted to HK$40,390 million
as of 31 December 2015.

$ AAR=F—-—Z_F—AFN
m*”&tﬂiﬂizm\

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND PER

SHARE OF THE COMPANY FOR

2011-2015

(TTf& Market Capitalization)

2015 123
2015 16.6 40,390
2014 (0.07)
2014 [BIO% 39,323 021
2013 0.79
2013 13.45* 61,887 0.27
1.64
2012 15.65" 67,122 2012 0.30
2011 14.35* 63,946 2011 1.25
0.47
0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 @ 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14
FEHETT HKS (YT {H Closing price) FBMETT HKS
Wi E ® TiE BREF (RIEEESRK ® SRPH - RE RSB B A
Closing price Market capitalization RUEHFROEE TRETE) Total of interim, final and special

RE% 515 T A E ¥ 12.30 7T (/201610 AR 2 45 B 8)
Excluded HK$12.30 per share hypothetically
(being the special dividend distributed in October 2015)

Earnings per share (including dividend per share
the effect of asset revaluation
and major disposal of non-core

assets/investment)
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

On 4 May and 15 June 2015, the Company and China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited (“CRH”") entered into a sale and purchase agreement and
its supplemental agreement respectively, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to sell all of the non-beer businesses of the Company to CRH for a
total consideration of HK$30,000 million. The transaction was formally
approved by the Company’s independent shareholders by way of poll at the
Company’s extraordinary general meeting on 3 August 2015 and was
completed on 1 September 2015.

On 2 March 2016, the Group announced that it entered into an agreement
with Anheuser-Busch InBev SA/NV (“ABI”) to purchase the 49% stake held
by SABMiller Asia Limited in China Resources Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB”)
for US$1,600 million (equivalent to approximately HK$12,440 million). The
transaction is subject to regulatory approvals and completion of the proposed
acquisition by ABI of SABMiller PLC. Upon completion, CRSB will become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. We believe that the acquisition
would be beneficial to the Company and the shareholders, allowing the
Company to gain full ownership in CRSB, and ensuring effective
implementation of the Company’s growth strategies in China. In addition, the
acquisition would allow full consolidation of CRSB at the Company level,
enhancing financial transparency to shareholders and eliminating any value
leakage associated with a sizable minority interest.

Continuing Operations

The consolidated turnover and the consolidated profit attributable to
shareholders from the Company’s continuing operations in 2015 were
HK$34,821 million and HK$831 million respectively, representing increases of
1.0% and 13.8% over the previous year.
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Beer

In 2015, the turnover and attributable profit of the Group’s beer business
were HK$34,821 milion and HK$831 million respectively, representing
increases of 1.0% and 9.2% compared with the previous year. During the
year under review, the business continued to optimize tax planning. However,
the Renminbi depreciation has led to an exchange loss arising from
repayment of non-Renminbi loans, as well as a decrease in interest income
from bank deposits due to dividend payout to non-controlling shareholders of
CRSB. EBITDA of the business in 2015 increased by 1.3% to HK$4,409
million, compared with the previous year.

During the year under review, the macroeconomic slowdown and the anti-
extravagance campaign driven by the Chinese government led to a decline in
consumers’ spending. This, combined with unfavorable weather conditions,
resulted in a decline in overall sales volume in the beer industry.

In 2015, beer sales volume decreased by 1.3% compared with 2014 to
approximately 11,683,000 kilolitres. By constantly enhancing the distribution
of the production capacity, executing sales strategies tailored to local
conditions, improving long-term relationship with the local distributors,
strengthening the brand promotion, and expanding the market coverage, the
Group’s beer sales in 2015 surpassed the industry average. The operation’s
national “ZE7fE Snow” brand accounted for approximately 90% of the
operation’s total beer sales volume. In order to meet consumers’ needs, the
business continued to improve and refine its product mix. The rapid increase
in sales of premium beer also contributed to an increase in overall average
selling price. In 2015, the overall average selling price in Renminbi increased
by about 3.2% compared with 2014. During the year under review, the
business organized various large-scale promotional campaigns, alongside
optimization of its product mix. Through the “Great Expedition, Challenge the
Unclimbed by College Students” event and its appointment as the sponsor of
Beijing’s bid for the 2022 Winter Olympics, the business reinforced the
promotion of the mid-end “Brave the World” series. In addition, the business
utilized the “Snow Draft Beer Ingenuity in Craft” photo competition on Chinese
ancient buildings as a key event for promoting its high-end beer series such
as “Snow Draft Beer”.

During the year under review, the company improved operating profit by
achieving economies of scale, lean management and better control of selling
expenses. As at the end of 2015, the Group operated 97 breweries in 25
regions in mainland China, with an aggregate annual production capacity of
approximately 22,000,000 kiloliters.

Looking ahead, in light of prolonged weakness in the macro economy, slower
expansion of overall market capacity and ongoing competition in the beer
market, the Group will continue to carry out the “E{f Snow” marketing
campaigns and promotion activities to enhance the brand reputation and
customer loyalty. It will also step up the promotion of premium beer products,
strengthen product mix and quality as well as explore synergies from mergers
and acquisitions. In the meantime, the beer business will continue to increase
its regional presence through organic growth and acquisitions, and
consolidate its leading position.
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As at 31 December 2015

BEEE
No. of
breweries

B & W
No. Provinces/Cities

£EET Heilongjiang
HHE Jilin
#Z  Liaoning

BN A EE About The Group

i3 Beijing
X%  Tianjin
Jidt  Hebei

i 7g Shanxi
I  Shandong
L&  Jiangsu
£¥%  Shanghai
Z#  Anhui
JAF  Henan
il Hubei
WI Zhejiang
B2  Fujian
E®R  Guangdong
M  Hunan
E/M  Guizhou
mJIl  Sichuan
FRE  Tibet

H#E  Gansu

RZEHE  Inner Mongolia
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25  Ningxia
BtFE  Shaanxi
Ef  Guangxi
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Retail

The Group’s retail division reported turnover and loss attributable to
shareholders of HK$79,442 million and HK$3,331 million, respectively, in the
first eight months of 2015. Turnover and the loss attributable to shareholders
were HK$109,500 million and HK$873 million, respectively, for the year
ended 31 December 2014.

In view of the current macro-economic environment and declining retalil
performance of the joint venture (the “Joint Venture”) set up with Tesco PLC,
the Group assessed the valuation of goodwill of a cash generating unit under
its retail division and made a provision for the impairment loss on goodwill for
HK$2,014 million (net amount attributable to shareholders) during the first half
of 2015. In addition, the Group continued to monitor the operations of the
retail business portfolio during the running-in period of the Joint Venture. A
provision of HK$422 million (net amount attributable to shareholders) was
made during the first half of 2015 for the closure of certain less efficient stores
and stores with poor prospects, primarily comprising assets impairment for
those shops and compensations for early termination of the shop leases.
Excluding goodwill impairment and provision for stores closure, the division’s
attributable loss for the first eight months of 2015 was HK$895 million.

During the period under review, the domestic economic slowdown resulted in
lower consumption growth and had a negative impact on the retail sector.
The central government’s strict austerity campaign and the decline in
government consumption affected the sales of high-end products, gifts and
stored-value cards. Furthermore, the continuous expansion of e-commerce
and the entry of new industry players have drawn a number of customers
from physical stores.

Food

The Group’s food division reported turnover and loss attributable to
shareholders of HK$11,089 milion and HK$29 milion for the first eight
months of 2015 respectively. The division’s turnover and profit attributable to
shareholders were HK$16,486 million and HK$13 million, respectively, for the
year ended 31 December 2014.

The rice business grew rapidly through mergers and acquisitions and began
to establish a nationwide presence. However, the rice business is currently
unprofitable, because of the high initial investment and marketing expenses.
The meat operation recorded weaker growth in overall demand, with
intensifying competition faced by the slaughtering business in southern China
resulting in the increase in hog purchase prices outstripping the increase in
the selling price of pork. All these factors resulted in a fall in both turnover and
gross profit.
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Beverage

The Group’s beverage division reported turmnover and attributable profit of
HK$8,959 million and HK$295 million in the first eight months of 2015,
respectively. The division’s turnover and profit attributable to shareholders
were HK$9,891 million and HK$237 million, respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2014.

The division’s total sales volume was approximately 5,826,000 kiloliters in the
first eight months of 2015, compared with the approximately 6,556,000
kiloliters for the whole of 2014. The rapid growth in sales volume of “/& &
C’estbon” purified water has further strengthened its leadership in southern
China to a greater extent. The Group has been focusing on its core markets
in Guangdong, Hunan, and Sichuan provinces and expanding its sales
network in adjacent regions, which in turn improved the division’s market
competitiveness.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital and Funding

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s consolidated cash and bank balance
amounted to HK$3,494 million. The Group’s borrowings as at 31 December
2015 were HK$6,704 million with HK$2,122 million repayable within one year,
HK$4,580 million repayable after one year but within five years and HK$2
million repayable after five years.

On the basis of the Group’s net borrowings relative to the shareholders’ funds
and minority interests, the Group’s gearing was approximately at 13.9% as at
31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: 11.6%).

The Group’s principal assets, liabilities, revenue and payments are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars. As at 31
December 2015, 28.9% of the Group’s cash deposit balance was held in
Hong Kong dollars, 52.2% in Renminbi and 18.9% in US dollars; whereas
95.2% of the Group’s borrowings was denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and 4.8% in Renminbi. The Group’s borrowings are principally on a floating
rate basis.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2015, assets with a carrying value of HK$149 million (31
December 2014: HK$271 million) were pledged for bank borrowings and
notes payable.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2015.

Employees

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a staff size of around 60,000,
amongst which more than 99% were employed in the Chinese Mainland,
whilst the rest were mainly in Hong Kong. Remuneration packages are
assessed in accordance with the nature of job duties, individual performance
and market trends with built-in merit components, paid in the form of cash
bonuses.

By order of the Board
CHEN LANG

Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2016



% 701

p/b»ms’/ﬁaa Lion



NG

OO »S%Q\‘zm«&&






34

BN A EE About The Group

ZHIRFEARER To Our Shareholders

o
15}
c
&
£
53
>
5
(0]
=
S
1<}
=
S
(&)
P
i
3k
<

Bf# %R % Financial Statements

EHEE (38%) BFR A 8 China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
EERSEEEABE ZE Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

TIROREBALZAD /B
6’/0//@@@/ Detatle 0f Directors and Senior /’/a/m;ze/w/(t

BR BA 58 £
MR. CHEN LANG

¥,1T & = EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

REIAE BERE+E

RZE——FNAEZTARRAIEEE
B-REEBRZZETNF-—AEZFT—=
FNAHBAEARAEFATE(FAIBESS
KIB) B MRBARARRITES  EH(E
E)ERAFRZEFRAAKE  FEEHR
NEAIZEE UREFIHEVHE(PE)RE
ERAR-EBHREERARKERKRER
BERER)BRARZEER - BT HE
HERERQAFBZEFENTE  TEHEE
BERERARRBERRIERARA
AR EBRITBAE - B AT I
BEAEHREABAERAFZCESRABL
BEEREBEEER(EBE)BRARAEMNERNRE
BEZREEZMNREBEE REEFBEPHL
BABEBEEELBNURER = FE M AE
THERELEMN BRRPETHKREN
REHR LREEBAXCEEEEEEELT
FHBEE - RAEER - NNNFEMAFHE
BBEAR YR —ANANFEMAEB(EE)
BRAF -

Mr. Chen Lang aged 50

was appointed as Chairman of the Board of the Company in August 2012.
Mr. Chen was Chief Executive Officer (previously named as Managing
Director) of the Company from January 2009 to August 2012. He is Executive
Director of the Company, Director and Deputy General Manager of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, and Director of China Resources
National Corporation as well as the Chairman of China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Investment Co., Ltd., China Resources Ng Fung Limited
and China Resources C’estbon Kirin Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited.
He was previously the Chief Executive Officer of China Resources Vanguard
Co., Ltd., and Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of China Resources
Logic Limited (now renamed as China Resources Gas Group Limited). Prior
to that, he was Chairman and General Manager of China Resources
Development and Investment Co., Limited and was in charge of a number of
substantial investments in Canada and Thailand of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor of Economics degree from
Anhui University, China and a Master of Business Administration degree from
the University of San Francisco, USA. He is currently the visiting professor of
Anhui University, China and also the part-time teacher of Master of
International Business of Fudan University, China. He joined China Resources
National Corporation and China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in
1986 and 1989 respectively.
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Mr. Hong Jie aged 48

was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the
Company in August 2012. He was Vice President of the Company from
September 2009 to August 2012. Mr. Hong was Chief Executive Officer of
China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd. between June 2009 and February 2016,
and was its Chief Operating Officer between June 2006 and May 2009 and
prior to that, he had been its Chief Financial Officer since April 2003. In
addition, Mr. Hong is the Vice Chairman of China Chain Store & Franchise
Association since November 2012. Mr. Hong holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from the Hangzhou University of Commerce (now known as
Zhejiang Gongshang University). Mr. Hong has extensive experience in
financial and corporate management. Mr. Hong joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1992 and was Assistant General Manager of
its Finance Department.

Mr. Liu Hongji aged 55

was appointed as Vice Chairman of the Board and Executive Director of the
Company in August 2012. He was Vice President of the Company from May
2011 to August 2012. Mr. Liu has been Managing Director of China
Resources C’estbon Beverage (China) Co., Ltd. (previously named as China
Resources C’estbon Food & Beverage (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd./C’estbon Food &
Beverage (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd./Shenzhen C’estbon Food and Drink Company
Limited) since January 1997. Mr. Liu was Marketing Director of China
Resources Snow Breweries Limited between September 2000 and January
2003. Mr. Liu had also held key positions in two Shenzhen based enterprises.
Mr. Liu majored in Industrial Economics at the People’s University of China.
He has extensive experience in marketing and corporate management of fast
moving consumer goods especially on beverages. Mr. Liu joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in March 1996.
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HXREE
MR. DU WENMIN

Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank aged 54

has been a Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director of the Company
since June 2009 and Company Secretary since August 2009. Mr. Lai was
previously the Executive Director, Non-Executive Director, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of China Resources Microelectronics Limited.
Prior to that, he served as the Chief Financial Officer of Eagle Brand Holdings
Ltd., which is a company listed in Singapore and before then, he served as
the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of Logic International
Holdings Ltd. (now known as China Resources Gas Group Limited). Mr. Lai
has a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Western Australia
and a graduate diploma in Business and Administration from the Curtin
University of Technology of Western Australia. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant and a fellow member of CPA
Australia. Mr. Lai joined the Company in 2009.
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Mr. Du Wenmin aged 52

was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2007, a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Land Limited in August
2007, a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Gas Group Limited in
March 2008, a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited in August 2008, and a Non-Executive Director of China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited in July 2010. These companies are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Du is
the Deputy General Manager and Chief Human Resources Officer of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Du is a Director of China
Resources National Corporation. Mr. Du was a Director of China Resources
Sanijiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, and China Resources Double-crane Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Du was previously
the Managing Director of China Resources Construction (Holdings) Limited
and the Internal Audit Director of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited. Mr. Du obtained a Master’s Degree in Business and Administration
from the University of San Francisco, USA. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.
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Mr. Wei Bin aged 46

was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in November
2010, a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
in August 2008, a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Gas Group
Limited in November 2008, a Non-Executive Director of China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited in July 2010, and a Non-Executive Director
of China Resources Land Limited in October 2010. These companies are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Wei was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of China Vanke Co., Ltd.,
which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, in March 2013. He has been
appointed the Chief Accountant and Chief Financial Officer of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and was a General Manager of its
Finance Department. He is also a Director of Shan Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co.,
Ltd., which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He was a Director of
China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and China Resources Double-crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
Mr. Wei holds a Bachelor’s degree in Auditing from Zhongnan University of
Economics in China and a Master’s degree in Finance from Jinan University in
China, and is a Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor in China. He is also a
non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wei joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in
2001.

Mr. Yan Biao aged 54

was appointed Executive Director of the Company in December 1994 and
was re-designated as Non-Executive Director in March 2006. Mr. Yan was
also appointed Executive Director of China Resources Land Limited in
February 1996 and was re-designated as Non-Executive Director in February
2006 which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Yan is the Chief Legal Officer of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. Yan has a Bachelor of Laws degree from the Peking
University, China and an MBA degree from the University of San Francisco,
USA. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.
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MR. CHEN YING
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Mr. Chen Ying aged 45

was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company and China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited in May 2012, and a Non-Executive
Director of China Resources Gas Group Limited, China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited and China Resources Land Limited in June 2012.
These companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chen was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of
China Vanke Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, in
March 2013. He has been the Chief Strategy Officer of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited since July 2013 and the General Manager of the
Strategy Management Department since October 2011. He was a Director of
China Resources Double-crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, and China Resources Sanjiu Medical &
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
He has worked as Project Engineer, Project Manager and Manager of
Procurement Department and Executive Director of China Resources
Construction (Holdings) Limited, a subsidiary of the Company’s parent
company, from September 1993 to March 2002. He was also the Managing
Director of China Resources Land (Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to
October 2011 and a Director of China Resources Land Limited from March
2003 to February 2006. Mr. Chen obtained a Bachelor’'s degree of
Architectural Management from the Tsinghua University, China in 1993 and a
Master’s degree of Business Administration from University of Oxford, the
United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr. Chen joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in 1993.
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Mr. Wang Yan aged 44

was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in August 2014.
Mr. Wang joined China Resources National Corporation in July 1994. He
worked for China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited (currently
known as Sinopec (Hong Kong) Petroleum Holding Company Limited) from
2000 to 2006. Mr. Wang was appointed as a Director of China Resources
Gas Limited in November 2005. He was a Deputy General Manager of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from September 2007 to April 2012. He
was a Deputy General Manager of the Internal Audit Department of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from April 2012 to January 2016 and
was appointed as the General Manager in February 2016. He was appointed
as a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited, China Resources Land Limited, China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited in August 2014. Mr. Wang
holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics from the Finance and Accounting
Department, Capital University of Economics and Business, a Master of
Business Administration Degree from the University of South Australia and is
a qualified PRC Certified Accountant.
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MR. HOUANG TAI NINH

FREBEL
DR. LI KA CHEUNG, ERIC

8 37 3F #4147 =5 INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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Mr. Houang Tai Ninh aged 62

has been a Director of the Company since 1988. He is also a Director and
Chairman of Sino Resources and Energy Holdings Limited, Sino Petrochem
Development Limited, Sino Mining Investments Limited and a Director of
China & Overseas Resources Limited. Mr. Houang obtained his Bachelor of
Business Studies degree from the Polytechnic of North Staffordshire, United
Kingdom.

Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric FCPA (Practising), GBS, OBE, JP, aged 62

has been a Director of the Company since March 2003. He is Senior Partner
of Li, Tang, Chen & Co., Certified Public Accountants (Practising), member of
the Twelve National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference and former member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong
SAR. Dr. Li holds directorships in a number of listed companies including Sun
Hung Kai Properties Limited, Hang Seng Bank Limited, SmarTone
Telecommunications Holdings Limited, Transport International Holdings
Limited, Wong'’s International (Holdings) Limited, and RoadShow Holdings
Limited. Dr. Li was a Director of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
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REBXE
MR. BERNARD CHARNWUT CHAN

Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses GBS, OBE, JP, aged 66

has been a Director of the Company since November 2005. Dr. Cheng is a
practicing solicitor and a consultant of Messrs. P.C. Woo & Co. after serving
as its senior partner from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng was a member of the
Legislative Council of Hong Kong. He is the founder chairman of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors of which he is now the Honorary President and
Chairman Emeritus. Dr. Cheng currently holds directorships in K.Wah
International Holdings Limited, China Mobile Limited, Towngas China
Company Limited, Kader Holdings Company Limited, Liu Chong Hing
Investment Limited, Guangdong Investment Limited and Tian An China
Investments Company Limited, all being listed companies in Hong Kong. He
is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of ARA Asset Management
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on Singapore Exchange Limited.
He was a Director of Hong Kong Television Network Limited (formerly known
as City Telecom (H.K.) Limited), which is a listed company in Hong Kong.

Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan GBS, JP, aged 51

has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He is the
Executive Director and President of Asia Financial Holdings Limited and Asia
Insurance Company Limited. He also acts as an Advisor of Bangkok Bank
(China) Company Limited. Apart from the roles in the business community,
Mr. Chan also serves as a Hong Kong Deputy to The National People’s
Congress of the People’s Republic of China and a member of the Executive
Council of the Hong Kong SAR. He is also a former member of the Legislative
Council of the Hong Kong SAR. In addition, Mr. Chan holds directorship in a
number of listed companies in Hong Kong, including Chen Hsong Holdings
Limited, City e-solutions Limited and Yau Lee Holdings Limited. Mr. Chan
was a Director of Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited and New Heritage
Holdings Limited.
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ARAAL Rk
MR. SIU KWING CHUE, GORDON
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Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon GBS, CBE, JP, aged 70

has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He had been a
career civil servant for over 36 years before retiring from the civil service in
2002. Mr. Siu rose to the rank of Secretary, Government Secretariat in 1993
and served a number of high ranking government positions, namely the
Secretary for Economic Services, Secretary for Transport, Head of Central
Policy Unit and eventually retired from his last posting as Secretary for
Planning, Environment & Lands. Mr. Siu now serves as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Transport International Holdings Limited and two of its
subsidiaries, and was an Independent Non-Executive Director of Television
Broadcasts Limited.
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Mr. Wang Weiyong aged 50

was appointed as Senior Vice President of the Company in November 2013.
He was Vice President of the Company from May 2011 to October 2013. Mr.
Wang has been the Chief Executive Officer of China Resources Ng Fung
Limited since 2011 and the Chief Executive Officer of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited (formerly known as Well Gain Ventures (Hong Kong)
Limited) since February 2016. He was previously the Senior Vice President of
China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd. He joined China Resources National
Corporation in 1988. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor of Science degree and a
Bachelor’s degree in Management Science from the University of Science
and Technology of China, as well as a Master’s degree in Engineering from
Tsinghua University. He has extensive experience in strategic planning and
corporate management.

Mr. Wang Qun aged 59

has been appointed as Vice President of the Company since November
2010. He was an Executive Director of the Company from January 2000 to
November 2010, and Deputy Managing Director from March 2006 to
November 2010. Mr. Wang was a Director of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited and China Resources National Corporation from January
2002 to August 2012. He is also a Deputy Managing Director of China
Resources Snow Breweries Limited. Mr. Wang has a Bachelor of Finance
degree from the People’s University of China. He has previously worked in the
China National Economic Committee and held key management positions in
a Shenzhen based conglomerate. Mr. Wang joined China Resources National
Corporation and China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1994.
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TEREMEE Corporate Risk Management
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5@¢wm&af%%7ﬁb@¢%mwt

EETE

ExeRE RRBREEELEEARPTIAX
BRE)—#D BREARENEEXEARER
TEENASEBERRATEN  HFT
EXWEBKY EEEIHRIHEAER -
REXBHRRREE tMEXAEENRE
ELRERREE - EBRIBEBEIR
EMRAREERRF  IEMETRAMER
AEEBROBBERARA  BILEERBRNA
REMMFE: —BRERELR  TEANEYH
EENHAE AEENRREERSNUE
BEBKENET TEFEEEBEMD
EBHRENBEREZP AEENRRE
ERFERZANT PREFORA - MK
MR EEEELEORRERERT i
BHERRBHIOYR] - DI ARE SRR

TREREERRF

Exg
B B2 B
ERRREERS

RBEN

ET—4:
=% B = e
Step 1:

Risk Identification

MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY

The Board believes that risk management is an integral part of corporate
governance. Effective and efficient corporate risk management will facilitate
the Group’s business development and operation by setting the appropriate
risk appetite, maintaining an acceptable risk level and more importantly,
proactively responding to risks. It therefore helps protect shareholder value
and safeguard the Group’s reputation. Through putting in place proper risk
management control over key businesses and carrying out regular reviews
and updates, the Group strives to reduce the likelihood and the effect of risks
before they occur, and deal with problems effectively when they arise. While
the Group’s risk management is the responsibility of every management team
member and is embedded in the business planning and daily operation of
every business unit, our risk management process is based on a
decentralized model with a centralized monitoring system. The Group’s
strategy is to maintain a streamlined risk management process to identify,
analyze and mitigate various risks in an efficient and effective manner.

CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Board of Directors

Risk monitoring
Reporting on regular and ad hoc basis

Business Units

Eg=%:
LB B 52 % AR AT A
Step 3:
Risk Monitoring &
Performance Evaluation

g5
DI~ 34
R OR 4% [ B

Step 2:
Risk Analysis,
Evaluation &
Mitigation
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EEMEE Corporate Risk Management

Step One: Risk Identification

We identify and assess risks both at the Group and individual business unit
levels, and incorporate risk management into our business planning. At the
end of each year, each business unit undertakes a review of potential risks
which fall within their respective business and operation area. The business
unit then performs risk reviews including risk mapping, analysis and evaluation
of their probability of occurrence and impact. Identified risks are reported
together with the explanation of its nature and proposed risk management
strategies to the Group during the business plan review session at the
beginning of each year. In addition to the annual exercise, our regular
reporting system of each business unit also facilitates ongoing risk
identification and the reporting of risks.

Step Two: Risk Analysis, Evaluation and Mitigation

When risks are identified, the assigned risk owner is responsible for analyzing
the probability of their occurrence and potential impact. Priority will be given
to risks with high probability and serious negative impact. The risk owner then
designs appropriate procedures and actions for risk mitigation and acts
accordingly. Implementation cost is also taken into account when devising
the action plan. During the implementation, we also emphasize the balance of
risks and benefits to ensure long term business success.

Step Three: Risk Monitoring and Performance Evaluation

After risk identification, analysis, evaluation and mitigation, evaluation reports
are submitted to the Group through the regular reporting mechanism. To
prevent the same risks from occurring again, preventive actions and
procedures to improve operational efficiency are also incorporated into the
internal control system. In addition, our Internal Audit Department undertakes
independent reviews on internal control system, and our management is
responsible for ensuring appropriate actions which are taken to rectify any
control deficiencies highlighted in the audit reports within a reasonable period
of time.
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S EF Corporate Social Responsibility
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As one of the leading consumer goods companies in China, the Group has
always been committed to its mission of “Better Life Together”, honoring the
principals of social responsibility and sustainable development, combining its
competitive advantages and extensive network of businesses, to realize the
corporate social value.

To provide stakeholders a clearer vision of the Group’s efforts in corporate
social responsibility, we continue to publish the standalone corporate social
responsibility report to summarize the achievements during the year and
continuously optimize the strategies and framework for corporate social
responsibility.

COMMUNITY CARE

During the year under review, the Group again consistently and actively
participated in different community services and social welfare activities, such
as education, cultural conservation, and disaster relief, in order to offer help to
the communities in need, promote community development, and give full play
to the caring community spirit. We also encouraged our consumers, staff and
suppliers to actively participate and give back to our society.

AEBETRERAXERETIRRBL2E[ LK BRETIRZED -
Chen Lang, Chairman of the Group led the staff and their families to participate “Oxfam Walkathon” charity event.
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Community Services

In February 2015, the Group sponsored and supported the “Oxfam
Walkathon” organized by Hong Kong charity group Oxfam, appealing to its
staff and their families to join a walk on a trail across Victoria Peak in Hong
Kong to advocate poverty relief, to raise public awareness on global poverty
and the causes of relevant injustices. The donations will be used in global
poverty alleviation and development projects, humanitarian aid and public
education.

During the year under review, the Group continued to actively participate in
the China Resources Hope Town projects, an initiative organized by CRH for
many years. Of these, our beer division accumulatively contributed
approximately RMB1 million in the construction at The Hope Town in Zunyi,
Guizhou Province, offered its residents a recreation facility and a quality venue
for large-scale events. Besides, in terms of assisting the development of the
agricultural industry, the food division spared no effort in transforming the
traditional economic model, providing work opportunities, increasing farmers’
income and improving the quality of their lives. During the year under review,
the farming areas, including the cherry tomato planting base and the chicken
farms in the Hope Town in Baise, Guangxi Autonomous Region; the breeding
hens in the Hope Town in Xibaipo, Hebei Province: and the goat farm in the
Hope Town in Wanning, Hainan Province, all started to produce local food
products. The Hope Town in Shaoshan, Hunan Province, is actively exploring
distribution channels for rice products and experimenting with chicken farms,
laying a solid foundation for the development of modern agriculture in
Shaoshan.

With increasingly severe status of aquatic ecosystem, during the “World
Water Day” and “China Water Week” campaign in 2015, the beverage division
rolled out various events under the theme of “Join hands for water
conservation, Treasure every drop of water”. During the year under review,
the event’s offline marketing activities attracted more than 1,000 participants
in person and over 8 million visitors through the online social media platform,
effectively promoting water saving and conservation.
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o TEEB—ERORBEE A HE
BEARRA - ER[EHER CR Vanguard] i
MEKEELEEATERMEBEBR+F
Pusi R BB ]2 [# B E CRCare | &
[ K3 W BE Pacific Coffee | 78 iE 48 % F & 15
[ARREEEIEE-

In addition, the retail division’s efforts in serving the community have
continued to gain recognition. Of these, “FEME&EZXR CR Vanguard”
supermarket chain once again received the “10 Years Plus Caring” logo by
the Hong Kong Council of Social Service, while “Z % CRCare” and “AF
FEMIE Pacific Coffee” have been named a “Caring Company” for many

consecutive years.

[EFEEBMRERSEREREIEESEEER - JhB - BIHT 14518 -

The campaign of “Snow — Great Expedition, Challenge the Unclimbed by College
Students” conveyed the spirit of “ambitious, challenging and innovative”.

BB

HPHEEXBRR BERLAEEEROEM
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BEBEINNISEBRRERBELERE
BIMBERETRARKBET  BPHR
REBEKRELE - MBENAT  FRAFPINIIEA
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AEBEERENFEBIEBREAMBEEETR] -

Program” for the 9th consecutive year.

Education

Education is consistently one of the key focuses of the Group’s corporate
social responsibility programs. In March 2015, the beer division officially
launched the campaign of “Snow — Great Expedition, Challenge the
Unclimbed by College Students” in the Renmin University of China, targeting
college students. During the launching ceremony, other than donations to
outdoor rescue organizations, the campaign also selected more than one
hundred students to conquer the unclimbed mountains in Yunnan Province in
May. The campaign marked the 11th year of Snow’s Great Expedition series.
The beer division hopes to convey the spirit of “ambitious, challenging and
innovative” through the activities to the college students and encourage them
to bravely overcome the challenges and explore the future.

During the year under review, the beverage division carried out the “China
Resources C’estbon 100 Libraries Program” for the 9th consecutive year. In
July 2015, experts in education and reading, as well as volunteers from all
walks of life participated in the “Nationwide Launch for China Resources
C’estbon 100 Libraries Program 2015” and “Inauguration Round of Nation-
wide Book Reading Activity for Rural Children” in the Hope Primary School in
China Resources Hope Town, Baise, Guangxi Autonomous Region. The
volunteers brought children who are living in the suburbs and away from their
parents, together with the experts in education and reading, as well as the
media visited the China Resources C’estbon Libraries. By interactive reading
activities, the campaign was able to raise interest in reading among these
children and helped foster reading habits.

The Group has held the “China Resources C’estbon 100 Libraries
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FRBEABREBMGIIHISERE -

“2L #t Dougong” was featured as the theme of the 2015 “Snow Draft Beer Ingenuity in Craft” photo competition

on Chinese ancient buildings.
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Cultural Conservation

In May 2015, the beer division and the School of Architecture, Tsinghua
University co-organized the 2015 “Snow Draft Beer Ingenuity in Craft” photo
competition on Chinese ancient buildings. For the first time, “2}#t Dougong (sets
of bracket)” was featured as the theme of the competition. Dougong, the
historical architecture design, is a fine representation of the spirit and quality
of ancient Chinese architecture. The competition attracted over 1 million
participants who submitted approximately 2 million photos since the launch in
May. Ten participants were awarded “Snow Draft Beer Ingenuity in Craft
Photographer of the Year” chosen by experts in ancient Chinese architecture,
professional photographers and representatives from the media. In October
2015, the beer division and Tsinghua University co-published Ancient Chinese
Architecture of Popularization and Inheritance (Series Six) — The Map of
China’s Ancient Buildings (Series One). The 5-volume series was compiled by
the School of Architecture, Tsinghua University and other experts in the field
over the course of a year. Through these activities, our beer division has not
only been able to present and promote ancient Chinese architecture, highlight
the spirit, quality and characteristics of native Chinese culture, but also to
popularize and pass on this kind of traditional Chinese culture.
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Disaster Relief

In August 2015, an explosion occurred at a dangerous goods warehouse in
the Binhai New Area, Tianjin. The Group immediately initiated emergency
response plan and started to participate in the rescue operations. Our
beverage division arranged 4,000 cartons of “|{&2 C’estbon” purified drinking
water to the frontline, making sure safe and clean drinking water was available
to the affected people and the rescue personnel. The retail division also
prepared 157 cartons of beverages and 22 cartons of crackers right before
dawn on the next day of the explosion. In the afternoon of the same day,
more aid arrived on site with 1,700 sets of food and personal hygiene
products that included towels, toothbrushes, instant noodles and beverages.
Our retail division also kept close contact with the local government in the
hopes of timely providing more needed materials.

mTAEMa 8 Ceestoon) SRAALFRERBRAAR  UXEZKBHRMBIEAS -

4,000 cartons of “ /& & C'estbon” purified drinking water were arranged to the frontline

to support the affected people and the rescue personnel.

REEBNERRMAEERLERIF AEEEZ2EMET -
An explosion occurred at a dangerous goods warehouse in the Binhai New
Area, Tianjin. The Group immediately participated in the rescue operations.
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MR T 2 75 1 A H) A R 53,000 8 7T & e 7 A8 % BE R I o
The beer division invested approximately RMB30 million in energy conservation and
reduction of emissions.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group seeks to incorporate the policy and practice of environmental
management and energy conservation into business development. By
implementing sustainable development that reduces the impact from
business operations imposed on the environment, as well as organizing and
supporting various environmental protection activities, the Group promotes
awareness of environmental protection among its customers, suppliers and
different walks of life in society, with the aim of preserving the earth’s precious
resources and creating a greener environment together.

Energy Conservation and Waste Reduction

During the year under review, the beer division enforced a series of effective
measures in energy conservation and waste reduction that included
constantly advancing and strengthening the monitoring of environmental and
energy consumption targets, vigorously promoting the application of new
technology and products for energy conservation and reduction of emissions.
By doing so, the Group has enhanced the technology level that effectively
reduces the overall energy consumption and carbon emissions. In 2015, the
beer division invested approximately RMB30 million in such efforts,
undertaking over 20 projects in energy conservation and reduction of
emissions, which adopted much stricter standards than the national or local
ones.

Additionally, our retail division endeavored to promote its advancement in
technologies for energy conservation and waste reduction, which included
the introduction of energy-saving lighting and air conditioning systems, in
order to reduce energy consumption. In the first half of the year, the retail
division introduced organic tableware to reduce white pollution. As for the
food division, it continued to upgrade its production equipments and
technology in 2015, such as refining boiler rooms and eliminating coal-
burning boilers to reduce waste water and gas emissions. The beverage
division made great efforts with various energy conservation measures
including the introduction of high-efficiency motors, the use of water
recirculation systems and optimized pump systems. These led to a reduced
consumption of water, electricity and coal by nearly 500,000 tons, 200,000
watts and over 10 tons respectively on average per month.
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Promotion of Environmental Protection

The Group strives to organize environmental protection campaigns in different
communities. Through these efforts, the Group endeavors to strengthen
public awareness of environmental protection and promote resources
conservation. In order to facilitate staff awareness of energy conservation, the
beer and the beverage divisions participated in various environmental
promotion and educational activities including “World Environment Day”,
“National Energy Conservation Publicity Week” and “National Low-Carbon
Day” during the year under review. On the other hand, the beverage division
posted the message with the theme of “C’estbon’s Environmental Protection”
and “C’estbon’s Energy Efficiency and Carbon Reduction” respectively
through the Group’s WeChat official account for cultivating public awareness
of environmental protection, and to introduce the general public on living the
“Energy Efficiency and Carbon Reduction” lifestyle, which successfully guided
and strengthened awareness of environmental protection in different
communities.

The retail division has participated in the World Wide Fund for Nature’s “Earth
Hour” campaign for the 7th consecutive year, with all of its supermarkets and
convenience stores switching off one-third of their lights during the event.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group believes that human resources are one of the most valuable
assets and core driving force of a company. Thus, we strove to establish a
positive, diversified and inclusive working environment for offering employees
the adequate training and growth opportunities, and communicate with
employees through different channels in order to enhance staff loyalty. Also,
the Group proactively promoted staff's mental and physical health, and
advocated their work-life balance by organizing various type of activities.

During the year under review, all business divisions conducted the “rising
stars” training program to help newly employed staff understand the Group’s
businesses and corporate culture, as well as accelerate their integration into
the Group. Apart from the introduction of online training, it continued to
improve the career development system, to draw the staff’s attention on skills
advancement.

[RRZEIFIFEEDHET THAEEMEBL REEXL -

The “rising stars” training program helps newly employed staff understand the Group’s businesses and corporate culture.
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AEBRBRPREY MARTHARNNGEER RESTAHFRTERNTE -

The Group organized various type of activities to enhance staff loyalty and advocate their work-life balance.

BEST
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Staff Care

The Group launched various staff care measures to benefit the staff of all
business divisions, including setting up a “Care Charity Fund” to offer
immediate assistance to employees who encountered financial difficulties or
sickness, building up a solidarity of corporate culture. In particular, the beer
division’s “Snow Relief Fund” successfully raised and distributed the fund to
help those staff in need during the year under review. Besides, the Group
regularly organized different staff activities to promote internal
communications, to listen to their concerns and assist problems solving
through discussions. And, the Group actively promoted staff's mental and
physical health, including body check, to reinforce the care of the frontline
staff health, as well as stress relief.

FOOD SAFETY AND PRODUCT QUALITY

The Group treasures the increasing public demand for food safety and
product quality. To that end, each business is required to abide by high
quality standards and devote continuous dedication to providing high-quality
products and services, as part of the efforts to maintain the Group’s
reputation.
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AEBERARGTE  EFHEEEE -

The Group emphasizes food safety and maintains its overall reputation.
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The beer division vigorously adheres to ISO9000 quality management
principles and Hazard Analysis & Critical Control Points (HACCP)
management system in order to improve the food quality and ensure the food
safety. By using multiple food safety control standards, strengthening the
food safety training, full implementation of relevant national laws and
regulations and standards, and establishing food safety information platform
with dynamic information management, the Group can further ensure food
safety. Moreover, the beer division conducts comprehensive systematic
studies on the area of product appearance such as packaging design,
packaging materials, process control, equipment modification, storage
protection, and achieved a number of technological breakthroughs, not only
offering a better product appearance, but also providing higher protection of
product quality.

The food division is also in strict accordance with various management
control system including 1ISO22000, ISO9001, HACCP and Good Agricultural
Practice (GAP). Through innovation and advancement in product development
and production technology, safety risks of food products are therefore
reduced such that safe, healthy and convenient products can be provided to
consumers.



HEEEE

REEBETSEBEHHERETELHRBERSE
HAEES WEREMER BHEXBEA
HEHEmETAERERER YEFETK
AEFENCHETEEPZE  ABRERE
72 B9 AR 75 K S o

AEENREMEKRAERS 7 HES
AR EEBEAIEHER  SEELEFRE
BHEZE SREBTRTCMERERET
RE BEEELZ2EH)ERER 161
ERERBEREEESNHERAKRIESE-

EFEMEE

MBEEREDL— Em$¢l%ﬁ% oo g
BB e = OB E W R AT (R TR E IR AR
REMmMERSE - litﬁl“”ﬂ@%f%ﬁ%ﬁfti@&
EEHEEEBEBBESE  BITMETY
% o

AEBNEEEREARBEFEZLINERS
FeZZT—RHF HETHIFE Chinese Arts &
Crafts | @B+ —FREABELETEEEHS

R BERTEH EERARARNZIRERES
el ZTEAKETERFPRE MM -

E 3R 2015 Annual Report
1 EEF Corporate Social Responsibility

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group has strict internal guidelines for the supply chain management of
each business in order to ensure the product quality. The beer division
conducts monthly assessments of the operating processes of the suppliers,
evaluates and renews the supplier list every year to ensure their service
qualities.

By means of assessments, evaluations and tenders, the food division selects
strategic suppliers and continues to optimize the supply chain for central
procurement. The beverage division also requires all suppliers to abide by the
regulations of the Environmental, Health and Safety (EHS) management
system. Contracts will be terminated for continued failure to comply with the
requirements.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

Being customer-oriented has always been the operating philosophy of the
Group. Our beer division improves the beer bottle recycling system, solving
the product quality problem from the source. Moreover, the division has
strengthened process control by setting critical control points throughout the
production process, adding its efforts to enhance the brand image.

The high-quality products and services of the Group continue to win industry
recognition. In 2015, its “A %4 Chinese Arts & Crafts” was elected as one of
the “Service Retailers of the Year” in the Department Stores category of the
“Mystery Shoppers Program” organized by Hong Kong Retail Management
Association for the 11th consecutive year, highlighting the Group’s excellence
in customer service.
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It is the firm belief of the Company that a good and solid corporate
governance framework is essential to the successful growth of the Company
and the enhancement of shareholder value. The Company is committed to
attaining and maintaining high standards of corporate governance and adopts
principles of corporate governance emphasising a quality Board,
accountability to all stakeholders, open communication and fair disclosure.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

On 8 April 2005, the Company adopted the Corporate Governance Practice
Manual (“CG Manual”). The CG Manual which was revised on 31 March 2009,
18 November 2010, 21 March 2012 and 7 December 2015, incorporates
almost all the Code Provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
(“Listing Rules”) and includes the implementation details for the Code
Provisions and, where appropriate, the Recommended Best Practices. The
CG Manual can be downloaded from our website and copies are available on
request to the Company Secretary.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2015, save and except the
following:

In respect of Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all the non-executive
directors are not appointed for a fixed term. The Board does not believe in
any arbitrary term of office. The current arrangement will give the Company
sufficient flexibility to organize the composition of the Board to serve the
needs of the Group. Further, the Articles of Association of the Company
requires that one third of the directors (including executive and non-executive
directors) shall retire each year and every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The directors to retire
each year shall be those appointed by the Board during the year and those
who have been longest in office since their election or re-election. A retiring
director is eligible for re-election.

In respect of Code Provision A.5.6 of the CG Code, the Board did not have a
policy concerning diversity of Board members but the Board is actively
considering the adoption of the relevant policy.

In respect of Code Provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the Company has not
provided all members of the Board with monthly updates to enable the Board
as a whole and each director to discharge their duties. However, the
Company has based on business situation, provided to the Board from time
to time, updated business information to enable the Board as a whole and
each director to discharge their duties.
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In respect of Code Provision D.1.4 of the CG Code, the Company did not
have formal letters of appointment for directors. However, the directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company. In addition, the directors are
required to refer to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties”
issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”, and, if
applicable, “Guide for Independent Non-Executive Directors” published by the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and responsibilities
as directors of the Company. Besides, the directors are required to comply
with the requirements under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements.

In addition to meeting the requirements of the Listing Rules, the inclusion of
the Corporate Governance Report in this Annual Report is intended to keep
our shareholders abreast of the corporate governance practices of the
Company and their development throughout the reporting year and to invite
our shareholders’ views thereon.

THE BOARD

The Board represents shareholders in managing the Company’s affairs. The
directors recognise their responsibilities to enhance shareholder value and to
conduct themselves in accordance with their duty of care and integrity.

The major issues which are brought before the Board for their decisions
include:

1. Direction of the operational strategies of the Group;
2. Setting the policies relating to key business and financial objectives of
the Company;

3. Monitoring the performance of the management;

4. Approval of material acquisitions, investments, divestments, disposal of
assets or any significant capital expenditure of the Group;

5. Ensuring a prudent and effective internal control system;

Review of the financial performance and results of the Company; and

7. Recommendation to shareholders of the Company on final dividend
and the declaration of any interim or special dividends.

o

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in paragraph D.3.1 of the CG Code, and in this regard the duties of the
Board shall include:

(@ to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and the senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors of the Company;
and

(e)  to review the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report as referred to in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board considered the following corporate
governance matters:

° Approval of the Corporate Governance Report of the Company;

o Review the Stock Exchange’s amendments to the Risk Management
and Internal Control section of the CG Code and Corporate
Governance Report; and

° Amendments to Code of Ethics and Securities Transactions, CG
Manual, Shareholders’ Communication Policy, and the terms of
reference for each of the Board committees.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of
each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. The financial
statements are prepared and presented to enable a clear and balanced
assessment of the financial position of the Group. Regular management
reports on the financial position and prospects of each business unit of the
Group are reviewed by the Executive Committee to enable the Board to make
an informed assessment of the performance of the Company.

In the financial year ended 31 December 2015, and up to the date of this
Report, there was no change to the membership of the Board.

As at the date of this Report, the Board comprises 14 directors, including four
executive directors (which contain the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Vice
Chairman and Chief Financial Officer), five non-executive directors and five
independent non-executive directors. The biographical details of the directors
are set out on pages 34 to 42 of this Annual Report and can also be found on
our website. The relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships) if any, among members of the Board are
disclosed. There is no such relationship as between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company has received
written confirmation from each of the independent non-executive directors
confirming his independence from the Company, and considers all of the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

The experience and views of our independent non-executive directors are
held in high regard and contribute to the effective direction of the Group.
Throughout the year of 2015, the Company complied with the requirements
under the Listing Rules by maintaining the proportion of its independent non-
executive directors to at least one third of the total members of the Board.
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The Company has put in place a tailored induction programme for its newly
appointed directors. Continuing development and information are provided to
the directors to keep them abreast of the latest developments involving the
Group’s businesses and operations.

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed from time to
time to ensure that the Board has a balanced composition of skills and
expertise appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company.
Appointments are first considered by the Nomination Committee. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put to the full Board
for decision.

All directors (including executive and non-executive directors) are not
appointed for a fixed term. The Board does not believe in any arbitrary term of
office and would like to retain sufficient flexibility to organise the composition
of the Board to serve the needs of the Group. All directors are subject to re-
election by shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting
following their appointment and at least once every three years on a rotation
basis. The Articles of Association of the Company require that one-third of the
directors (including executive and non-executive directors) shall retire each
year. The directors who are required to retire each year shall be those
appointed by the Board during the year and those who have been longest in
office since their election or re-election. A retiring director is eligible for re-
election.

During the year of 2015, the positions of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer were held separately. The role of Chairman was held by Mr.
Chen Lang and Mr. Hong Jie held the position of Chief Executive Officer. The
segregation of duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer ensures
a clear distinction in the Chairman’s responsibility to manage the Board and
the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility to manage the Company’s
business. The respective responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer are more fully set out in the CG Manual.

Mr. Chen Lang, the Chairman has attended the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 29 May 2015. The Chief Financial Officer and either the
chairman or at least one member of the Audit Committee, Compensation
Committee and Nomination Committee attended the annual general meeting
to ensure effective communication with the shareholders of the Company.
Separate resolution was proposed at the annual general meeting on each
substantially separate issue, including re-election of each retiring director and
was put to vote at the meeting by way of poll. Detailed procedures for
conducting a poll were explained at the meeting.
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The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals to review the financial performance of the Group. Between
these regular meetings, the Board meets to discuss and consider major
issues (whether or not required by the Listing Rules) and also on other
occasions when Board decisions are required. With respect to regular
meetings of the Board, directors usually receive at least 14 days prior written
notice of the meeting and an agenda with supporting Board papers no less
than 3 days prior to the meeting. With respect to other meetings called,
directors are given as much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the
circumstances. The directors have full access to information on the Group
and independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary by the
directors.

ZEEeRN _ZT—RFHEHEMIAEH(BEE  Durng the year of 2015, 11 meetings (including meetings by way of

HRFEFR) - EEEN_ZT— 1 i HE R E A circulation of written resolutions) were held by the Board. The attendance of

& EExeen BEXRLTEeeHE FMZEE  the directors at general meetings, Board meetings, Audit Committee

eeINIEATESEENEBERTX meetings, Compensation Committee meetings and Nomination Committee

meeting held in 2015 is set out in the table below:
BRREFARE REBAIXE gxg EREBE ¥HMzEEe REZEE
Annual General  Extraordinary Board Audit Compensation  Nomination
Meeting  General Meeting (BEHERE Committee Committee Committee
(BRLERY (BRLEERE Meeting(s) (EBEERY (BRLRAE  (FEHERY
Meeting Meeting(s) attended/ Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting
attended/ attended/ TR Eheld) attended/ attended/ attended/
ZT7RZheld) #17XHheld) R S W ETRZheld HTREHheld 17X Hheld)

¥ 17 = Executive Directors

BREA T AE Mr. Chen Lang 11 2/2 3/4 4/4 3/3

EAEE Mr. Hong Jie 0 0/2 o4 o4 33

Bl g Mr. Liu Hongii 0 0/2 44 34 33

Rp bk & Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank 11 2/2 4/4 4/4 3/3 1/1

3 %17 £ = Non-Executive Directors

RXREE Mr. Du Wenmin 0N 0/2 1/4 2/4 3/3

R EAE Mr. Wei Bin 01 0/2 1/4 2/4 3/3

HE A Mr. Yan Biao 01 0/2 1/4 4/4 3/3

RELE Mr. Chen Ying 01 0/2 0/4 2/4 3/3

TERE Mr. Wang Yan 0N 0/2 1/4 2/4 3/3

B 3 3 £ /7 & EIndependent Non-Executive Directors

EAELAE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh 11 2/2 4/4 4/4 3/3 4/4 4/4 11

FRERL Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric 17 202 44 M4 33 4/4 4/4 11

HRE Ti’?i— Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 11 2/2 3/4 4/4 3/3 2/4 3/4

REEL Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan 11 2/2 4/4 4/4 3/3 4/4 11

B E i Mr. Siu Kwing Chug, Gordon il 2/2 44 44 33 4/4 11

“E-REENEERY

Total number of meetings held in 2015 1 2 11 4 40 1
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Notes:

R: FHIE# Regular Meeting

S: 1 Rl€i% Special Meeting

W:  EEJREZE Written Resolutions
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Three of the Compensation Committee resolutions were passed by way of written resolutions and one resolution was passed by way of physical meeting

in 2015.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and professional
development program for directors.

Each newly appointed director would receive an induction package covering
the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The
Company also provides briefings and other training to develop and refresh the
directors’ knowledge and skill.

All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
has sent reading materials to directors on regulatory updates or information
relevant to the Company or its business.
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AATCDEHEELXEREENFRNEZTHEEEZE The Company has received from all directors records of their continuous
BERIBIIN 2L BEAEVNHERT xR professional development trainings during the year. Details of which are set
out in below table:

BESERR2ER
Type of Continuous Professional Development
B HEHAE KRR
SRR BRESIRARE -

R/S8ER SwERA MEEBEALTDR
Receiving training, HERCBFEEEMIER
attending and/or giving talks Reading regulatory updates or
at seminar and/or conference information relevant to the
and/or forums Company or its business
¥ 1T# % Executive Directors
N FeR B 5T & Mr. Chen Lang v v
8 AR A& Mr. Hong Jie v/ v/
H DA A Mr. Liu Hongji v/ v/
5 LM% AE  Mr Lai NiHum, Frank v v
Qo
<
J¥ # 1T EE Non-Executive Directors
% HXREE Mr. Du Wenmin v v
= BRI Mr. Wei Bin v /
8 B 5 £ Mr. Yan Biao / v/
PR JE % & Mr. Chen Ying v v/
FELEE Mr. Wang Yan v v
o
% Bk #17E = Independent Non-Executive Directors
8 ®FABW%ELE  Mr. Houang Tai Ninh v v
o FREFL Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric / v
§ BREET Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses v v/
:ﬂ; PR BT A Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan v/ v
= B A Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon v v
-
EEERE DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

HAEE@NTARHBEHEHAEABEES REZR  Whle the Board retains at all times full responsibility for guiding and
AAFWEMT BANAKRO TANEETFTE  monitoring the Company, certain responsibilities of the Board are delegated
ETRR: as follows:

@ ZEg-—EFeR T IAEAMEMNZES (@ Commitees — various committees have been established by the
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EHITARAETHEERE - TENE Board to administer certain specified functions of the Company’s
EgRTRTLEES FKETEE F affairs. The main committees include: the Executive Committee, the
ZEEEe REZLZESKFMEEZ- Finance Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
JIEHTELZES ERLZET REZ and the Compensation Committee. The terms of reference of the
EeNFMEEeSaNBE  WER Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
MR B ESEYHD FHRNCEEALRTF and the Compensation Committee which set out, among other things,
fth - JRE EEHR AR B A AL DR the duties, functions and composition of these committees are set out
=i in the CG Manual and available on the Company’s website;

Bf# %R % Financial Statements
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(b)  Chief Executive Officer — the day-to-day management of the
Company'’s business is delegated to the Chief Executive Officer who is
accountable to the Board; and

(c) Senior Management — certain responsibilities of corporate and
operating management are delegated to senior management of the
Company within the parameters as specified by the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2015, the Nomination Committee comprised four
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Houang Tai Ninh (chairman),
Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric, Mr. Bernard Charwut Chan and Mr. Siu Kwing Chue,
Gordon, and one Executive Director, Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank. The duties of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition
of the Board and to make recommendation after such review and to assess
the suitability and qualification of any proposed director candidate. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put forward for
consideration and adoption, where appropriate, by the Board. The terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee setting out its duties and procedures
was revised on 21 March 2012 and 7 December 2015, and are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting to review the structure, size and composition of the Board.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2015, the Compensation Committee comprised four
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon
(chairman), Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric and Dr. Cheng Mo
Chi, Moses. The duties of the Compensation Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure of
remuneration of directors and senior management, establishing a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on remuneration and determining
the specific remuneration packages for all directors and senior management.
The terms of reference of the Compensation Committee setting out its duties
and procedures was revised on 21 March 2012 and 7 December 2015, and
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The remuneration of the directors and senior executives is determined with
reference to the performance and responsibilities of the individual, the
performance of the Group, prevailing market conditions and remuneration
benchmarks from comparable companies. Directors and employees also
participate in bonus arrangements based on the performance of the Group
and the individual.
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FriNEE R T
Remuneration band (HK$)

During the year under review, the Compensation Committee met once and
passed three written resolutions on matters including:

. Approval of the remuneration packages of the directors and senior
management of the Company;

. Update the status on the Company’s talent management; and

. Review the Restricted Incentive Award Scheme of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the remuneration of the members of
the senior management who are not directors are within the following bands:

AH

Number of persons

13,500,001 — 14,000,000
1,000,001 — 1,500,000
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2015, the Audit Committee comprised four Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely, Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric (chairman), Mr.
Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses and Mr. Bernard Charnwut
Chan. One of its members has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. No member of this
Committee is @ member of the former or existing auditors of the Company.
The membership of the Audit Committee has complied with the Listing Rules
requirement that the majority of its members must be independent and one of
whom must have appropriate professional qualification. The existing terms of
reference of the Audit Committee which was revised on 18 November 2010,
are modeled on “A Guide for Effective Audit Committee” issued by Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and have also adopted the
principles set out in the CG Code for the time being in force. Pursuant to the
amendments to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the terms of reference of
the Audit Committee was further revised on 21 March 2012 and 7 December
2015, and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The duties of the Audit Committee include considering and making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of external auditors, review of the Company’s financial information
and oversight of the Company’s financial report system and internal control
procedures. During the year under review, the Audit Committee met on four
occasions. The work of the Audit Committee in 2015 included reviews of:

° the external auditor’s report to the Audit Committee in respect of 2014
audit;
. the 2014 annual report and annual results announcement;
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. audit strategy memorandum in respect of the 2015 audit by the
external auditor;
. connected party transactions;

. the quarterly results for the three months ended 31 March 2015 and
the related results announcement;

. the 2015 interim report and interim results announcement;

. the quarterly reports of internal audit activities;

. the staffing and resources of the Group’s Internal Audit Department;
and

. the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions.

During the reporting year, the Audit Committee met with the external auditor
on four occasions.

The Audit Committee has considered the performance and independence of
the external auditor of the Company. The Audit Committee concludes that the
independence of the external auditor of the Company has not been
compromised by non-audit services performed for the Group. The statement
by the external auditor about its reporting responsibilities relating to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 94 to 95. During the year under
review, audit fees paid and payable to the Company’s external auditor
amount to approximately HK$39 million (2014: approximately HK$41 million);
fees related to non-audit services paid and payable amount to approximately
HK$1 million (2014: approximately HK$9 million).

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The interests held by the directors in the Company’s securities as at 31
December 2015 are disclosed in the Directors’ Report on pages 74 to 78 of
this Annual Report. On 8 April 2005, the Company has adopted a Code of
Ethics and Securities Transactions (“Code of Ethics”) which incorporates the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Code of Ethics has
been amended, approved and reconfirmed by the Board of directors of the
Company on 6 April 2006, 4 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and further revised
on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010, and 7 December 2015 respectively.
The prohibitions on securities dealing and disclosure requirements in the
Code of Ethics also apply to specified individuals who include the Group’s
senior management and persons who are privy to inside information of the
Group. The Code of Ethics is on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry with the
directors, all directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December
2015.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board assumes overall responsibility to establish and maintain sound
systems in risk management, internal control and governance to ensure the
effective and efficient accomplishment of corporate goals and objectives,
safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests as well as ensure
the reliability of financial and corporate reporting. The Board confirms that it is
the overall responsibility of the Board to establish and effectively implement
the internal control system to ensure the smooth operation of business,
safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests as well as ensure
the reliability of financial statements.

The Group adopts the control framework consistent with the frameworks
recommended by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission in the United States and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants as the standards in establishing risk
management and control systems among our Group companies. The
Group’s internal control system includes five key elements, namely the
existence of an effective control environment, risk management,
communication and information system, cost effective control activities and
monitoring mechanism.

Every business unit is required to identify and assess the risks and impact on
the respective business unit at least once every year. The executive
management team of each business unit is accountable for the conduct and
performance of each operation in the business unit within the agreed
strategies and similarly the management of each operation is accountable for
its conduct and performance. Policies and procedures are designed for
safeguarding corporate assets, maintaining proper accounting records and
ensuring transactions are executed in accordance with management
authorisation. Monthly management reports on the financial results and key
operation indicators are reviewed by the Executive Committee of the Board.
Regular meetings are held with the executive management team of each
business unit to review the actual performance against budget.

Our Internal Audit Function, reporting to the Audit Committee and Chairman
of the Board respectively, is responsible for assessing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, formulating an impartial opinion on
the effectiveness and efficiency of the systems, and reporting its findings to
the Executive Committee and the Audit Committee. Follow-up review will be
conducted in due course to ensure that audit recommendations are being
properly implemented. The Internal Audit conducts independent reviews on
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an on-going
basis.

Depending on the nature of businesses and risk exposure of individual
business units, the scope of work performed by the internal audit function
covers all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions.
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Results of internal audit activities are reported to the Audit Committee at least
once semi-annually and the corrective actions are taken by the relevant
business units. The Board conducts regular reviews of the Group’s internal
control system through the Internal Audit Department and the Audit
Committee.

Based on the assessment for the year ended 31 December 2015, the Board
and the Audit Committee believe that the system of internal control provides
reasonable assurance that the Group’s assets are safeguarded and there is
no significant area of concerns that may affect shareholders.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

No change has been made to the Company’s Articles of Association during
the year. In order to bring the existing Articles of Association in line with the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Companies
Ordinance”), and in view of the number of changes proposed, the Board
proposes to make amendments by way of adoption of a new set of Articles of
Association, rather than to insert separate amendments to the existing
Articles of Association, with effect from the date of the passing of the relevant
special resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on 25 May 2016. Details are set out in the circular sent to the shareholders
together with this Annual Report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals at General Meetings

In accordance with Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the directors
are required to call a general meeting if the Company has received requests
to do so from members of the Company representing at least 5% of the total
voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general meeting.
Such requests must (a) state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting; and (b) may include the text of a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. Such
requests (a) may be sent to the Company in hard copy form (by depositing at
the registered office of the Company for the attention of the Board) or in
electronic form (by email: ir@cre.com.hk); and (b) must be authenticated by
the person or persons making it. In accordance with Section 567 of the
Companies Ordinance, the directors must call a meeting within 21 days after
the date on which they become subject to the requirement under Section 566
of the Companies Ordinance and such meeting must be held on a date not
more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Besides, Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance provides that the
Company must give notice of a resolution if it has received requests that it do
so from (a) the members of the Company representing at least 2.5% of the
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total voting rights of all the members who have a right to vote on the
resolution at the annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or (b) at
least 50 members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate. Such requests (a) may be sent
to the Company in hard copy form (by depositing at the registered office of
the Company for the attention of the Board) or in electronic form (by email:
ir@cre.com.hk); (b) must identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c)
must be authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) must be
received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate; or (i) if later, the time at which notice is
given of that meeting. Section 616 of the Companies Ordinance provides that
the Company that is required under Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance
to give notice of a resolution must send a copy of it at the Company’s own
expense to each member of the Company entitled to receive notice of the
annual general meeting (a) in the same manner as the notice of the meeting;
and (b) at the same time as, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, it
gives notice of the meeting.

Procedure for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as Director

Pursuant to Articles 112 of the Articles of Association of the Company, no
person other than a director retiring at a meeting shall, unless recommended
by the directors, be appointed a director at a general meeting unless at least
seven days’ previous notice in writing (to be lodged no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election
and no later than seven days prior to the date of such meeting) shall have
been given to the Company of the intention of any member qualified to vote
at the meeting to propose any person other than a retiring director for election
to the office of director with notice executed by that person of his willingness
to be appointed.

Not less than three nor more than twenty-eight days before the date
appointed for holding a general meeting notice shall be given to all who are
entitled to receive notice of the meeting of any person in respect of whom
notice has been duly given to the Company under Article 112.1 of the Articles
of Association of the Company.

The aforesaid procedures is available on the website of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s Articles of Association was revised on 29 May 2009 by
special resolution in the 2009 annual general meeting in order to ensure
compliance with amendments to the Listing Rules, in particular, relevant CG
Code provisions in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
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The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication
and fair disclosure of information to its shareholders. Accurate and fair
disclosure is necessary for shareholders to form their own judgment on the
operation and performance of the Group.

The Company has established a Shareholder's Communication Policy and
the said policy is available on the website of the Company.

Based on this policy, legitimate questions arising from generally disclosed
information deserves a reasonable reply. The Investor Relations Department
is responsible for managing investor relations and will respond to such
shareholders’ and analysts’ enquiries.

The Company’s website provides shareholders, investors, existing and
prospective partners and counterparties with information on the Company’s
corporate governance practices. Copies of such information can be obtained
from the Company Secretary upon written request.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by addressing them to the Investor Relations Department of the Company.
The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations Department

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
39th Floor, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Email: ir@cre.com.hk

Tel No.: 852-2829 9889

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Registrar.

For and on behalf of the Board
CHEN LANG

Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2016
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The directors have pleasure in presenting to the shareholders their report and
the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company
on 12 October 2015 and the issue of Certificate of Change of Name by the
Registrar of Companies of Hong Kong on 16 October 2015, the English name
of the Company was changed from “China Resources Enterprise, Limited” to
“China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited” and the Chinese name
of the Company was changed from “FEEAIZ AR AR to “FER LA
AR A 7] with effect from 16 October 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

For the first eight months of 2015, the Group was principally engaged in retail,
beer, food and beverage businesses. Since 1 September 2015, after
completion of the disposal of all non-beer businesses, the Group has been
principally engaged in the manufacture, sales and distribution of beer
products. The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are shown on pages 170 to 174. An
analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business segments is set
out in note 6 to the financial statements.

GROUP LOSS

The consolidated profit and loss account is set out on page 96 and shows
the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2015.

DIVIDENDS

The Board do not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: HK$0.16 per share). No interim dividend
was paid during the year (2014: HK$0.11 per share). A special dividend of
HK$12.30 per share was paid during the year (2014: Nil).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 20 May
2016 to Wednesday, 25 May 2016, both days inclusive, during which no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting to be held on 25 May 2016, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 19 May 2016 for registration.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 is
set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Risk Management”,
“Corporate Social Responsibility” and “Corporate Governance Report” from
pages 8 to 9, pages 14 to 20, pages 25 to 32, pages 44 to 45, pages 46 to
55 and pages 56 to 69 respectively of this Annual Report.

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations in particular, those having significant impact on the Group.
Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the
attention of relevant employees and relevant business units from time to time.
As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Company.

FIXED ASSETS

Movements in the fixed assets of the Group during the year are set out in
note 17 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are set out in
note 30 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to approximately
HK$2 million.
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= DIRECTORS
AEEFEAREAREAHEST S 20T The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

HITES Executive Directors
BREA S A (F/E) Mr. Chen Lang (Chairman)
EREE(HEEHTE) Mr. Hong Jie (Chief Executive Officer)
RIRAELE (BEE) Mr. Liu Hongiji (Vice Chairman)
RLErEE(BEIEE) Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank (Chief Financial Officer)
FHITES Non-Executive Directors
MXREE Mr. Du Wenmin
B ok A Mr. Wei Bin

g & B 5t A& Mr. Yan Biao

g R E 5 & Mr. Chen Ying

2 FTEXRSE Mr. Wang Yan

3

< BAYHEBITES Independent Non-Executive Directors

] BEARERE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh

= TREHL Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric
L Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
BRES B A& Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan
R o AR Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

RAHKEBE BERADTBEHSLSIZMAISE  Asat the date of this report, in accordance with Article 110 of the Company’s
—BA—TERE  HAREE BIEE LA PR Articles of Association, Mr. Hong Jie, Mr. Liu Hongji, Mr. Chen Ying, Mr.
Bt mAEEALREREFELKELEH  Houang Tai Ninh and Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric shall retire by rotation and are
JEERWEBEREE- eligible for re-election.

ESCHRBEL DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
sEgEAAQTSETMHERQTZITE  None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its
MERAAT NN —FREMNEHECETHE  subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing company within one
RO FLAKRIEZIRIEE 4] © year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company, its subsidiaries, its parent company or the subsidiaries of its parent
company were a party and in which a director of the Company or his
connected entities had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of directors and senior management are set out on pages
34 to 43.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors and alternate director who have served on the board of
the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report is available on the Company’s website at www.crbeer.com.hk under
“Investor Relations — Corporate Governance”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every director shall
be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all liability incurred by
him as such director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought against
the directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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BEEWE Report of the Directors

EECHESERDR

W-_ZE—AF+-_A=+—HB ARQXAESE
FESITBRABRAR A R ERAEEXE (&
REAENEFRE LT —E(FFRBEK
BIYEXVER) MR - HERDEESFTES
ERB(ESHFRBEGMI)EXNVBELREN
DMBAEARRARBRANERI AR (BIF
BIFECEZH R E K51 8 5 AR %5 Bk
BIEBmMBHEZRIAR)  KBRE(ES R
ERIEZERAT KA THBTHBELTH
EZBEREATEFENECMANER A
BRREBEEMRAAS(ETRETAETESRE
TEHFERGHNEETRNANG AR A LB
FreiEss AR MT ¢

(a) REQAFCHRITEBEREEBER
NHhERNERS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong (“SFO”), which have been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests and short positions which the directors and chief executive
of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO, or which are required to be and are recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
the Listing Rules were as follows:

(@) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying
shares of the Company

HEREFEE DL
RBEE Aggregate
EEME HE KR Number of percentage of
Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest’ (%)
bR BA e 500,000 0.02
Chen Lang Long position
HAR A 100,000 0.01
Hong Jie Long position
B icd A 112,124 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
xR e 100,000 0.01
Du Wenmin Long position
A e 500,000 0.02
Yan Biao Long position
FE HE 150,000 0.01
Wang Yan Long position
FHRE A 203,863 0.01
Li Ka Cheung, Eric Long position
R B e 50,616 0.01
Bernard Charmwut Chan Long position
B 5 Notes:
1. RN B REBI S T E A 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and

KARABR_Z—AF+_A=+—RHE%
TRMBENBE DL -

2. EXFRECZREHEETUAEREEA
ZENFEE -

underlying shares of the Company to the total issued shares of the Company
as at 31 December 2015.

2. All'interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his capacity as
beneficial owner.
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e
EERSEEZ @ DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
(b) ARHEBEtECRITZEKRKXIMEE () Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying

BRoOFPEENER shares of associated corporations

ER EFUEEHEEBEIE(ERER As at the same date, certain directors had interests in the issued

(BHLBEBRA)NDERITEBR K ordinary shares and underlying shares covered by options granted

BIEERETZABEETRERDZE under the share option schemes of associated corporations (within the

PREREARED  ZSEERERERNIE meaning of the SFO), such options being unlisted physically settled

TR EYZTWORALTET A - equity derivatives:

i) R—EHEEEAE — EBEHAER (i) Interests in issued ordinary shares and options outstanding under
AR([EHEMW]DBITEBR X the share option schemes of an associated corporation, China
BIFERS M ERESTE M RT Resources Land Limited (“CR Land”):

AR i 2 e
HiZER T g
RGEEE Aggregate fm

EEHE HE KR Number of percentage of

Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest' (%) §

Bk i A 10,000 0.01 2

Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position 2

©

HXR e 640,000 0.01

Du Wenmin Long position

s by

) B S} 1,992,000 0.03 ¥

Yan Biao Long position %

it

BR & Sy 500,000 0.01 g

Chen Ying Long position s

B 5 Notes: %

1. IR ROEBEMRD RAEER D 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
BEEEBEWR T —AF+=-A=+ underlying shares of CR Land to the total issued shares of CR Land as at 31
—HE#EITROBHENED L - December 2015.

>

2. TXBEEC R IR ESUEER 2. Al interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his capacity as ?uit;

BAZENOFEE- beneficial owner. b
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EEoREER @

(b) REBEZECHTERARKEMR
IR 6 P BB HY R R ()

(i)

R—HEREEAR — EFEMRRIER
BERAR(ERBRRNCHITER
B R R R E B IR R B R A 8
RITEBRAE 2 EES

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying
shares of associated corporations (Continued)

(i)

Interests in issued ordinary shares and options outstanding under
the share option schemes of an associated corporation, China
Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”):

HiEERZBF L
BOEE Aggregate
EEHE HE %R Number of percentage of
Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest’ (%)
gl P A 372,000 0.02
Liu Hongji Long position
BA A 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
MXRE HE 54,000 0.01
Du Wenmin Long position
B 5 Notes:

1.

EHRSRNERBRARG KB RH
BEEERRER-_Z-—RF+-A=1
—RAEETRHAHENEIL -

X BE s e EEEAESE
EAZENMFHA -

1.

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
underlying shares of CR Gas to the total issued shares of CR Gas as at 31
December 2015.

All'interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his capacity as
beneficial owner.
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EEESERS @ DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
(b) R tECRITEZERKRIEBE () Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying
RGP ESNER @ shares of associated corporations (Continued)
iy R—EEEEE — EBENER (i) Interests in issued ordinary shares and options outstanding under

BRAR(EBHENNDEITER
BRREEBEDBBRES S H
RITEBRAE 2 EES

the share option schemes of an associated corporation, China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CR Power”):

HiEERZBF L
BOEE Aggregate
EEHE HE %R Number of percentage of
Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest’ (%)
R S=) 5,000 0.01
Hong Jie Long position
Bt R S=) 61,080 0.01
Liu Hongji Long position
BA A 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
MXRE S=) 480,240 0.01
Du Wenmin Long position
A B A 570,080 0.01
Yan Biao Long position
FE S=) 44,000 0.01
Wang Yan Long position
F T - Notes:
1. BT AMPRNERE NRG KAEBERGD 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and

BEEEBEHIN_T-—AF+ A=+
—RZBBETRODAENED L -

2. EXHBERZAARSREESTABRSH 2.
BEAZENMTHA -

underlying shares of CR Power to the total issued shares of CR Power as at 31
December 2015.

All'interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his capacity as
beneficial owner.
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BEIBERS @ DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)
(b) R tECRITEZERKRIEBE () Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying

BROTEENER@E shares of associated corporations (Continued)

vy R—EEEEE — ZEBKEER (iv)  Interests in issued ordinary shares and options outstanding under
EREAT(EBEKE]BBITE R the share option schemes of an associated corporation, China
R MR FE B KRB IR T E A Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”):
RITHEERE

HihEZB O
[EviE 2 ¢E] Aggregate

EEHE "e/ %kE Number of percentage of

Name of director Long position/Short position shares interest' (%)

B E HE 922,000 0.01

o Liu Hongji Long position

8

(O

2 L SE=) 40,000 0.01
E Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position

<

5 & 1R 230,000 0.01
§ Chen Ying Long position

B

B & Notes:

1. 4T B AT RV EEACR R R AE @ R 15 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares and
BHEERER-_ZE—AF+-A=+ underlying shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares of CR Cement as at
—HEBTROBBENBEDL - 31 December 2015.

2. N RBE I RG A ESEEFTUESE 2. Al interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his capacity as
EAZENOFESR - beneficial owner.

H&KMIHIALER To Our Shareholders

o
o
=
53
c
£
53
>
5
o
2
o
o
I}
<3
2
S
o
e
fu
Ly

®

Bf# %R % Financial Statements



E 3R 2015 Annual Report 79
BEEIRE Report of the Directors

- —~ )
HBEEARERNRKRR SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS
RZZE—RAF+_A=+—HBH B LEXH#HE As at 31 December 2015, other than the interests and short positions as
BHEZEAREIN U TATRALTANE disclosed above, the following persons have interests or short positions in the
DRBERMOTPEE EBRB(EAS LRI EE shares and underlying shares of the Company as they fall to be disclosed to
BIYEXVEE —_RE=03pAARNTHESE  the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in
HBEAATEFENTEMAMEZI K the register required to be kept by the Company:
A
BEERRFIERSE
BEREZHNROEE
Number of
shares in which
BE/KE the interested BREFI L
Long position/ party is deemed Percentage of
EERZFEE Name of interested party Short position to have interests shareholding (%) —
3
R EHER A China Resources National [ 1,263,058,025 51.91 %
(rEEanal) (s Corporation (“CRNC”) (Note) Long position
>
o
EHRMNDAERAF China Resources Co., Limited e 1,263,058,025 51.91 %
(F# MR 1) (M) (“CRC”) (Note) Long position 2
3
CRC Bluesky Limited CRC Bluesky Limited TR 1,263,058,025 51.91 3
(Ff 53) (Note) Long position
FEH(EE)BRQA China Resources (Holdings) A 1,263,058,025 51.91 o
(M EEE D (M) Company Limited (“CRH”) Long position §
(Note) =
it
3
= EE (EA)ARAT  CRH(CRE) Limited e 1,257,253,998 51.67 )
(Bt &5) (Note) Long position g
3
EHAEBRAA China Resources Enterprise, 5] 1,257,253,998 51.67 §
(Pt &%) Limited (Note) Long position 3
FEHEE(EE)BRAT  CRH (Beer) Limited A 1,257,253,998 51.67

(B =)

(Note)

Long position

S5 =)

[=
7

2

e EREEMEE ARAR(AIEEBEEAIZE)
BRARDKEGBEBRARDEZEFEAQA
1,257,253,998 % 5,804,027 f% A% 15 o % B &
(B BRARABEBAIXER QA (AIEANE
Bl (BEB)BERARDMNEZEWB AR MEH
BI¥ARARAEMREE(ER)ARAR (BT
MEBAKRERAR)NEZENBAR - EHEE
(ZEADBRARKABERAR YN AENER
B E w2 & E A A o #H & B & CRC Bluesky
Limited®) & z5 2 & [ B 2 & + M CRC Bluesky
Limted B ZE BB N2 EHEE - EHRMHABER
BRANERE2ENB AR - At - T]HE
+ CRC Bluesky Limited * = 8 % 17 & 2 B 48 2 &)
AR B A AR 7 1,263,058,025 % B8 19 R # B
W o

Note: CRH (Beer) Limited (formerly known as CRH (Enterprise) Limited) and Commotra
Company Limited directly held 1,257,253,998 shares and 5,804,027 shares in the
Company respectively. CRH (Beer) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Resources Enterprise, Limited (formerly known as Well Gain Ventures (Hong Kong)
Limited), which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH (CRE) Limited (formerly
known as Well Gain Ventures Limited). CRH (CRE) Limited and Commotra Company
Limited are beneficially wholly-owned subsidiaries of CRH. CRH is a bengficially wholly-
owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRC.
CRC is an ultimately beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. Thus, CRH, CRC
Bluesky Limited, CRC and CRNC are deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
1,263,058,025 shares in the Company.
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ARAIRZE—=F=ZA=-_+—HBHEH—H
REIMERTE T ERETENE
E—=ZF=AZ-F+ B -RELMBANET
ZRGIM T BN T A —TE R
B EAARQRMN—EMIBEE - RS EER
EEEXRBREBEASERENTER 2
HEBEBHASEERBEEERERESD
HINMEE  WHEFARANEHEEEE
A% SR B OB & o

ARARCARERGIMEEZR I XL —HE
B MPREREBERACGEERAACE
ZERXFEA - RERHIMERBE ZFEA
AERAARARATHHENRSRART SR
Bl - XEAEZASERHA AR AKE
B BERODZERBERTBARRAE
e BETRMNDNG%  REZE - AQFH
MAEBREZFELERARTEABE RS
B R E SR B B 0 P EE AR B MR o (A A2
AR ARBEZET B AR R A SR -

BRIEFEGXHRFRIEMRE  RIMER
BItES e natERAAEERR=F -

TEARERD E®15,784,000 X% 7 - & =
TE-RAF+_A=+—H ZEABREZ
HERETRRERERDEBERSOS
#181,000,000 7T °

I R 1R
B 1 ST H  SEM t 8) P BB S+ K 2 A

A 12 45 4 B SR OO A £ 9 LA AT 2 FE 1
B 4 1 -

RESTRICTED INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a restricted incentive award scheme on 21 March
2013 which was subsequently amended with retrospective effect from 21
March 2013. The restricted incentive award scheme does not constitute a
share option scheme pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a
discretionary scheme of the Company. The purpose of the restricted incentive
award scheme is to: recognise and motivate the contribution of the Group’s
employees; provide incentives and help the Group in retaining its existing
employees and recruiting additional employees; and provide them with a
direct economic interest in attaining the long-term business objectives of the
Company.

A trust has been set up under the restricted incentive award scheme and
BOCI Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed as the trustee. Pursuant
to the restricted incentive award scheme, the trustee may purchase shares
from the public market out of cash contributed by the Company from time to
time. The maximum number of shares which the trustee may purchase during
the term of the scheme out of the funds contributed by the Group is 5% of
the total number of issued shares of the Company from time to time.
According to the scheme, the Company can utilise the proceeds generated
from the disposal of the shares purchased and held by the trustee for awards
made under the scheme. Grantees of any award under the scheme do not
have any right to the shares.

Unless otherwise sooner terminated as determined by the Board, the
restricted incentive award scheme will be effective for an initial term of three
years from the date of its adoption.

The trustee has disposed 15,784,000 shares during the year. As at 31
December 2015, the trustee held no shares and cash of approximately
HK$181,000,000 on trust under the scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed above under “Restricted Incentive Award Scheme”, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or subsisted at
the end of the year.
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(BB ARAR(EE]D (NEE
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RARMIERBREBEBER] 7TRE
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Development Limited ([DRDL]) #& 8] 7 &
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T——F+tA—HEWDROLEZTAEAR
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2R A B & H b Yz B (1F A DRDL
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R-_ZE—RHFERNA-_+HhLH B#HHAE
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group conducted certain transactions with connected
persons which constituted “continuing connected transactions” under the
Listing Rules. These transactions are also regarded as “Related Party
Transactions” under applicable accounting principles, which are set out in
note 34 to the financial statements and with respect to which the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Details of those continuing connected transactions
which are subject to the reporting requirements under Rule 14A.71 of the
Listing Rules are summarised as follows:

(GY)

Facilities management agreement and godown
management agreement

On 28 June 2012, China Resources Logistics (Yuen Fat Wharf &
Godown) Limited (“Yuen Fat”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company at the relevant time, renewed facilities management
agreement with CRH, the controlling shareholder of the Company, for
the provision of management services by Yuen Fat on the port
premises and facilities developed on a site owned by CRH in Kowloon.
Under the agreement, Yuen Fat had paid CRH a monthly fee of
HK$0.77 million from 1 July 2012 in consideration for the right to keep,
as the service fee payable by CRH to Yuen Fat for that relevant month,
all cargo handling fees, service charges and other payments collected
by Yuen Fat at its own expenses from independent third parties. The
agreement was for a term of 3 years commencing on 1 July 2012.

On 29 June 2015, Yuen Fat renewed the aforesaid agreement with
CRH for a term of two months commencing on 1 July 2015 pursuant
to which Yuen Fat had paid a monthly fee of HK$0.70 million from 1
July 2015 to 31 August 2015 with all other terms and conditions
remained unchanged.

On 28 June 2012, Yuen Fat renewed godown management agreement
with Dragon Rider Development Limited (‘DRDL”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRH, for the management, by Yuen Fat, of a godown
owned by DRDL in Kowloon. Under the agreement, Yuen Fat had paid
DRDL a monthly fee of HK$2.2 million from 1 July 2012 for a term of
three years in consideration for the right to keep, as the service fee
payable by DRDL to Yuen Fat for that relevant month, all license fees
and other payments collected by Yuen Fat at its own expenses from
independent third parties.

On 29 June 2015, Yuen Fat renewed the aforesaid agreement with
DRDL for a term of two months commencing on 1 July 2015 pursuant
to which Yuen Fat had paid a monthly fee of HK$2.42 million from 1
July 2015 to 31 August 2015 with all other terms and conditions
remained unchanged.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Facilities management agreement and godown
management agreement (Continued)

The above facilities management agreement (and its renewal) and
godown management agreement (and its renewal) were vital to the
operation of Yuen Fat.

As a result of completion of the disposal of all non-beer businesses by
the Company on 1 September 2015, the continuing transactions
between Yuen Fat on one part and CRH or DRDL on the other part no
longer constitute connected transactions of the Company, and are no
longer subject to the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

For the eight months ended 31 August 2015, the aggregate receipt of
service fees payable by CRH and DRDL to Yuen Fat amounted to
HK$139,856,000 while the aggregate payment of monthly fees by
Yuen Fat to CRH and DRDL amounted to HK$24,060,000.

Tenancy agreement

On 21 December 2012, a framework agreement was entered into by
the Company and CRH with a term commencing from 1 January 2013
to 31 December 2015 pursuant to which the Group may lease various
premises from CRH and its subsidiaries or associates. According to
framework agreement, CRH and its subsidiaries or associates may also
lease various premises from the Group. It was agreed, inter alia, that
any tenancy agreements to be entered into by CRH and its subsidiaries
or associates (N0 matter as landlord or tenant) and a member of the
Group (no matter as landlord or tenant) should be on normal
commercial terms. Each transaction should be either conducted at
market price or at such other prices as the parties may agree fairly and
reasonably in the circumstances as if they were independent third
party. In addition, each transaction to be entered into will be
documented in a separate written agreement with a duration not
exceeding twenty years for premises mainly used for retail or its
incidental purposes. For premises not used for retail or its incidental
purposes, the duration of the written agreement should not exceed
three years. As CRH is the intermediate holding company of the
Company, CRH is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the framework
agreement will enable the Group to secure a supply of the premises for
its business as well as enable the Group to better utilise its existing
resources to generate revenue.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Tenancy agreement (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount of the
rent, management fees and other related charges payable by the
Group to CRH and its subsidiaries or associates was HK$78,502,000
and the aggregate amount of the rent, management fees and other
related charges payable by CRH and its subsidiaries or associates to
the Group was HK$1,164,000.

Decoration agreement

On 13 December 2013, the Company announced that the Group
intended to continue to enter into new contracts for the design,
decoration and furnishing of the Group’s offices, retail outlets and
investment properties under the framework terms with Uconia
Company Limited (“Uconia”), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC,
and its subsidiaries (“Uconia Group”) for the three years ending 31
December 2016. According to the framework terms, each provision of
decoration services by the Uconia Group to members of the Group
would be documented in a separate written agreement with duration
not exceeding three years and each contract of decoration services
would be entered into on normal commercial terms and the prices
would be either at market prices or at prices no less favorable to the
Group than those available from independent third parties. The granting
of contracts to Uconia Group for the design, decoration and furnishing
of the retail outlets, supermarkets and offices are in the usual and
ordinary course of business of the Group. The annual cap for the
decoration services by the Uconia Group for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2016 is HK$100,000,000. As CRNC is the
ultimate holding company of the Company, CRNC is a connected
person of the Company and Uconia Group is an associate of CRNC
under the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount charged
by the Uconia Group totaled HK$1,188,000.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Construction agreement

On 21 December 2012, a framework agreement (“Framework
Agreement”) was entered into by the Company and ;82555 R A 7
(China Resources Construction Corp.) (“CR Construction”) with a term
commencing from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2015. It was
agreed, inter alia, that any construction, incidental design and
construction management services to be provided by CR Construction
and its subsidiaries (“CR Construction Group”) or its associates to a
member of Group should be on normal commercial terms. Each
transaction should be either conducted at market price or at such other
prices as the parties may agree fairly and reasonably in the
circumstances as if they were independent third party. As CR
Construction is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of CRNC which in turn
is the ultimate holding company of the Company, CR Construction is
an associate of a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. The transactions contemplated under the framework agreement
will enable the Group to have a sizeable construction service provider.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate charges of
provision of construction, incidental design and construction
management services provided by CR Construction Group and its
associates to the Group totaled HK$215,572,000.

Finance related arrangements pursuant to Framework
Loan Agreements 2013 and Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2013

On 20 December 2013, the Company issued an announcement in
connection with, among others, (i) the intra-group lending arrangement
with members of the group of CRC, CRH and their respective
subsidiary companies (“Framework Loan Agreements 2013”); (i) the
provision of general banking services including deposits services by
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”, a subsidiary of
CRC) and (i) financial services and products by China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust”, a subsidiary of CRC) ((ii) and (iii)
collectively the “Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013”). By virtue of
CRC being the controlling shareholder of CRH, which in turn holds a
controlling interest in the Company, CRC and CRH are connected
persons to the Company as defined under the Listing Rules. In addition,
CRC holds more than 50% of the registered capital of CR Bank and
CR Trust respectively, CR Bank and CR Trust are connected persons
of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

) ER=ZZE—=FEL£ERHZER () Finance related arrangements pursuant to Framework
—E-ZSEBRREEHERz2RE Loan Agreements 2013 and Strategic Cooperation
B = BEE) Agreements 2013 (Continued)
—E-=HFIERERmEERYGAEE = Each of the Framework Loan Agreements 2013 was for a term of three
T-NF-A—HEZZ—X"F+=A years commencing from 1 January 2014 and expiring on 31 December
=t—BIEM=@EFE- 2016.

BEARAAR-_ZT—=F+-_A=-+H As set out in the announcement issued by the Company on 20
il AE AREEBR T —=F1F December 2013, the annual lending cap for the Group on any single
REFBZHARANEANEANFEER day for the term of the Framework Loan Agreements 2013 is
L BR A& 78 #3,000,000,000 7T © & & HK$3,000,000,000. Such maximum daily amount is applicable for each
ReBERANEBEFENE B & day during the relevant year, and such maximum daily amount is
SEBHSEERNEHMTFEERAERFR calculated on an individual basis as outstanding at the end of each day
—HEAAREESE BT gHl—H during the relevant year without aggregating with the daily amount
EXENEBRSEAMNTE - incurred on the days before.
HE-_ZE—AFt+-_B=1+—BILtWEF Information on all the above-mentioned lending made by the Group
ERNBHAEBREEN EREFRIR-F during the year ended or balance as at 31 December 2015 (if any) were
—EF+ZRA=+—BZHEMWAE)N as follows:
AR

BRAH RZZ-1%

EBERAH FHE +=A=t+-H

Borrower’s Interest 3

ERA BHA immediate ERA r& HIR rate per Balance at

Lender Borrower holding company Guarantor Principal amount Duration annum 31/12/2015

ERERXWE (PE) EHRG ERHART - AR 800,000,000 14/08/2014-  5.04% -

BRRA CRC CRNC RMB 14/02/2015
ZERIE(HE)EKE EREEARAR FHEBEREREHEE ZFHRH AR 200,000,000 05/12/2014-  5.05% -
BRRA? China Resources BRAT CRC RMB 30/04/2015
Leasing Co., Ltd.  China Resources
Medical Equipment
Leasing Company
Limited
M5 Notes:

-

AARRPEAMEE R EEBENNBEAF -

RARBR-_ZE—RAFNLA-—HATKRHEERBIFE
EREG M EARARRRARNATR T E
MNILZERDBEBHOHMBRA -

1

2

a subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the Chinese Mainland for beer business.

a subsidiary of the Company at the relevant time incorporated in the Chinese Mainland
for food business, which has been disposed as a result of completion of the disposal
of all non-beer businesses by the Company on 1 September 2015.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(e)

Finance related arrangements pursuant to Framework
Loan Agreements 2013 and Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2013 (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount of
interest received by the Group under the Framework Loan Agreements
2013 totaled HK$9,789,000.

The Framework Loan Agreements 2013 constituted non-exempt
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules and are
subject to annual review by the independent non-executive directors
and the auditors of the Company.

Each of the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013 was each for a
term of two years commencing from 1 January 2014 to 31 December
2015.

CR Bank provides deposit and other commercial banking services on
normal commercial terms which apply to other customers of CR Bank.
Any deposit made with CR Bank under the Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2013 will bear the same interest and be on the same terms
and conditions as would apply to a similar deposit made by any other
customers of CR Bank.

From time to time, the Group may use the commercial banking services
of CR Bank including, but not limited to, letter of credit, letter of
guarantee, granting of loans with collaterals, bill acceptance and
discount services, account receivable factoring services, RMB and
foreign currency settlements, provision of entrustment loans and
security, wealth and cash management services, financial consulting
service and other financial services as agreed by the parties. These
services will be provided on normal commercial terms which apply to
other customers of CR Bank.

CR Trust provides financial services including, but not limited to, cash
management, asset management, custodian trust loan services, equity
cooperation, shares nominee services, account receivable factoring
services, buying and resale services consulting services and other trust
services to the Group. These services will be provided on normal
commercial terms and will be charged at a rate no less favourable as
would apply to similar services provided to any other customers of CR
Trust.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(e)

Finance related arrangements pursuant to Framework
Loan Agreements 2013 and Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2013 (Continued)

As set out in the announcement issued by the Company on 20
December 2013, the maximum daily deposit cap, inclusive of interest
payable rounded to the nearest million, to be placed by the Group with
CR Bank for the term of the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013 is
HK$3,000,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the maximum daily aggregate
amount of outstanding deposits placed by the Group with CR Bank
totaled HK$1,699,325,000, and the aggregate interest income arising
from such deposits was HK$5,663,000.

As set out in the announcement issued by the Company on 20
December 2013, the maximum daily cap of financial services and
products to be provided by each of CR Bank and CR Trust respectively
to the Group (excluding deposit services and financial services provided
by CR Bank and CR Trust where only the fees and commission paid by
the Group are used to calculate the relevant percentage ratios) for the
term of the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013 are both
HK$3,000,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group did not use any
financial services and products provided by CR Bank or CR Trust, nor
incurred any fees and commissions therefor.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(f)

Beverage Packaging Supply Framework Agreement

On 21 March 2013, a packaging supply framework agreement (“Beverage
Packaging Supply Framework Agreement”) was entered into by 14
ZHRH P E)BRA T (formerly known as China Resources C’estbon
Food & Beverage (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.) (“CR Beverage China”), an
indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company at the relevant
time, with China Resources Packaging Materials Co., Ltd ("CR
Packaging”) and Zhuhai China Resources Packaging Materials Co.,
Ltd. (“Zhuhai CR Packaging”), indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
CRH, with a term commencing from 21 March 2013 and expiring on 31
December 2015 pursuant to which CR Packaging and Zhuhai CR
Packaging agreed to supply from time to time the packaging materials
that are required for the production of beverage containers and bottles
to CR Beverage China. The transactions shall be conducted on normal
commercial terms which are no less favourable than those terms
regarding packaging materials of similar specifications and quality
provided or quoted by independent third party suppliers to CR
Beverage China. It was estimated that the maximum amount of
purchases to be made by CR Beverage China under the Beverage
Packaging Supply Framework Agreement will not exceed RMB1,070
million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,334.72 million), RMB1,600
million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,008.31 million) and
RMB2,300 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,869 million)
respectively for the three years ending 31 December 2013, 2014 and
2015, as set out in the announcement issued by the Company dated
21 March 2013. As CR Packaging and Zhuhai CR Packaging are both
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of CRH which in turn is the
intermediate holding company of the Company, CR Packaging and
Zhuhai CR Packaging are both associates of a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

As a result of completion of the disposal of all non-beer businesses by
the Company on 1 September 2015, the continuing transactions
between CR Beverage China on one part and CR Packaging or Zhuhai
CR Packaging on the other part no longer constitute connected
transactions of the Company, and are no longer subject to the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the eight months ended 31 August 2015, the aggregate amount of
purchases made by CR Beverage China under the Beverage Packaging
Supply Framework Agreement was RMBB860,758,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,085,127,000).
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(9)

Beer Supply Framework Agreement

As a result of completion of the disposal of all non-beer businesses by
the Company on 1 September 2015 , certain transactions between the
beer business and the retail business originally carried out by the Group
have become continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules. On 1 September 2015, a beer supply framework agreement (“Beer
Supply Framework Agreement”) was entered into by China Resources
Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB”, together with its subsidiaries, “CRSB
Group”), a direct non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, with
Gain Land Limited (“Gain Land”, together with its subsidiaries, “Gain
Land Group”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH since 1
September 2015, with a term commencing from 1 September 2015 to
31 December 2017, pursuant to which the CRSB Group agreed to
supply its beer products to the Gain Land Group from time to time for
the purposes of retail and distribution of the same by the Gain Land
Group. The transactions shall be conducted on normal commercial
terms and the terms, as a whole, shall be no more favourable than
those terms offered to independent third party retailers and distributors
of the CRSB Group in relation to the supply of beer products of similar
nature and quality. It was estimated that the maximum amount of
purchases to be made by the Gain Land Group under the Beer Supply
Framework Agreement will not exceed HK$85 million, HK$345 million
and HK$415 million respectively for the four months ending 31
December 2015 and the two years ending 31 December 2016 and
2017, as set out in the announcement issued by the Company on 1
September 2015. As Gain Land is an indirect subsidiary of CRH which
is in turn the intermediate holding company of the Company, Gain Land
is an associate of a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

For the four months ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount
of purchases made by the Gain Land Group from the CRSB Group
under the Beer Supply Framework Agreement was HK$55,366,000.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the directors engaged the
auditor of the Company to perform certain work on continuing connected
transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has provided a letter to the directors of the
Company and confirmed that, for the year ended 31 December 2015:

(@ nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved
by the Company’s board of directors;

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that
the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group;

(c) nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;

(d)  with respect to the aggregate amount/daily balance of each of the
relevant continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that such continuing connected
transactions have exceeded the annual cap/maximum daily balance set
and disclosed by the Company.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed
these transactions and confirmed that the continuing connected transactions
have been entered into:

(@  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(o)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms

that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2015 are set
out on pages 170 to 174.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Save as disclosed above under “Restricted Incentive Award Scheme”, neither
the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above under “Restricted Incentive Award Scheme”, at no
time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, the
subsidiaries of its parent company, or its parent company a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of its directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the respective percentage of the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers and the aggregate turnover
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers was less than 30% of the
Group’s total value of purchases and total turnover.
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Auditor
At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 May 2015, Messrs.

PricewaterhouseCoopers was re-appointed as the auditor of the Company.

Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board
CHEN LANG

Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2016
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To the Members of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
(formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited)
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) (formerly known as China
Resources Enterprise, Limited) and its subsidiaries set out on pages 96 to
169, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2015, and the consolidated profit and loss account, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2015, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 March 2016
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#RE1BE R Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

Beo%
Consolidated me/t and Loss Account

HE-_ZT—HhF+-_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2015

—2-HF —TmF
2015 2014
B =E BEHET B EET
Notes HK$ million HK$ million
(E27))
(Re-presented)
BEREZER Continuing operations
EEE Turnover 6 34,821 34,482
FER= DN Cost of sales (24,002) (22,530)
EH Gross profit 10,819 11,952
E A Otherincome 7 1,020 967
HERDHER Selling and distribution expenses (5,669) (6,931)
—BEITHER General and administrative expenses (3,740) (3,515)
B 7 AR Finance costs 8 (284) (188)
5 B 25 B g Profit before taxation 2,146 2,285
S 1| Taxation 13 (491) (803)
£
3 BFERKECEKR Z2AEE Profitfor the year from continuing
< NL
s F operations 9 1,655 1,482
#
§ ERIERE Z¥EK Discontinued operations
& ERIERECEB 2 Loss for the year from
KEEERE discontinued operations 15 (5,513) (1,191)
(3,858) 291
)
3
2 DECR Attributable to:
g RAFRRE Shareholders of the Company
3 SECEZED Continuing operations 831 730
2 ERIEEE ZEB Discontinued operations (4,826) (891)
"
= (3,995) (161)
& FEFE I AR R A = Non-controlling interests 137 452
ks
(3,858) 291
8 BR(ER) BT (Loss)/earnings per share 16
g FELE RB R IEEE 2 From continuing and discontinued
§ Eis operations
2 AR Basic HK$(1.65) HK$(0.07)
<]
Q
8 S Diluted HK$(1.65) HK$(0.07)
51
bl
b RELE XY From continuing operations
=/ Basic HK$0.34 HK$0.30
By Diluted HK$0.34 HK$0.30
g ERIEEE ZER From discontinued operations
g FH AR Basic HK$(1.99) HK$(0.37)
8
g L Diluted HK$(1.99) HK$(0.37)
('
4
%
k]
=
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Consolidated Statement af 50//(//%@/{@/% Income

HE-_ZT—HhF+-_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2015

—E-AF —E—mEF
2015 2014
BEEHET BEEET
HK$ million HKS$ million
TEE(BR), B8R (Loss)/profit for the year (3,858) 291
Hi2mEUz (EH) Other comprehensive income/
(expenses):
BRAESEZEEZZER Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
EINERZERZEZR Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations (2,832) (110)
AIEREARBERAE Fair value adjustment on available for
sale investments (17) 144
ENEFE: Reclassification adjustments:
—RHAHENEREmMEL 2 — release of valuation reserve upon
HEFE disposal of available for sale %
investments (8) (163) %
—ALERE QA — release of exchange differences upon
mEHsERESR disposal of subsidiaries (1,274) 6) g
—ALENBARME L2 — release of valuation reserve upon 5
HER#E disposal of subsidiaries 14 _ i
HAEREANBEAE Income tax relating to fair value adjustment S
BB MEH on available for sale investments - ) 3
(4,117) (136)
FAESEZEERZZER: Items that will not be reclassified to §
profit or loss: 2
MEEHAES Surplus on revaluation of properties - 69 a
HY XS HABBREENMEH Income tax relating to surplus on 5
revaluation of properties - (22) S
%
- 47 %
AEEHMZEERA(RHEER) Other comprehensive expenses d
for the year, net of tax (4,117) (89)
AEEZH(BER), WHHEE Total comprehensive (expenses)/ R
income for the year (7,975) 202 ?ﬂ%
B
S HER Attributable to: o
KABRE Shareholders of the Company (7,104) (253) 3
FEIEHIAR R i Non-controlling interests (871) 455 i
g
(7,975) 202 g
AATARREGRFEE Total comprehensive (expenses)/income
2HE(EA) WEEHE: for the year attributable to shareholders
of the Company arising from:
SIS 2 X Continuing operations (15) 689
ERIEREZER Discontinued operations (7,089) (942)
(7,104) (253)
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LREEEEBR Consolidated Balance Shest

HBLeRELRR
Consoblidated Balunce Sheet

R-ZZE—HF+=-H=+—H At 31 December 2015

—E-HF —E M
2015 2014
Bt 5 BEEET BEEET
Notes HK$ million HK$ million
ERBEE Non-current assets
EEE Fixed assets
—REWE — Investment properties 17 _ 21105
—FHEBAMEERY — Interests in leasehold land held
TR for own use under operating leases 17 3,741 10,653
— Hih¥pE S NERE — Other property, plant and equipment 17 21,790 56,302
S Goodwil 18 9,938 22,854
HEMmpEE Other intangible assets 19 232 510
i iR/l P X Interests in associates 20 - 368
REBLE RS Interests in joint ventures 21 = 1,014
AIExRE Available for sale investments 22 12 33
g' T8+t I8 Prepayments 23 188 1,015
2 REFRIBEE Deferred taxation assets 28 1,975 2,274
£
3
< 37,876 116,128
i
% REEE Current assets
FE Stocks 24 7,744 27,690
B 5 K E e I8 Trade and other receivables 25 1,827 16,555
A] iR B 4 18 Taxation recoverable 108 157
2 B RITAETF Pledged bank deposits 149 187
E e NIRITEF Cash and bank balances 3,345 20,647
(7]
E 13,173 65,236
(o]
°
1K
= RBEE Current liabilities
%— B hHEMENRE Trade and other payables 26 (20,027) (76,260)
i EHIE Short term loans 27A (2,122) (9,025)
FE <t Fi 18 Taxation payable (231) (1,069)
% (22,380) (86,354)
§ REBEERE Net current liabilities (9,207) (21,118)
é
f{ BEERRBARS Total assets less current liabilities 28,669 95,010
i
o
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mAEEEARBR Consolidated Balance Sheet

e

—E-HF —E M
2015 2014
B 7 BEEETT B BHE T
Notes HK$ million HK$ million
kRBERE Non-current liabilities
REIER Long term loans 27B (4,582) (19,872)
RERIEAE Deferred taxation liabilities 28 (309) (2,245)
HEmIErRsaE Other non-current liabilities 29 (718) (3,270)
(5,609) (25,387)
23,060 69,623
BAREHE Capital and reserves .
LN Share capital 30 6,013 15,740 P
B Reserves 5,990 33,007 i
z
AP RERELER Equity attributable to shareholders g
of the Company 12,003 48,747 3
FEFIRRER Non-controlling interests 11,057 20,876 'g@
el
HmER Total equity 23,060 69,623
o
#
§
b=51
At
3
=
o
5
(]
2
B B CHEN LANG 2 S # LAI NI HIUM, FRANK
& Director & Director R
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LZREEEFHER Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

BLrBEhEh

Consoblidated Cash Flow Statement

HE-_ZT—HhF+=-H=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

—E-RF —E-mEF
2015 2014
Bt 5 BEEET BEEET
Notes HK$ million HK$ million
RETBHEHERE Cash flows from operating activities
KEmBSHE Cash generated from operations 31A 7,831 6,389
D EBFER Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (12) (178)
2 B R FT S R Chinese Mainland income tax paid (2,070) (2,024)
REEENGEH Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded = 6
RERBAMTER Chinese Mainland income tax refunded 89 71
RETEH2HERAFE Net cash from operating activities 5,838 4,264
REZBZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
= HEBTEEMSHE Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 363 366
S HEREHREMEHIE  Proceeds from disposal of available
F for sale investments 18 238
<§ HEWB QTS MELZ S Proceeds from disposal of partial
BHEHAELEMSHA interest in subsidiaries/formation of
ﬁ,f joint venture 1,000 3,547
E HERBAG, %% Disposal of subsidiaries/business
CRBHEZRE R (net of cash and cash equivalent
BeEE) disposed of) 31B 1,010 5
BRS¢ A= WNCIT S Dividends received from associates 19 29
2 BERAERERE Dividends received from available
E for sale investments 1 7
3 2 HF B Interest received 383 714
2 B X BUT # B Receipt of government grants 370 515
g R iR RS SN =S Repayment from loan to a fellow subsidiary
+m< LiNEPNEIEE N 253 -
ZE? U el g F — MR A R Repayment from loan to a holding company
& B 1,011 1,640
b ERT—H8ARE Loan to a fellow subsidiary
P ENE]! - (253)
BERBRTEEEME4 Deposits paid for purchase of fixed assets (630) (730)
8 BABTEE Purchase of fixed assets (5,924) (8,002)
g BAEMEBEEE Purchase of other intangible assets - 1)
8 BARERSE Purchase of available for sale investments (128) -
5 WM B AR %% Acquisition of subsidiaries/business 31C 20 (340)
§ CRBUWEERE 23] 4%  (netof cash and cash equivalents
4: ReEHE) acquired)
@{uﬁ T BB A U B Settlement of consideration payable for
i’f W B AR Z BN RE acquisition of subsidiaries in prior year - 672)
BEHEMRITETCE Changes in pledged bank deposits (371) 149
RETEFERAZFEES Net cash used in investing activities (2,605) (2,788)
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HEREFR Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

—E-—FEF — P44
2015 2014
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HKS$ million
REIBHHEERE Cash flows from financing activities
B R s Dividends paid (14,619) (276)
BH B AR FEEH Dividends paid to non-controlling
[l =) shareholders of subsidiaries (2,492) (100)
2 E Interest paid (431) (441)
BITER % A% FT{S FRIEF 58 Net proceeds from issue of
ordinary shares - 18
BT EMESRESHE Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 6,554 12,695
EEFETREMES Repayment of bank and other borrowings (10,619) (13,679)
WEM B AR R Purchase of additional interests
in subsidiaries (6) 9)
HE (BB E) R M Sale/(purchase) of shares under
HRENE B AR restricted incentive award scheme 368 (120)
—HEERARER Loan from a holding company 861 —
— BB AREEWMBATEZ  Loan from a fellow subsidiary 606 —
RMEITBFEAZERS Net cash used in financing activities (19,778) (1,912)
FHRERASEERYD Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents (16,545) (436)
fEXRFEZE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (757) (117)
R—A—RAZ Cash and cash equivalents at
RekReEE 1 January 20,647 21,200
R+=ZA=+—-8%2 Cash and cash equivalents
HePBESEE at 31 December 3,345 20,647
HERREZEEERZDH Analysis of the balances of
cash and cash equivalents
W NIRITHETF Cash and bank balances 3,345 20,647

101

\"k..‘

G|

SI9PIOYaIBYS INO OL 24 XHGHEY XENE dnouy ay] 1noqy

S )

[=]
7

2

2ouBLISAOY) 9]RI0dI0D)

g
S
B
Iff
ul
=
2
3
Q,
B
(%]
@
2
3
3
®
=
3
@




1 02 Z=EHE (J2h%) PR 2 & China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
A RREREE)R Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HARIBEIEW L
Consolidated Statement af 5@/{;’%’ /" fy-a/'ty

(2 —E—FR%F+ = H=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

FEH
REER
Non BER
EARRREERES controlling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
B A
EERH E30EE
HERE FisR &
Employee Shares held
B 4B  share-based ERffE  forrestricted REEF
Share Valuation compensation Exchange incentive Retained &t
capital reserve reserve reserve award scheme profits Total

EMEET E¥EER EMEET E%EER EBMEERT H%EEx BY¥EEx HE%EET BY¥EER
HK$ million  HK$ million HK$ million  HK$ million HK$ million ~ HK$ million ~ HK$ million ~ HK$ million  HK$ million

RZZE-R§—-A-H At 1 January 2015 15,740 1,864 172 4,083 (393) 27,281 48,747 20,876 69,623
BB ERZR Exchange differences on
translating foreign operations - - - (1,825) - - (1,825) (1,007) (2,832)
o AEREAABEAE  Farvalue adustment on available
3 for sale investments - (17) - - - - (17 - 17
S AHEHBAR Release of exchange differences
§ MLz EXZR upon disposal of subsidiaries - - - (1,274) - - (1,274) - (1,274)
3 ALEHBAR Release of valuation reserve
2 malz hERE upon disposal of subsidiaries - 14 o o - - 14 _ 14
ALEAERE Release of valuation reserve
w malzHERE upon disposal of available
b for sale investments - m - - - - (U] ) 8)
% AEEEER Loss for the year - - - - - (3,995) (3,995) 137 (3,858)
AEEZEER Total comprehensive expenses
for the year - (10) - (3,099) - (3,995) (7,104) (871) (7,975)
HESRMBAFHELE  Disposal of partial interest
8 in subsidiaries = = = = = 31 3t 7 108
B Y BB B 2 A3k Acquisition of subsidiaries or
g EEWERRER purchase of additional interest
& in subsidiaries - - - - - _ _ 6 6
g HENBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - (6,539) (6,539)
° HER I 2R E Sale of shares under restricted
® 0k incentive award scheme - - - - 368 - 368 - 368
= BUR R A (s 1) Capital reduction (Note 15) (10,000) - - = = 10,000 - - -
g a5 Transfer - - 172 - - 172 = = -
&® REERBAR Release of valuation reserve
G mE Lz HERE upon disposal of subsidiaries - (1,851) - - - 1,851 - - -
¢S Dividends - - - - - (30,312) (30,312) (2,492) (32,804)
AIRK B Shares issued in lieu of scrip
(k5P 0l dividend 273 - - = = - 273 - 273
©727) (1,861) (172) (3,099) 368 (22,253) (36,744) ©9,819) 46,563)
RZE-1% At 31 December 2015
+ZA=+—-H 6,013 3 - 984 (25) 5,028 12,003 11,057 23,060
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FiH
BRRE R
Non DR
KARRREME B controling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
B il
EERH B Rat 3l
HERE PR A7
Employee Shares held
A BROEE  (EERE  shaebased EHEE forresticted  REAEF
Share Share Valuation ~ compensation Exchange incentive Retained Eh
capital premium reserve reserve reserve award scheme profits Total
BEBET BEEET ABAEn #BYEER BEBEEr A¥AET B%EER B¥BEER A%EEn A¥%AEEn
HK$ milion ~ HK$milion ~ HK§milion ~ HK$milion ~ HKSmilion ~ HK$milion ~ HK$milion ~ HK$ milion ~ HKS milion  HK$ million
RZE-mE-A-A At 1 January 2014 2,403 12,992 1,848 172 4,564 (451) 22,545 44,073 15,538 59,611
BNEB EXER Exchange differences on
translating foreign operations - - - - (102) - - (102) ()] (110)
TERENLBEBEE  Fairvalue adjustment on available
for sale investments - - 141 - - - - 14 2 143 %
AHENBAR Release of exchange differences K
MELZERER upon disposal of subsidiaries - - - - ) - - 6) - ) i
REEAERE Release of valuation reserve
ez HERE upon disposal of available §
for sale investments - - (163) - - - - (163) - (163) =
mESHRS Surplus on revaluation of properties - - 38 - - - - 38 9 47 §
AEERF Profit for the year - - - - - - (161) (161) 452 291 acg
S
AEE2EKE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 16 - (108) - (161) (259) 455 202
BREFTRG Shares issued at premium 14 5 - - - - - 19 - 19
HEBHIBARER  Disposal of partial interest
(3E) in subsidiaries (Note) - - - - (373) - 5,498 5,125 5,000 10,125 ﬁ
WM B AR Acqisition of subsidiaries £
ERNELRES or purchase of additional g
interest in subsidiaries - - - - - - 1 1 @] ] b
HEHBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (19) (19) 3
BEALERIM Purchase or sale of shares under o
R Lol restricted incentive award scheme - - - - - 58 - 58 - 58 *
BEFEBRAEH Transfer upon abolition of par value g
BRERNEERER under the new Hong Kong %
Companies Ordinance 12,997 (12,997) - - - - - - - - 2
ke Dividends - - - - - - (602) (602) (100) (702) )
AR B Shares issued in lieu of scrip
[iE:ord {0 dividend 326 - - - - - - 326 - 326
13,337 (12,992 16 - (481) 58 4,736 4,674 5,338 10,012 ;@
m
B
R-Z-mE At 31 December 2014 o
+=R=+-A8 15,740 - 1,864 172 4,083 (399) 27,281 48,747 20,876 69,623 g
iz : —T—NE AEF - FEREZRHETEEL Note: In 2014, a subsidiary of the Group principally engaged in multi-category retailing %
ZTRABINTEEE BN EMBEITHARAK20% 2 business issued 20% of its total share capital on a fully diluted basis to a subsidiary of §
A& 13 FTesco PLC ([Tescol) 9 F A & » &K E Tesco PLC for a total consideration of cash amounting to HK$4.3 billion and injection %
o

of the retail business and real estate properties business operated by Tesco in PRC.
Details are set out in the 2014 annual report.
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BAR(TEBRARD - ADQ M
B N T B R B A A T ER F 3R
] o

FTEER

RZE—RFE/\EA AEEBEXEHR
ETE B ARARkfAeEK -B=
T—RAFNA—BEXRLEEIHIEERN
¥5%(MaEt+h) AEEEXTEHER
HEOHERDHEBBEER - ARFZE
BEEBRABREER -HEXEZWB A A
ZEBETEHNFEIT0EEF1748 -

EXLAER

HEMAEIFBBEXKE  REBERARAAR
RRZZE—AFETAT-_ABBHNE
AAZBEEREBLAAEMEERR =
T-—HAFTA+TABEELAGENRSA
BMEHE AR A ZREXHETEHIChina
Resources Enterprise, Limited | & 28 4 [ China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited |
BRARABl 2R X EBHAIERHEAZEER
AEERAIEREBGER)ERA
Al RZE—RAFT+AT+BEBER-

MBRERRUEE

BHE-_T—FRF&+-_A=1+—HBIEFE
MPBEREDREEE ARG RAE
o BRTXME - ETESFTBRERIE
BN - B 75 i T0 AR 1B B 1 AKX AN ME DIl AR
2 o

N IREMBREBRRBRMES £
MARAEBERARGAIRENERKE
£ -

E-_Z-—HFNWA B BEXKHEEE
BRERG - FRBERBR_FT—RF—
H-—BE_Z-—RAFN\A=+—HHXE
BEAHMBBRRTPIERER LS
ZEB REFENLIRBBEEHE
St e FBEN M BREMETT -

GENERAL

Ultimate holding company

The Company is a public company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liabilities and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The directors regard the
ultimate holding company to be China Resources National Corporation
(“CBNC”), a company established in the Chinese Mainland. The
address of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the annual report.

Principal activities

For the first eight months of 2015, the Group was principally engaged
in retail, beer, food and beverage businesses. Since 1 September
2015, after completion of the disposal of all non-beer businesses (Note
15), the Group has been principally engaged in the manufacture, sales
and distribution of beer products. The principal activity of the Company
is investment holding. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are
shown on pages 170 to 174.

Change of Company Name

After the disposal of all non-beer businesses, pursuant to a special
resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company on 12 October
2015 and the issue of Certificate of Change of Name by the Registrar
of Companies of Hong Kong on 16 October 2015, the English name of
the Company was changed from “China Resources Enterprise, Limited”
to “China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited” and the
Chinese name of the Company was changed from “Z=F 8|5 G R A &7)”
to “ZE BN (5 AR) B PR A 7”7 with effect from 16 October 2015.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. Save as specified in the principal accounting
policies as set out in note 2, the financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

On 1 September 2015, the disposal of the non-beer businesses was
completed. The results of the non-beer businesses for the period from
1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015 was presented as discontinued
operations in the consolidated financial statements and the last year
comparatives were re-presented accordingly. Please refer to Note 15
for more details.
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—. —RREE®@ 1. GENERAL (Continued)
R() BT RKIEITER - 85Tk %® E@{) Adoption of new and revised standards, amendments

i - and interpretations

ARG AS((EASHMAE])E The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)

MTZEARH-_ZE—FHE— A —HREBK has issued a number of new and revised standards, amendments and

FEAMKAIHRZEERERAT S interpretations on Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“‘HKAS”) and

S ER(SHEND RBEETHHRE Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”) that are effective

B ([BF 75 3R &5 2B |) 2 37 R &S 5] % or available for early adoption for the financial year beginning 1 January

Bl - ik - AFERN KEEHK 2015. In the current year, the Group has adopted the following new

WT THH T REETED - BT EZ and revised standards, amendments and interpretations.

=

AR F195 REMAEE HKAS 19 (2011) Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
(2011) (& &T) 8 T4t (Amendments)

B 75 3R &5 XE | B S R A 2Rl 2 HKFRSs Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle 5B
CH 6 [ 3 (2010-2012) (Amendments) 3

B 75 3 & £ B B RIS R 2 HKFRSs Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle
({&27) F[E B (2011-2013) (Amendments) z

B LB AR - (B K2 E YA The adoption of the new and revised standards, amendments and §

EFREES -|- HERAE= *—|—H,q HES interpretations has had no material effect on the results or financial 'gc‘)

ERHERRL REREALE - B positions of the Group for the current and prior accounting periods. 3

B ER BT HAFHEE - Accordingly, no prior period adjustments are required.
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—. —REEm@ 1.

IR (ii) 1 R £ R B9 & 5 2 B RASRT

GENERAL (Continued)

E(ii) Accounting standards and amendments that are not yet

4 8 B 3 4R B BR R 54 S B B AR 1B 14

R HT R AR IEET BV R RRAE AT -

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards and amendments that have been issued but are not yet

effective.
S ERFE1R(BR]) REFI HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative'
(Amendments)
SR ENE 16T N EE BB ENEH HKAS 16 and HKAS 38  Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
B 3858 (83]) AESHHE (Amendments) Depreciation and Amortisation’
LR FE165E R EX EEMEY HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants'
SRR B 45 (Amendments)
(B3D)
§ @ | E 075 B AN BB RE! HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial
S (E3T) (Amendments) Statements'
E B B3 5 2 Al HERRE LN FE HKFRSs Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle'
- (#37) M3 (2012-2014) " (Amendments)
B 7% 5 B 5 95R SRIA® HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments?
] HHRERAE105E REFHEABEREE HKFRS 10 and Sale and Contribution of Assets between
% R &R £ 085 e ENEENLE HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
(B:T) KEE® (Amendments) Joint Venture®
BISREERE10% BREERL: ERES HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the
B ISR 5 X | IN VAL HKFRS 12 Consolidation Exception’
g F12% kgt and HKAS 28
s EPEEACH) (Amendments)
§ BRREERE11S KWERAARZEERZ HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in
2 (B3] S (Amendments) Joint Operations'
,?3 FHRRELELE14F EEELE HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts'
® ABHRELENFT  KEZFEANRE HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers?
g
® F 5 Notes:
i
1. Ro016F1 A1 v 8MB 2 EEHME 1. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
2. EEI/E;\;A(Z)18$1 Bi1ESiz Bz EEHHE 2. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
&, i;ﬁa AR HAHEIR &, Effective date was postponed indefinitely.
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MR R AEMHFER RER] - A&
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REZXENMBHAARTEEERTE -

X (i) ¥ & B 2 B %A (F£622F)

B s - B A F DI (H620%) ORI R
BREBHIERAMBREENLNR Ak
AHBREZETANRBRRBENE
GECE

The Group has not early applied the new standards and amendments
that have been issued by the HKICPA but are not yet effective. The
Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these
new standards and amendments but is not yet in a position to
determine whether these new standards and amendments would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial position.

E(iii) New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the new
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into operation
during the financial year, as a result, there are changes to presentation
and disclosures of certain information in the consolidated financial
statements.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the financial
statements of the Company and of all its direct and indirect subsidiaries
and also incorporate the Group’s interests in associates and joint
ventures on the basis set out in note 2C and 2D below. The results of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures acquired or disposed of
during the year are included from the effective date of acquisition or up
to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. All material intra-group
transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.

Prior to 1 January 2010, increases in interests in existing subsidiaries
were treated in the same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with
goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being recognised where
appropriate. For decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of
whether the disposals would result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration received and the
carrying amount of the share of net assets disposed of was recognised
in the consolidated profit and loss account.

From 1 January 2010 onward, changes in the Group’s ownership
interests in existing subsidiaries that do not involve a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, with no impact on goodwill or
profit or loss. When control of subsidiary is lost as a result of a
transaction, event or other circumstance, the Group derecognises all
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their carrying amount.
Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised at its fair
value at the date the control is lost, with the gain or loss arising
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the
group has control. The group controls an entity when the group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases. In the Company’s balance sheet, investments
in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates

An associate is an enterprise, not being a subsidiary nor a joint venture,
over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence
through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee. The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in
associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net
assets of the associates, less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in that associate, the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and a liability
is recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.
In the consolidated balance sheet, interests in associates are stated at
the Group’s share of net assets of the associates plus goodwill arising
on acquisitions. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate,
which forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an
associate, represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities.

Joint Ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the group contractually
agreed to share control of the arrangement and have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement. The results and assets and liabilities of joint
venture are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments
in joint ventures are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost
as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the
net assets of the joint ventures, less any identified impairment loss.
When the Group’s share of losses of an joint venture equals or exceeds
its interest in that joint venture, the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and
a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that
joint venture. In the consolidated balance sheet, interests in joint
ventures are stated at the Group’s share of net assets of the joint
ventures plus goodwill arising on acquisitions. Goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an joint venture, which forms part of the carrying amount
of an investment in an joint venture, represents the excess of the cost
of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint
venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary prior to 1 January 2010
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary on or after 1 January
2010 represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the previously held equity interest in the acquiree
over the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting
date and whenever there is an indication that the cash generating unit
to which the goodwill relates may be impaired. Such goodwill is carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. An impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account and
is not reversed in a subsequent period. On subsequent disposal of a
subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Prior to 1 January 2010, a discount on acquisition arising on an
acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the Group’s interest
in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition over the
cost of acquisition. Gain on bargain purchase arising on an acquisition
of a subsidiary on or after 1 January 2010 represents the excess of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed over the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value
of the previously held equity interest in the acquiree. Discount on
acquisition or gain on bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary is recognised immediately in the consolidated profit and loss
account.
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—. FESHHE @ 2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
C SREENEE F Financial assets and liabilities

AEENEREERTUREEREERN
BOmMAE s RIBRAABEFAESRE
MemEE| [EXRRERKIE] R
ERE|-eMAGEIADRIEAR(EER
AABRENERAEIRMEAREER
ABSENEREBENINEREBEE
EmMBE) ] NEREEFBEOT

The Group’s financial assets are classified as “financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss”, “loans and receivables” and “available for
sale investments” dependent on the purpose for which the assets are
acquired. Financial liabilities are classified as “financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss” and “financial liabilities other than financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (other financial liabilities)”.
Details of classifications and measurements are as follows:

(F)BAABEITABZYZH (a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
BE
BARhBEHSAEEZENEHEE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially
X EARBEETEE A B measured at fair value and have two sub-categories: financial
= DEGEEEEERENSREE assets held for trading and those designated at fair value through
?, EREXREREIRALEBEST A profit or loss on initial recognition. At each balance sheet date
E BEaremEEmERER - RER subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value
g ERRZBEEERERGEER through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in
BARBETFTABSHNEREE fair value recognised directly in the profit and loss account in the
ﬁ BIEAREBEFEEER MAAE period in which they arise.
g B2 EETLREZEH M
ZHEmERPER -
(Z) BRI R EWK A (b) Loans and receivables
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Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market which are initially measured at fair value. At each balance
sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate. Objective evidence of
impairment includes significant financial difficulty of the debtors,
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, and
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an
increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.
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—. FEEHHE @ 2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
C Z2RmEERAEE@E F  Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
(A) TERE (c) Available for sale investments
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Available for sale investments are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other
categories.

The Group holds certain investments in equity securities, that do
not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be measured reliably. These available for sale
investments are stated at cost less impairment losses. Apart from
this, available for sale investments are initially recognised at fair
value plus transaction costs. At each balance sheet date the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being

SEXEEEREER BEZEH recognised directly in equity, until the financial asset is disposed %
JERmEEWwLEESRWwREE IR of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative 3
BEALL BEREEEREHERZ gain or loss previously recognised in equity is removed from
2RERBEERTP M WER equity and recognised in the profit and loss account. z
I PR o %

o
HWEEENEBETRRERELR An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account g
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when there is objective evidence that the equity investment is
impaired.

Objective evidence of impairment includes significant financial
difficulty of the issuer or counterparty and observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with the
operations of the investment.

For those investments carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the equity investment and the present value
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
losses will not reverse in subsequent periods. For those

SIep|oyaIeYS INO 01 ¥ X RHLY XE NS

SAENKRE  MBEBEZERERSE investments carried at fair value, any subsequent increase in the ;@
ZARBELA ENzHBEERE fair value of such equity investments is recognised directly in m
RAEEMEEKENZERGHE other comprehensive income and accumulated in valuation o
= reserve. ,§

8
BAAEBHEIAABZHNEM (d) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or é’
i=F- loss 2
} Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially 3

ZARBEFABRENERARE
NERRAABEETEE - RER
BREZ2EEEER RAREE
FAREMNERABERAAEE
AR ARBEEEHEENEHIE

measured at fair value. At each balance sheet date subsequent
to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognised directly in the profit and loss account in the period in
which they arise.
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(X)) B+ mEE (e) Other financial liabilities

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
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Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

REHK AT E o interest method.
(2) BUH #EER () Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in the profit and loss account.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in the profit and loss account.

£ B BEEE G Fixed assets
=)
£ (F) REY%E (a) Investment properties
5 WEYMERFEERGWAE R X Investment properties are interests in land and buildings which
3 BEAREERGRZ T RIEFHER are held for long term rental and/or for capital appreciation. Such
:; ZEMERANALBEIAEBESR properties are carried in the balance sheet at their fair value.
= BR - BREVEAALBEEZFHNH Changes in fair value of investment properties are recognised
fg REDHHERTEERRER - directly in the profit and loss account in the period in which they
§ arise.
() EZIRE (b) Construction in progress

© BEdESITHRRAGRZEEZME - Properties, plant and equipment in the course of construction for
§ = K R Y9 LA B 2N (B R 2 51 production or administrative purposes, are carried at cost less
§ BEB(WA)IE KABERE accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes all
° BESTH FEBRH BREAZ construction expenditure, professional fees, borrowing costs
§ BEKRANRZER ZHtbERH capitalised and other relevant expenses directly attributable to
3 BEEER- such projects.
K
iﬁ ETIRETAIMEERKAE AR No provision for depreciation is made on construction in progress
3 By BETETEEZBRA @ ANEBE until such time when construction work is complete and the

T2 AEZ TR EAITELERE - costs of construction are transferred to the appropriate category

of fixed assets when available for use.
By #HeERRE (c) Other property, plant and equipment
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Fixed assets other than investment properties and construction
in progress are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

G Fixed Assets (Continued)

(c) Other property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation of other fixed assets is provided to write off the cost
of the assets over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight line
method. The residual values and useful lives are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The
estimated useful lives are as follows:

Interests in leasehold land held for own use under operating
leases are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease term

Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over
the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being 20 to 50 years

Leasehold improvements 3 to 10 years or over the
unexpired term of lease,
whichever is shorter

Vessels 5to 15 years
Cold storage facilities 10 years
Plant and machinery 5 to 25 years
Furniture and equipment 3to 10 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 8 years

(d) Leased assets

(i)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Assets acquired pursuant to finance leases that transfer to
the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases and are accounted for as if purchased whereby an
amount equivalent to cost is recorded as fixed assets and
as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is
provided in accordance with the Group’s depreciation
policy. Payments to the lessor are treated as consisting of
capital and interest elements. The interest element is
charged to the profit and loss account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fixed Assets (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Leased assets (Continued)

(i)  Operating lease charges
All leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income or expense arising from operating leases (net
of any benefits received and receivable as an incentive to
enter into an operating lease) is recognised in the profit
and loss account on a straight line basis over the periods
of the respective leases except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the time pattern of the user’s
benefit.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an
investment property.

Impairment of fixed assets

At each balance sheet date, both internal and external sources of
information are considered to assess whether there is any
indication that fixed asset other than investment properties are
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss is
recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount. Such
impairment losses are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the assets is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount. Such reversal of impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to the profit and loss account
in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal or retirement of an item of fixed
asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
profit and loss account.



FESHBE @

Hitt B EE

RERERE  DRABAREKR XK
BHMBEREED K ARNERAE
BERER - RERERR ZAERTE
FRF 82 Al T B B AR A AN R 1R
Bz RAREEBRIIK - BREER
FHzEMEBREEZKASR IR
HAa e AFEHANEREZEN - BHh
BEAHEASHBEFTE - UTREAR
EAERFHRzHEMBETEE 2HH
ERFEH:

GRS 10E 204
BRE 17 2204

ZEBVEEREBEGERETRE
A DEARUEREEREAT KD S
BELER - WAEPKBRFERE R
EEEERERNK BUALEREE
= E A 5 BR o fid B R B DR E &
B EECREEABSEELETZM
S AT [ EE e 1 R B 1R R A e B
RUAEFEERBREERMEEE R
ERAERR -

i 5E Bt 18

REERBMFVELERYERE MR
BEERBREEZHANERZRMASIK
MIEERBFEZBEE RELEEBER
BI4h o dEIE TR IR E EE TY LA AT BE R 2R
JE ER T A B2 AT B R 2 A B = K EH
R -AEETCHEAR SUEEER
FEBEFEMEAEESERNHEG
o

FRAEREMEMEENETEHERN
BH EREMENIREEBE/RES
55 UL m 3 R A% B )

NEEFE
MEFEDESENE  DERAER
A REEME R EEE SRR A B

BETYEEIRE S RN 2
s

E 3R 2015 Annual Report
B #5 3R &5 M5 Notes to the Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other intangible assets

On initial recognition, other intangible assets acquired separately and
from business combinations are recognised at cost and at fair value
respectively. After initial recognition, other intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are
stated at cost and are amortised on the straight line method over their
useful lives with amortisation commences when the asset is available
for use. The estimated useful lives of other intangible assets with finite
useful lives are as follows:

Brand names
Exploitation rights

10 to 20 years
17 to 20 years

These intangible assets are assessed for impairment at each balance
sheet date by comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable
amounts. Where indication of impairment exists, an impairment loss is
charged to the profit and loss account to reduce the assets to its
recoverable amount. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the assets is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount. Such reversal of impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilites and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements, with limited exceptions. Deferred
taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised. Deferred taxation is calculated at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax arising from investment
properties, the presumption that the carrying amount of the investment
properties will be recovered through sales is not rebutted.

Stock of properties

Stock of properties represents properties held for sale which is stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other stocks

Other stocks which comprise raw materials, consumables and packing
materials, work-in-progress, finished goods and merchandise for resale
are stated at the lower of cost (include those costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of finished goods. Purchase rebates are deducted in
determining the cost of purchase) and net realisable value or amortised
into expense based upon periods of usage.

Cost of work-in-progress and finished goods comprise direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of production overheads.

Cost is determined on the weighted average method or in the case of
retail business, cost is calculated on the first-in first-out basis.

Net realisable value is determined as the estimated net selling price less
all further costs of production and the related costs of marketing, selling
and distribution.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivative financial instruments (including put options issued by the
Group over non-controlling interests in subsidiary companies that may
be settled by exchange of a variable amount of cash for a fixed number
of shares of the subsidiary companies) are recognised at fair value at
each balance sheet date and are deemed as held-for-trading financial
assets/liabilities, unless they are designated and qualified as effective
hedging instruments. The Group designates certain derivatives as either
fair value hedges or cash flow hedges.

(a) Fair value hedges
Hedges are classified as fair value hedges when hedges are
made to hedge against exposure to changes in fair value of a
recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment.

For fair value hedges that qualifying for hedge accounting,
changes in the fair values of hedging instruments and hedged
item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the profit
and loss account in the periods in which fair value changes arise.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging (Continued)

(b) Cash flow hedges
Hedges are classified as cash flow hedges when hedges are
made to hedge against exposure to variability in cash flows that
are attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

For cash flow hedges that qualify for hedge accounting, the
effective portion of the gains or losses arising on the changes in
fair value of hedging instruments is initially recognised in equity
and transferred to the profit and loss account when the hedged
item affects the profit and loss account. The ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.

For the hedge of a forecast transaction that subsequently results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial
liability, the associated gains or losses are removed from equity
and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the
asset or liability.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives
that either do not qualify for hedge accounting or are classified as held-
for-trading financial assets/liabilities are taken directly to the profit and
loss account.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match
the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to the profit and
loss account over the expected useful life of the relevant asset.

Recognition of revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and services
provided in the normal course of business and net of discounts.

Sales are recognised upon delivery of goods and provision of services;
and interest income is recognised in the profit and loss account as it
accrues.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the
guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary of
the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument. Where consideration is received or
receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is
amortised to the consolidated profit and loss account over the
guarantee period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are accounted for on the accrual basis and charged to
the profit and loss account in the year incurred, except for costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of that assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Fees paid for the arrangement of syndicated loan facilities and debt
securities are deferred, and are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Foreign exchange

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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- ITEHEE @ 2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign exchange (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in the profit and
loss account in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s
net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in the
consolidated financial statements. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated

BAREFBZIEEE®(AEE) HikY into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at g
BEERIREZF 2 FEHEXRHBE - N the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their 4
PERZ HIE RERIEBRIN - EULLIE income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
AT ANARXSEBZERHBLE - E the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, z
HREB(MA)ERAEHMEE K ZENE in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions 5
BEAREEZENFE %S EHE=5 are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other i
REEEBEINEB 2HBERNELEES B comprehensive income and accumulated in the Group’s exchange g

AR -

RZZBZRF— A — Bz RKEEIH
EBMEEZHERRAEE T HR
BEFLZAABERARBRIMEZEINE
BeBERBE YREERZEXR
HE-AUMELACERAZRAEELHE
R o

reserve. Such exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated
profit and loss account in the period which the foreign operation is
disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the group’s business that
has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, the operations
and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the group and which represents a separate major line of business or
geographic area of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan
to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is
presented in the income statement, which comprises the post-tax profit
or loss of the discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or loss
recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the
discontinued operation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
2E. Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amounts of cash generating units to which goodwiill
has been allocated. The recoverable amounts have been determined
either based on value-in-use calculations or the cash-generating units’
fair value less costs to sell. Details of the key assumptions are disclosed
in Note 18.

Accruals on promotion and marketing expenses

Management makes accruals on promotion and marketing expenses
according to the term and conditions of the agreement with the
distributors and customers. Expenses incurred for activities closely
related to future volume are classified as discounts, while costs related
to general market activities are classified as promotion and marketing
expenses. Application of various accounting principles related to the
classification, measurement and recognition requires the Group to
make judgments and estimates. Specifically, arrangements with non-
standard terms and conditions may require significant judgement to
determine the appropriate accounting treatment. The estimation basis
is reviewed on an on going basis and revised where appropriate.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE

AND POLICIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk,
liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated balance sheet.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, bank balances and derivative financial instruments entered
into.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk to trade and
other receivables as its customer bases are widely spread across
diverse industries and geographical locations. For its retail businesses
and some transactions in its beer and beverage businesses, sales of
products are settled in cash. The Group has policies in place to ensure
that open account customers are financially viable and with an
appropriate credit history. To minimise its credit risk exposure, credit
evaluations are performed for the determination and approval of credit
limits granted and other monitoring procedures are implemented to
ensure that follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, regular reviews on aging and recoverability are performed to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts.

In respect of bank deposits and transactions involving derivative
financial instruments, the Group has procedures and policies in place
to ensure they are made to counterparties with good credit rating.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of adequate committed credit facilities to fund capital,
prospective investment opportunities, debt servicing obligations and
dividend payments. Management also closely monitors the Group’s
rolling forecast and actual cash flows and maturity profiles of financial
liabilities.

Other than short term loans and long term loans, all other financial
liabilities of the Group are non-interest bearing. The following table
details the outstanding contractual maturities at the balance sheet date
of the Group’s borrowings and derivative financial instruments, which
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

EHEES:E:]
BeRBEE
R—Z=F R-ZL#F Total
—FR A 2B H®EBEF  contractual HREE
Within1 Between1 Between2 Over undiscounted Carrying
year and2years to5years Syears cash flow Amount
AEBET A%BsEr B¥BEn B¥BEERT #A¥EBEr BA%BER
HK$milion  HK$milion  HK$ milion  HKS$ million HK$ milion  HK$ million
—E-IF 2015
FEHAREE Variable rate borrowings
BITER Bank loans (2,149) (506) (4,131) 2 (6,788) (6,704)
—E-mF 2014
ENEREE Fixed rate borrowings
RITER Bank loans (315) - - - (315) (310)
FEAREE Variable rate borrowings
BITER Bank loans (9,248) (5,458) (14,577 (159) (29,442) (28,587)
(9,563) (5,458) (14,577) (159) (29,757) (28,897)




I HEREEEERER

(%)

A R @ b

AEENMXRER TERERARE
HEE - BEMFBHMNENEEEEE
DRAEHAABENERRERERE
MERE - SFEMNERR AEEZ
ERFREE FBHEX WEHET

st o

TIFRBEDTIEEEBITETARIE
TETEAMMEAE -HEZBEEND
- BREERREEREZFHERE -

HEFIREFTBE1002E T » M EH i Ay £
AEHERFTE AEEHE_T—5
F+-_A=+—HEFErEMNE SR
D AENEEETE BT (ZE —MHFE R/
LR8O H ETT) °

It 2 #r ThAR R K e R E R R AR 1B W
T-REBRBAT mENXITEES
HE - EEERR/UINMARESE
T REARARAE R AR N B IR RO TEA

B AR

AEFBETHBERAERBANBEZ
X UNEHERERENEER -

AREFBETHERARNINEEFTES
FEAEEEDHIINERR ANEBRHEE
BA9% (ZF —HF :99%) AEBEE
BEAMINEERTE H199% (ZZ —
PULF : 99%) R AN EBEE S H M
BEEREETE -

E 3R 2015 Annual Report
B #5 3R &5 M5 Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk mainly from its long term and
short term borrowings. Borrowings at fixed and floating interest rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest
rate risk respectively. To cover interest rate risk, the Group maintains
the loan portfolio in a preferred fixed/floating interest rate mix and
review regularly.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and non-derivative
instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the
balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31
December 2015 would decrease/increase by HK$67 milion (2014:
decrease/increase by HK$289 million).

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on a
hypothetical situation. In reality, market interest rates would not change
in isolation. In management’s opinion, the analysis is used for reference
purpose and should not be considered a projection of the future profits
or losses.

Currency risk

Some subsidiaries of the Group are operating outside Hong Kong and
have their local currencies as their functional currencies.

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign currency sales and
purchases, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Approximately 99% (2014: 99%) of the Group’s sales are denominated
in the group entity’s respective functional currencies, whilst
approximately 99% (2014: 99%) of costs are denominated in the group
entity’s respective functional currencies.
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AND POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the balance sheet
date to currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate.

—E-—HF —E—OF
2015 2014
EE && BE =R
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

BEEEBERT BYEEEBExT 2A%EExT BEEET
HK$ million  HKS$ million HK$ million HK$ million

AR K Renminbi 9 5 476 1
=T US Dollars 651 - 999 5,810
B HK Dollars — — 1 _

TRHADLBEHLARE T RZES%E K
SENFE-GEBRREXFET BT
RETHNELZRHTEEEAT B
2 AmMREELHEBREDNT - X EH
RESMESFBFANIEAENEEKE
B FEEFABEES URRINEEX
5% EE - ETXRF EHBRVREARH
ShEE B THES% BN S EEM - B
BRAINE L BB A% » 5 M EE
HEEHERNEZE -

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase or
decrease in the Hong Kong dollars against the Renminbi. Under the
linked exchange rate system, the financial impact on exchange
difference between Hong Kong dollar and US dollar will be immaterial
and therefore no sensitivity analysis has been prepared. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at year end for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in profit where the relevant foreign currency strengthens 5%
against Hong Kong dollars. For a 5% weakening of the relevant foreign
currency against Hong Kong dollars, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the profit.

HHBEAN(FHB)
W8
Effect on profit/(loss)
after tax
—E-4fF —E—MmEF
2015 2014
BEEET BEBEET
HK$ million HKS$ million

AR # Renminbi

- 24

It #r T AR 3% K e R E R R AR 1B 0
T-REBRBRAT mHEXTSES
HE - EERER/UINMARESE
TR R HOE N KB IEROTER -

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on a
hypothetical situation. In reality, market exchange rates would not
change in isolation. In management’s opinion, the analysis is used for
reference purpose and should not be considered a projection of the
future profits or losses.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the
borrowings disclosed in note 27, cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued
capital, reserves and retained profits as disclosed in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly.
The Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the
raise of bank borrowings or the redemption of existing debt.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

—E—-EF —E—mF
2015 2014
BEBET B BHE T
HK$ million HK$ million
FERECEBEER Turnover from continuing operations
BREFXETHEE WA : comprises revenue from:
HEESS Sales of goods 34,821 34,482
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N, BEERSEER @) 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
EEE D Operating segments
LEZSEBEERESRERETGHZ Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
NEPREF X — 2 - internal reporting for resource allocation and assessment of
performance.
BESEZER BRLEE 2 XK'
Continuing operations Discontinued operations '
REREM
B/ 4%
Investments
i et 2E RE 8%  andOthers/ Nt HH &t
Beer? Sub-total Retail Food  Beverage  Elimination Sub-total  Elimination Total

BREEnT BY¥EEn BYEEn AMEEn A¥EEx EY¥EEn AMEEn E¥EER AYEER
HK$million  HK$million HK$million ~HK$million HK$million ~ HK$million HK$milion ~ HK$million  HK$ million

%‘ BE-2-1f% For the year ended
15} +ZB=+-HILEE  31December2015
2 £ TURNOVER
'.:.; HINEE External sales 34,687 34,687 79,422 10,102 8,892 - 98,416 - 133,103
3 ERRHE Inter-segment sales’ 134 134 20 987 67 (1,074) - (134) -
<
At Tote 34,821 34,821 79,442 11,089 8959 (1074 98416 (134 133,103
§ AEEE Segment result 2,255 2,255 (3,142) 58 656 = (2,428) (173)
= L
KENENDAEHTEH  Unallocated corporate expenses (26) (124) (150)
MEKA Interest income 201 218 419
B A Finance costs (284) (787) (1,01)
BHEHEMA Loss on re-measurement
[ ELNER of disposal group’ - (2,222) (2,222)
3 HEBRERL 7K 2 Netprofit on disposal
% eyl of discontinued operation = 744 744
&
é BREAERN/ (5B Profit/(loss) before taxation 2,146 (4,599) (2,453)
3 A Taxation (491) (914) (1,405)
(o]
=
" KEERA/ (FiB) Profit/(loss) for the year 1,655 (5,513) (3,858)
<=4
§ R-B-E1f As at 31 December 2015
® tT-A=t-H
A &E ASSETS
PEEE Segment assets 47,845 47,845 47,845
BEEHBEEE Deferred taxation assets 1,975
TRERE Taxation recoverable 108
o RENEHNEELEE  Unalocated corporate assets 1,121
o
f=
£ GREESE Consolidated total assets 51,049
[
>
[=}
o &% LIABILITIES
® ABAE Segment liabilities 27,243 27,243 27,243
g ERHE Taxation payable 231
g EEHBERE Deferred taxation liabilities 309
e REHENRRBPEE  Unalocated corporate
i liabilties 206
K
A GEBEEE Consolidated total liabilities 27.989
EhES OTHER INFORMATION
REFRBEE Addltions to non-current
assets’ 3,103 3,103 2,260 555 394 1 3,210 6,313
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 2,154 2,154 1,930 189 131 2 2,252 4,406
R EEE Impairment loss recognised 178 178 3,083 - - - 3,083 3,261
RENEEHRS Valuation gain on Investment
properties - - 92 16 - - 108 108
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SEBERDBER @) 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
EESD (@ Operating segments (Continued)
RERE XY BRIEEE K
Continuing operations Discontinued operations '

RERHLM
B4
Investments

i gt £ R & andOthers/ gt b3z A

Beer? Sub-total Retail Food Beverage Elimination Sub-total  Elimination Total

AEEBT AEEEn BKEgn A%ASn AKEET  BKAgn A%ASn AERET A%EER
HKSmilion ~ HK$milion ~ HK$milion ~ HK$milion ~ HK$milion ~ HKSmilion ~ HK$milion ~ HK$milion ~ HK$ milion

Hz-Z-MF For the year ended
+ZA=t-HILEE  31December2014
BEH TURNOVER
HNEE External sales 34,376 34,376 109,382 15,295 9,811 - 134,488 - 168,864
2HRIEES Inter-segment sales’ 106 106 118 1,191 80 (1,389) - (106) - =
3
A3t Total 34,482 34,482 109,500 16,486 9,801 (1,389 134488 (108) 168,864 el
=]
PEER Segment result! 2,200 2,200 (1,020) 181 503 - (336) 1,864 §
e— c
3
REHHNDANELTE  Unallocated cororate expenses (23 (189) (211) ®
HEHA Interest income 296 424 ) 74 9
EZ i% KA Finance costs (188) (344) 6 (526) 5
BRBARR/ (F18) Profit/(loss) before taxation 2,285 (444) 1,841
HE Taxation (803) (747) (1550)
- - - ] bl
REERF/(FB) Profit/(loss) for the year 1,482 (1,191) 291 oy
—_ - EE——— 2
R-2-B% As at 31 December 2014 =
i il
T-ZA=1+-8 4
BE ASSETS o
DEEE Segment assets 54,186 54,186 102,966 12,961 3,423 - 119,350 173,536 f:?
EEHBEEE Deferred taxation assets 2074 @
AREHE Taxation recoverable 157 2
REAEHATESEE  Unallocated corporate assets 5,397 %
—
GRAEEAR Consolidated total assets 181,364 3
af LIABILITIES
SHEAERE Segment liabilities 29,587 29,587 56,667 2,141 3,357 - 62,765 92,352
EHBE Taxation payable 1,069 >
‘y& HEER Deferred taxation liabilities 2,245 ﬁ%
KENENLAEHEE  Unallocated corporate )
liabilities 16,075 o
— =
el
GEBEEE Consolidated total liabilities 11,74 §_
EthER OTHER INFORMATION 5
REFTHEE® Additions to non-current 3
assets’ 3,079 3,079 23,372 458 787 3 24,620 27,699 E;
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 2,153 2,158 2,299 223 170 2 2,694 4,847
Pﬁﬁ& 2R EE R Impairment loss recognised 63 63 439 15 45 - 499 562
RENEERES Valuation gain on Investment
properties - - 610 - - - 610 610

‘E
S
B
off
ul
=
2
3
Q,
B
(2]
@
2
3
=
®
3
3
@




128

H#HAFIAYARR To Our Shareholders B ZANEE About The Group

¥R Corporate Governance

2
c
[}
=
2
i
0
8
5}
c
8
=
i
41
b
8
=

Notes to the Financial Statements

HE5E (328%) BFR A 7 China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
B #5 3R &5 M5 Notes to the Financial Statements

A X RAE

SXTBR T BEEN @

/\.

2ES D @

B 5

1. AKEEE-F-BEFNA-BHERE
BES - HRBEEBR-F-HEF—A—
RE-F-HAFNA=+—BMEAIIE
RERILEEZ$ -

2. WESHABREEBEAMIEEHBRR

iz FBTHRFIT0EEFI7T4E 2
TEMBAR - E-_T—RAE+=-_A=+
— B -BREFEEEE (RN ERAF]
([SABMiller Asia ) #) % 8 = 1€ 19 B A R A
RI([EMSERE])NDEBRRER RS
B 0TEEBT ASENFELE X
BEEREFTERBELE - AEER =
TR+ A=t HBHKRAEEA
BRPAZHERRERSHEEBOINBE
o

EBBHEENRERNTISERIKE -

DEEBRBRETFIBUA - B RRA R Bt
EHIBA °

REFRDEECREEATEE HERHE
MEREE

AEENTEXEGHEEBEHHAGEERN
KEMIRIBRBEURF TEENTE -
HEEg T H%25185 & LHIRE °

AEBBREFHTELEHAEERAAEE
WEHEEKARNER T B#22208 B TH
&8 -

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Operating segments (Continued)

Notes:

The Group’s non-beer businesses were disposed on 1 September 2015. The
results of the non-beer businesses from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
were classified as discontinued operations accordingly.

Beer segment has significant non-controlling interests to the Group, details are
set out on the principal subsidiaries on pages 170 to 174. The total non-
controlling interests as at 31 December 2015 was HK$11,057 million which is
from China Resources Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB”) and is attributed to
SABMiller Asia Limited (“SABMiller Asia”). The continuing operations in the
Group is mainly contributed by CRSB. The consolidated balance sheet of the
Group as at 31 December 2015 represented majority of the summarised
financial information of CRSB.

Inter-segment sales were charged at prevailing market rates.

Segment result represents earnings before interest income, finance costs and
taxation.

Additions to non-current assets included fixed assets, goodwill and other
intangible assets.

The Group’s retail segment had made an impairment on goodwill amounting to
HK$2,518 million, following management’s assessment of its performance as a
results of challenging environment of industry and keen competition.

The Group has recognised a loss of HK$2,222 million in relation to the re-
measurement of disposal group to the fair value less cost to sell.
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N EXBRIEER@® 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
i & El 5 Geographical segments
Bl A i H fth B X
58 Chinese Other &ast
Hong Kong Mainland Countries Total
BEEET A¥EET AKBEERT BEKEET
HKS$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BIE-—ZE—HF Turnover from
+=ZA=+-—H continuing operations
ItFEENZELKY  fortheyearended
EBEERE 31 December 2015 34 34,737 50 34,821
R-E—REF As at 31 December 2015 %
+=—A=+—H %
SEmBEE (Mi5E)  Non-current assets (Note) 7 35,882 - 35,889
BIlEt—ZE—MNO4fF Turnover from %
+=-A=+—H continuing operations g
ILEENZERKE  fortheyear ended £
EBEER 31 December 2014 43 34,398 41 34,482
R-ZT—NF As at 31 December 2014
+=ZA=+—H
EREEE (M) Non-current assets (Note) 16,514 97,306 1 113,821
B 5 - Note:

FRPDEETBEAERERBEEHREE -

Non-current assets excluded available for sale investments and deferred taxation
assets.

SIep|oyaIeYS INO 01 ¥ X RHLY XE NS

+. H A 7. OTHER INCOME
—®2-5F —T-mF i
2015 2014 o
BEEERT BEEET 9
HK$ million HKS million g
(&E%1)) -
(Re-presented) 5
Hth ABFETHEE: Other income includes the following: %
BERE2ER Continuing operations
FEMA Interest income 201 296
HE SR E SR F Profit on disposal of available
for sale investments 4 -
B T SR I 4 B Government grants recognised 142 106
AERENREKA Dividend income from available
for sale investments 1 -

SJUBLIBIEIS [BIOUBUIY 52 Xk 6 [
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JAN <Y/ 957N 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E-HF —E—mEF
2015 2014
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HKS$ million
(E3)
(Re-presented)
BERE X% Continuing operations
RITERREMERF & Interests on bank loans and other loans 141 151
BMESTH (BIEERLRE X Financing charges (including exchange
[E518) gain or loss) 166 58
307 209
W ABREBEEKRAFERZ Less: Amount capitalised in cost of
5 B & AN FRIA” qualifying assets* (23) 1)
S
5 284 188
2
* RER - —MREREINRE T 5 E R F = * During the year, the weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed
é BE B R1.42% (2014 : 1.64%) ° generally is 1.42% (2014: 1.64%) per annum.
E
. REEZR 9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
£ —g-EF -T-mF
2 2015 2014
g BEEET BEBEET
E HK$ million HKS$ million
5 (E%1))
" (Re-presented)
% AEERFSHMBRTHRIE: Profit for the year has been arrived
" at after charging:
BERE X% Continuing operations
1% 25BN B & Auditors’ remuneration
o —REE — current year 15 12
g — B FE L — underprovision in prior year 1 —
2 16 12
g BEIAN(BREEZNE) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) 6,480 6,504
38 E Depreciation
& -HEHEE — Owned assets 2,125 2,123
iﬁ H b 4 72 & A 5 Amortisation of other intangible assets
(BREE—RETEREAR) (included in general and administrative
expenses) 29 30
EHRMEERE (BEEE  Imparment loss recognised on (included in cost
0 KA SHERDHEAK of sales, selling and distribution expenses or
é —MRITHERA) general and administrative expenses)
£ —BTEE — Fixed assets 89 49
@ —-FE — Stocks 89 14
% T REFZEERLOER Operating leases charges on land and buildings 152 137
i BEERKA Cost of goods sold 24,002 22,530
%
8
=
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e

+. EE 2B ERS 10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
EEMSE Directors’ Emoluments
—E-5%F —ZT—mE
2015 2014
BEEET BEBSTT
HK$ million HK$ million
e Fees 0.95 1.51
HEAFH & KERL Basic salaries and allowances 7.42 10.97
NE® Provident fund contributions 0.39 0.46
TEAT Bonus' 1.67 6.92
10.43 19.86
ne L E 5
Fees Other Emoluments %
ExFe .
REE  AWEEXK —E-mE g
Basic Provident il =
Salaries and Fund A &t 2014 2
Allowances Contributions Bonus' Total Total S
—E-Ef 2015 AEBET AY%AET AE¥AErT AKEEn A¥EERT A%EER
EENR Name of director HK$ milion  HK$ million HK$ milion  HK$million ~ HK$milion ~ HK$ million
PR & Chen Lang - 0.57 0.13 0.18 0.88 2.80 =
HEAR Hong Jie - 1.58 0.12 - 1.70 4.21 §
[t E Liu Hongji - 1.46 0.06 - 1.52 5.67 i
L5y egicd Lai Ni Hium, Frank - 3.81 0.08 1.49 5.38 5.99 e
A B Yan Biao - - - - - 0.08 e
RE Chen Ying - - - - - 0.08 2
T2 Wang Yan - - - - - 0.03 %
BEAE Houang Tai Ninh 0.19 - - - 0.19 0.19 &
R LiKa Cheung, Eric 0.19 = = - 0.19 0.19 3
ORE Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 0.19 - - - 0.19 0.19
BREE Bernard Charnwut Chan 0.19 - - - 0.19 0.19
Bt SiuKwing Chue, Gordon 0.19 - - - 0.19 0.19 4
=i Huang Daoguo - - - - - 0.05 =
g
& Total 0.95 7.42 0.39 1.67 10.43 - g
“E-mE 2014 1.51 10.97 0.46 6.92 - 19.86 %
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T. ES52@ARER @ 10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)
EEME @) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)
B & Notes:
1. AR EREE 2 QRE %2 @R AL 1. The bonus is determined with reference to the operating results, individual
ITHERBLERETSAAEFEETE - performance and comparable market statistics during both years.
2. REBERK|FESREIAEE SR E 2. During the year, no retirement benefits, payments or benefits in respect of
THRKEREREBR ML FE: thE termination of directors’ services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to
EREMER (2014 &) - R E BlRtE SR the directors; nor are any payable (2014: Nil). No consideration was provided
PR 75 &) 58 = & 1% £ X (8 =X FE Uk BR (2014 : to or receivable by third parties for making available directors’ services (2014
M) - RABMNES  HEHBEA Nil). There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors,
BLEREEMED EERNEMZ S their controlled body corporate and connected entities (2014: Nil).
(2014 : #&) °
S
o
= - A =l d=— 4= [—]
I tT—ENEESHES 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
=
- F Wii URSHEEBEZM(ZFT — The five highest paid employees during the year included none (2014:
m: =) EE FBEHRME+ - H three) directors, details of whose remunerations are set out in note 10.
X BRAM(ZZE—ENF M) = %5EES The details of the remunerations paid to the other five (2014: two)
E FrESNzMESFIBRT : highest paid employees are as follows:
—E-RF —E—mF
2015 2014
4 BEERETT BEEET
=)
S HK$ million HK$ million
©
©
) EXRF & KR Basic salaries and allowances 5.67 4.33
§ NESHZ Provident fund contributions 0.43 0.21
" FEAT Bonus' 46.30 6.29
B
&® 52.40 10.83
i
B & - Note:
§ 1. 20154F N2 - MY TEAT 2 2B 1 & %8 B2 R Il 1 1. Part of the amount of bonus paid in 2015 was in relation to the restricted
g R B R0 FEE2014F 2 R K T incentive award scheme and the performance and services from 2011 to 2014.
2 ERBREM FBEHANRFOENEETZ R Details are set out in Report of the Directors on page 80.
H =
[J
o
§ WRAM(ZZE—WF : W) &= H N The emoluments of this five (2014: two) highest paid individuals were
@ F 508 within the following band:
i
K
< A
No. of person
—E-HF —E—gF
" BT HK$ 2015 2014
§ 4,500,001-5,000,000 4,500,001-5,000,000 - 1
% 6,000,001-6,500,000 6,000,001-6,500,000 — 1
§ 9,500,001-10,000,000 9,500,001-10,000,000 4 —
é 13,500,001-14,000,000 13,500,001-14,000,000 1 —
4o
"
k]
=
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AEERAELZARBELBREESHEY
ERHREARGE - ZFFFEcEER
AEBEENHER YHBILEEZ
EeRB-HEABIRBEEEELAF S
ZEEBMHLGE MBERETEES
BZEMEBERINBAREAREZ
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E 3R 2015 Annual Report
B #5 3R &5 M5 Notes to the Financial Statements

12. STAFF PROVIDENT FUND

A

Hong Kong

The Group operates various defined contribution retirement schemes
which are available to all Hong Kong employees. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The amount of contributions is based
on a specified percentage of the basic salary of employees and any
forfeited contributions in respect of unvested benefits of staff leavers
are used to reduce the Group’s contributions.

—E-RF —E—mF

2015 2014

BEEERT BEEETT

HK$ million HK$ million

AREBYBENTES ZMHR - Group contributions to staff provident

Birs BaE ik fund, charged to consolidated profit

and loss account 34 44

iR B 2R WAL Un-utilised forfeited contributions = -
HE A b B Chinese Mainland

AEFBEREANNEEIBRAME
B3 77 BT A M B R B AR IR AR A A
MK B - ARBAMZTEMNET
BEREANLOET ERBEHNES -
AEEERSAENOE-EERERXN

R TE K o

B LR R AR E MRS 1B
mRPHBAAKANLESEE19108 8
TT(ZZE—N4&F : BHEE2006 88 T) °

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are members of
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the respective
local government in the Chinese Mainland. The Group is required to
contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these schemes is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to the consolidated profit and loss account in
respect of the above-mentioned schemes in the Chinese Mainland
amounted to approximately HK$1,910 million (2014: HK$2,096 million).
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+=%i18 13. TAXATION
—E-HF —E—mF
2015 2014
BYERBET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
(E31)
(Re-presented)
HERE XK Continuing operations
REERIE Current taxation
BB Hong Kong 2 2
A Chinese Mainland 1,144 1,044
1,146 1,046
g EEHIE Deferred taxation
8 o A Chinese Mainland (655) (243)
<§ 491 803
§ EENEMIOBEBEAREE 2 (et ER Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) on the
= i M IZ T & 16.5% (—F — PO : 16.5%) estimated assessable profits for the year.
BHE -
REAMKB AR 2SR BB EREA Chinese Mainland income tax has been provided for based on the
B8R 75 R 0] 1% it 51 FE AR s ) BE 4 o estimated assessable profits in accordance with the relevant tax laws

applicable to the subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland.
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=% 18 (@) 13.

AEBEEBEBEBRTEAER) & 258
BN BERRBEHERERT X8
ZERWME FBRET

TAXATION (Continued)

The taxation on the Group’s (loss)/profit before taxation differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the domestic rates applicable
to the country concerned as follows:

—E-AE — &
2015 2014
BEEERT BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
R (E1B), 5 A (Re1E  (Loss)/profit before taxation (excluding share
EiEBE R REERES of net results of associates and joint
¥EFH) ventures) (2,451) 1,905
NBEBBEREAREAEZ Tax calculated at the domestic rates .
Ti1E applicable in the country concerned (448) 386 E
EARB 2 /A Income not subject to taxation (170) (174) bl
71_ ATk Z Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 890 145
FHREMAREERZMIEA Utilisation of previously unrecognised g
tax losses (83) (129) 2
REBRZHIE Tax loss not recognised 1,353 1,280 g
EFLOBE2HE Under provision on taxation in previous year 68 45 5
i NI VNI R SR TR Income earning companies exempted
(=) from taxation (note) (12) (13)
RKOWBABZzFEBIAE Withholding tax on undistributed profits (193) 10
HMET Taxation charge 1,405 1,550
W Note:

AEBERHETEAN M EENMERE A
BB EMRBHES WX EEEEER 2K

A B A PSR

=

ZET

Mainland income taxes for the year.

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the Chinese Mainland are eligible for
certain tax holidays or concessions and were exempted and reduced from Chinese
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T iR & 14. DIVIDENDS
—E-HF —E—mF
2015 2014
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HKS$ million
ZE-—RAENREFHRKRE No interim dividend was paid in 2015 (2014:
(ZE—NFE: GRLEPE HK$0.11 per ordinary share)
BH0117T) - 265
—E-REMEIREERRKR S 2015 special dividend paid of HK$12.30
FlREBRA®12.307T (2014: nily per ordinary share
(ZE—0F:8) 29,928 -
ZE-RFEMERIRERE No final dividend was proposed in 2015
BB (ZE—HmF 5k (2014: HK$0.16 per ordinary share)
BB H0.167T) = 387
2
H
£ 29,928 652
ERARNTRNR-_ZE—XRE=A+\BET At the meeting held on 18 March 2016, the Board did not recommend
] VgZ Lt ESSETEREERARE the payment of final dividend (2014: HK$0.16 per ordinary share in
% (ZE—DmNF: UBEE2FATREBRS cash form, with an option to receive new and fully paid shares of the
01670 BB AR R FH R E & Company in lieu of cash). The final dividend for the year 2014 is
ERHAREES) . — T —NFEEHNRH reflected in the current year financial statements. The final dividend paid
REERBMARNFEHERE E=F in cash form in 2015 for the year 2014 amounting to HK$115 million.
—hF UREFAREN_-_Z—HEF
REREREEEEET °
ERRENFESEENT RSN+ Details of special dividend are set out in Note 15 to the financial
i statements.

ZILFEBRER To Our Shareholders

¥R Corporate Governance

2
c
[}
=
2
i
0
8
5}
c
8
=
i
41
b
8
=




THERLEEE 25K

R-ZZE—FAFFAMNA  ARA R HEEH
(EEDERAR(EREE]) —HEE
ERARLEEHRZ(ZZE—AF AN
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CBEARFRRELE mMEBEEN
FAEBEASEEHERBEER((HE
FIH]) #BREARBM30,000E & T
HHESZEEER-_ZE—HRFLA—HE
B ([5ERC]) o HEMFBHRT I ®RE
MeE=+—2-

BEEEHE AARABEESIRLIKNM
R RI AR B 4B 58 49785 #20,028 & & JT & %
MRS EE12.3 T ([HF BRI B 1) - 7 B/
BREBEBAITERTITERETK - ARA
DIRBETRIABITES N EETER
BESRREES  ANAREETER
& 75 75 B 10042 7 ([ B AR 2R ) © Bl iR iR
AER_ZE—RHENA-_T—HRAEHS
A A E M BR w0 AR B SO R AR e HEH
IR AR EE A 2 IR © KE A B 10018 7T
EEB SRS LI EEK AR
He=FHRRN MARREXRE AT
BRASESRHBEKHEN  EHEEB
AR REAPTBE=-FERESA
HABEIOBTHREENR  fIXA
EHEBNEHEAHT BRTHE B
BENAEEEEEERNFE-

E 3R 2015 Annual Report
B #5 3R &5 M5 Notes to the Financial Statements

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 4 May 2015, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 15
June 2015) (the “Sale and Purchase Agreements”) with China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), an intermediate
holding company, pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and
CRH agreed to purchase all of the non-beer businesses of the Group
(the “Disposal”’) at a total consideration of HK$30,000 million. The
completion (“Completion”) of such disposal took place on 1 September
2015. Details of disposal are set out in note 31B to the financial
statements.

Under the Sale and Purchase Agreements, the Company was required
to declare and pay a special dividend of HK$12.3 per share in the
aggregate amount of approximately HK$29,928 million (the “Special
Dividend”) as soon as practicable after Completion. As there were
insufficient distributable reserves to support the proposed distribution
of the Special Dividend, the Company has implemented the capital
reduction of HK$10,000 million (“Capital Reduction”). The Capital
Reduction became effective upon the registration of the relevant
documents with the Registrar of companies in Hong Kong on 21
September 2015. The credit arising from the Capital Reduction
amounted to HK$10,000 million has transferred to the distribution
reserves. In addition, for a period of three years from the date of
Completion, upon the request of the Company and for the purpose of
developing the Group’s beer business, CRH will provide shareholder’s
loan(s) for a duration of not more than three years up to a maximum
aggregate amount of HK$10,000 million to the Company at an interest
rate at which CRH is able to borrow Hong Kong dollars in an amount
equal to the relevant loan from a bank or a financial institution for the
relevant period.
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TF. B4R R S TR 15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (ontinued)

NTRFrE AR RIEKEEZERKE = The results of the discontinued operations for the period from 1 January
AF—A—HAE=-_ZEZ—FRFENA= + = 2015 to 31 August 2015 included in the consolidated profit and loss
A& ERSELRAERRT account are set out below:
—E-AE —mF
2015 2014
BEEERT BEEET
HK$million HK$ million
CRIEEE 22 >KH F Loss for the period/year
EEE from discontinued operations
W == Revenue 99,543 136,996
X H Expense (102,662) (137,376)
JEMEH S AR EBK TR Share of net results of associates 4) 14
g’ BliEEBRERERFA Share of net results of joint ventures 2 (78)
g ST EHEHAASEASNERE  Loss on re-measurement of disposal group (2,222) —
S HEBERIEEEER Net profit on disposal of discontinued
- FaA(WE=+—2) operation (Note 31B) 744 —
#
é bR AT AR Loss before taxation (4,599) (444)
E 418 Taxation (914) (747)
M5t 1& kA Loss after taxation (5,513) (1,191)
§
2 NE/FEBHESE Loss for the period/year attributable to:
g piN/NC g Shareholders of the Company (4,826) (891)
H DEIR S Non-controlling interests (687) (300)
(o]
o
.
§ (5,513) (1,191)
&
i
—E-—FEF — U4
2015 2014
BEEET BEEET
g HK$million HK$ million
§ ERIELECEKNWIREARZ The analysis of the cash flows of
2 oW discontinued operations is as follow:
g KEEH RS RAFE Net cash from operating activities 2,136 841
8 AREEEE 2R Net cash used in investing activities (2,558) (2,824)
& ArmEES 2 FH S Net cash used in financing activities (140) (1,276)
i
FHeRE Net cash flows (562) (3,259)
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FED RS 25 15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)
—E-HF —E M
2015 2014
BEEET BEEET
HK$million HK$ million
BRIESEZEK ZHEMIK A Other income of discontinued
BETIEE: operations includes the following:
AERENREKRA Dividends income from available
for sale investments — 7
FEMA Interest income 218 424
KEYMEEHBH Valuation gain on investment properties 108 610
HEWBAR %5 Profit on disposal of subsidiaries/business
Ffr 15 & A 744 12
HEREREFRMSEA Profit on disposal of available
for sale investments 5 147 %
B2 1 SR BUN 8 Bh Government grants recognised 157 230 %
>
ERIEEE ¥ 2B HA  Finance costs of discontinued operations g
RITER M HMERF B Interest on bank loans and other loans 322 288 E
A& (B HEE A s Financing charges (including exchange gain .
KEE) or loss) 465 56 5
787 344
&
DRIEEE BB E Taxation of discontinued operations %
AHEBIE Current taxation S
BB Hong Kong 129 174 3
AR A b Chinese Mainland 704 803 g
833 977 g
EEHRE Deferred taxation
O Hong Kong 2 ©)
o B A ot Chinese Mainland 83 221) 4
;
81 (230) g
3
5
914 747 g
§
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THERIEE ZEKE @

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

—E-RF — T
2015 2014
BEEET ok A==
HK$million HK$ million
ERIERE XK Loss for the year of discontinued
AEEBBEE MR operations has been arrived
T3 &5 : at after charging:
1% SR B & Auditors’ remuneration
—REE — current year 15 o7
— ARTF B D5 — underprovision in prior year = 2
15 29
EIXA(BREESHE) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) 9,495 12,892
e Depreciation
= —-BBAE — Owned assets 2,239 2,672
< E i E E Amortisation of other intangible assets
F (P¥EE— R (included in general and
3 THRERN) administrative expenses) 13 22
BRI (E B B Impairment loss recognised on
o (BREEHERHERAK (included in selling and distribution
§ —MERITHERAA) expenses or general and administrative
L expenses)
—EEEE — Fixed assets 301 475
—BHE(MEE — Goodwill (Note 1) 2,518 —
—-FE — Stocks 264 24
g BN EHEEAGEEN Loss on re-measurement of
s B8 (Mfax2) disposal group (Note 2) 2,222 —
3 T REFCEEROEBR Operating leases charges on land
2 (Ht3E3) and buildings (Note 3) 4,394 5,098
,?3 2 EEHKAR Cost of goods sold 75,260 103,511
.
= WEFFA: And after crediting:
- HeWlAEE Gross rental income 767 904
i o MR Less: Related out-goings (50) (70)
e A FE Net rental income 717 834
g
% B & Notes:
>
§ 1. ERZTEEB T BHeELASUNEE 1. Impairment loss on goodwill relates to the impairment of a cash generating unit
g BEEE TREEEEHEEXROHK under retail segment, following management’s assessment of its performance
s B IR R T T EE R o ATl as a result of challenging environment of industry and keen competition. The
i EleBEDNFEREEAEE - FARER recoverable amounts are determined based on a value-in-use calculation.
i EEANGTERKEEEEHENRES These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
iﬁ TFEHUBEERTFIONMAEE X - approved by management covering a five-year period and a discount rate of 9.9%
FUAFH RERERAZRERE per annum. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
2.5%-6.5% 5| 5T & ° nominal growth rate of 2.5%-6.5%.
2. AEERENGELEAEEERAREE 2. The Group has recognised a loss of HK$2,222 milion in relation to the re-
BEEEKNAERT A28 HTH measurement of disposal group to the fair value less cost to sell. This is a non-
EBEE - ERICEUEAARBE FATE recurring fair value which has been measured using observable inputs, being
EHEABEEGE  WABEREINERE- the actual consideration paid.
3 BRIABVSCAEBIMEEL(ZT—HT 8, Including contingent rent of HK$144 million (2014: HK$189 million). Contingent

FoBBIAET) AETWEZERMA
SHREFBEETADLHEE -

rent for certain properties was determined by a certain percentage of turnover
of the leases.
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE
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e

—E-HF —E—mF
2015 2014
BT ok
HK$ HK$
EXR#@EZ Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings
SR (E8)BF per share
—REKERBRIELE —From continuing and discontinued
ZEW operations (1.65) (0.07)
— BB ZER —From continuing operations 0.34 0.30
—BRIEEE T ET —From discontinued operations (1.99) (0.37)
E
E
—E—FE —ZT—NF 0
2015 2014
BEEERT ok A== g
HKS$ million HK$ million 3
(]
(0]
% L R % 85 & ) T The calculation of the basic and g
RBYEETE : diluted earnings per share is based
on the following data:
BA(EE) Earnings/(loss) o
SERE I EK Y Profit attributable to shareholders §
NN Ry of the Company for continuing operations 831 730 g
ERIERE 2 EBZ Loss attributable to shareholders f
AN B AR R E AL 1R of the Company for discontinued operations (4,826) (891) <:>
5
(]
(3,995) (161) 3
= —E—MmEF
2015 2014
RHHE Number of shares ;@
BUFTEgREXRZF® Weighted average number of ordinary shares ]';“]E
T RS N S 19 £ for the purpose of calculating basic 9
earnings per share 2,427,007,227 2,409,546,529 ‘;
. o o . . )
HEBAR B 2 B BEE  Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: ©
— BB —Share options - 707,108 g
BUstESRESRT® Weighted average number of ordinary shares -
I3 AR N RE 19 & for the purpose of calculating diluted
earnings per share 2,427,007,227 2,410,258,637

BREABNREREERNEHGHE

B F SRR — B e

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both

basic and diluted earnings per share.
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A X RAE

Notes to the Financial Statements

TtEEEE 17. FIXED ASSETS
HEEA Hig4s BERRE
H&%5E4A  Otherproperty, plant and equipment
Rt £
Interests in
leasehold
land held
for own BERET Hity
REME  useunder  Buildings EEE
Investment  operating heldfor  Other fixed Nt At
properties leases own use assets Sub-total Total
BEBBET REAEn A¥BsEx B%EEn BEAET REAER
HK$milion ~ HK$milion ~ HKSmilion ~ HK$milion ~ HK$milion  HK$ million
A EMET & Cost or valuation
n= o E— At 1 January 2014 15,952 9,726 22,124 43,350 65,474 91,152
Llﬁl i MT BR 7/ ES i‘% FEA Relating to acquisition
of subsidiaries/business - 58 87 108 195 253
HEMBLR/EREER Relating to disposal
of subsidiaries/business - 2 (1) 2 (13) (1)
FRHBREIALEBEEA Relating to business injected
by non-controlling interest 4,014 2,503 2,423 6,377 8,800 15,317
RE Additions 13 333 41 7,921 8,332 8,678
oE Disposals (36) (44) (2,616) (2,660) (2,696)
EX B Reclassifications 517 (717) 2,751 (2,930) (179) (379)
EEAE Adjustment on valuation 610 - 69 - 69 679
ERER Exchange difference U] (18) (30) (89) (119) (138)
m:g—@¢+:ﬂ£+—a At 31 December 2014 and
M= - EI 1 January 2015 21,105 11,847 27,780 52,119 79,899 112,851
Yo B Y % N ﬂ/ %i%ﬂ% Relating to acquisition
of subsidiaries/business - — 76 118 194 194
HERBAT,/ EKEESY Relating to disposal
of subsidiaries/business (20,936) (8,989) (16,701) (26,985) (43,686) (73,611)
NE Additions 1 217 221 5,680 5,901 6,119
HE Disposals — (23 (64) (1,701) (1,765) (1,788)
5 A8 Reclassifications - 2,023 1,012 (1,315) (303) 1,720
E EHE Adjustment on valuation 108 - - - - 108
HEB Exchange difference (278) (664) (1,402 (3,133) (4,535) (5,477)
ZT-RAF+ZRA=+—H  At31 December 2015 - 4,411 10,922 24,783 35,705 40,116
ZEHTERRE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
R_E-mFE-A— At 1 January 2014 - 1,234 4,196 16,605 20,801 22,035
HEMBAR/£% ET &) Relating to disposal
of subsidiaries/business — — @) 1) ©) ©)
KEEHE Charge for the year - 27 817 3,707 4,524 4,795
HERD Written back on disposals - (10) (1) (2,109) (2,130) (2,140)
ERARZREEBE Impairment loss recognised - - 13 511 524 524
EL b Reclassifications - (298) {111 30 81) (879
ERZEE Exchange difference - €] (12) (24) (36) (39
R-Z-ME+-F=+—H At 31 December 2014 and
k=T —-hFE—A—H 1 January 2015 - 1,194 4,878 18,719 23,597 24,791
TENBAR/ EBEBEED Relating to disposal
of subsidiaries/business - (1,047) (2,615) (9,707) (12,322) (13,369)
KEEHE Charge for the year - 227 778 3,364 4,137 4,364
HE R Written back on disposals - 5) (31) (1,307) (1,338) (1,343)
BREAZRESE Impairment loss recognised - - 3 387 390 390
ENNE Reclassifications - 389 379 952 1,331 1,720
EXLEE Exchange difference - (88) (337) (1,543) (1,880) (1,968)
RZE-RF+ZA=1+—H At 31 December 2015 - 670 3,050 10,865 13,9156 14,585
REF Net book values
RZZE—RF+=ZA=+—H  At31December 2015 - 3,741 7,872 13,918 21,790 25,531
ZE-MFF+ZR=1+—H At 31 December 2014 21,105 10,663 22,902 33,400 56,302 88,060
BTIARIECEE Representing assets stated:
B At cost - 4411 10,922 24,783 35,705 40,116
B_E-RFEERE At 2015 professional valuation - - - - - -
- 4411 10,922 24,783 35,705 40,116




Tt B EEE @)

a3

ZENEF+ A=+ —BZREME
EHBYEXEGFEMBEZZ2ITERA
RIEHEE - HENABREEBRTGE -
B Bl R 4B W 25 38 FUOA R A T 35 L B E
2EF G R EBEREAMEAZ K E
BEAZERE(EBLZBENHASEE)NT
3.75% £9.0% -°

E 3R 2015 Annual Report
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17. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

A

The investment properties at 31 December 2014 had been valued by
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, an independent professional valuer.
The valuation was determined on an existing use basis. The valuers
had relied on the income capitalisation approach and cross-referenced
to the direct comparison method. The income capitalisation rates (the
unobservable input) in the range of 3.75% to 9.0% were used in the
income capitalisation approach.
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TtEEEE @ 17.

Z HmETEEFrEAFEERIR #x# B

FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

Other fixed assets mainly comprise construction in progress, plant and

HE - -THEWHERE MM ARG machinery, leasehold improvements, vessels, cold storage facilities,
R RGN JRE © furniture and equipment and motor vehicles.
HEIR KERE HENEEE
Construction Plantand Leasehold Hitr Sar
in progress machinery  improvements Others Total
BEBET BEEET REBET BEBET BEAET
HKS million HKS$ million HK$ million HKS$ milion HK$ million
A S & B Cost or valuation
WZT-mF—HF—H At 1 January 2014 3,267 26,875 8,299 4,909 43,350
WEEHBEAR,/ $ERHEA Relating to acquisition
of subsidiaries/business — 105 — 3 108
HEMBRAR/ EBEET Relating to disposal
of subsidiaries/business - 0 — M )
FRHBRIAEBHEEA Relating to business injected
g' by non-controlling interest 3,503 1,226 1,193 455 6,377
15} RE Additions 4724 743 1,906 548 7,921
o & Disposals (138) (819 (948) (711) (2,616)
S EXi5N ] Reclassifications (4,485) 534 440 581 (2,930)
§ ERZR Exchange difference 13 (88) 6) 8 (89)
—ME+=-A=+—H  At31 December 2014 and
ﬁ - 3 IF—A—R 1 January 2015 6,884 28,575 10,884 5,776 52,119
* i B% WERR/ EHHEEA Relating to acquisition of
i subsidiaries/business — 111 — 7 118
HENBAG/ EHEHED Relating to disposal of
subsidiaries/business (4,486) (7,040) (10,398) (5,061) (26,985)
NE Additions 4,027 434 458 761 5,680
HE Disposals (25) (754) (379) (543) (1,701)
e ENNE Reclassifications (4,649) 2,531 59 744 (1,315)
= ERZR Exchange difference (308) (1,775) (618) (432) (3,139)
<
[
g RZZE—RF+ZA=+—H  At31December2015 1,443 22,082 6 1,252 24,783
3
© KAWMERAE Accumulated depreciation and
= impairment
‘E"f( RZE-ME—HA—A At 1 January 2014 — 10,813 3,360 2,432 16,6056
= HEMBLR/EKBEED Relating to disposal
£ of subsidiaries/business — - — 1) (1)
B FEHE Charge for the year - 1,979 1,105 623 3,707
HEHD Written back on disposals - (536) (908) (665) (2,109)
ERAZAERRE Impairment loss recognised 0 58 263 100 511
BHNE Reclassifications - (261) 109 182 30
ELERE Exchange difference 1 (29) - 4 (24)
[9]
o
s —ME+=-A=+—H  At31 December 2014 and
§ k=E-nF—-A—H 1 January 2015 91 12,024 3,929 2,675 18,719
3 HENBAR/ EHEED Relating to disposal
2 of subsidiaries/business (141) (2,909) (4,124) (2,533) (9,707)
5 KEBHE Charge for the year - 1,838 813 713 3,364
5 HE#E Written back on disposals - (538) (374) (395) (1,307)
© BEAZRESSE Impairment loss recognised 0 135 123 39 387
i‘%ﬂ“\[ﬂ ENNE Reclassifications - 359 © 595 952
w EREE Exchange difference (38) (863) (359) (283) (1,543)
S
—h&E+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2015 2 10,046 6 811 10,865
RHEZAE Net book values
RZZ—RF+TZA=+—H  At31December 2015 1,441 12,036 - 441 13,918
|2}
c
% R-Z-N&+=-fA=+-H At 31 December 2014 6,793 16,551 6,955 3,101 33,400
o]
z BTRARIEZEE: Representing assets stated:
E BRA At cost 1,443 22,082 6 1,252 24,783
g BT -hFEEEE At 2015 professional valuation - - — _ _
w
% 1,443 22,082 6 1,252 24,783
B
=
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TN\.EHE 18. GOODWILL
BEEET
HK$ million
JPEN ] Cost
R-ZZE—mME—HA—AH At 1 January 2014 19,445
N =R Exchange difference (22)
WEE B AR, %% Acquisition of subsidiaries/business 518
FEPR IR B E A E KR E A Relating to business injected
by non-controlling Interest 2,930
R-ZE—mME+=-_A=+—H At 31 December 2014
kZ_Z—-—HF—H—H and 1 January 2015 22,871
fEHZE5 Exchange difference (908)
HEWB AR ¥ Disposal of subsidiaries/business (12,025) =
3
4
W-Z—REF+-A=+—8H At 31 December 2015 9,938 =
g
RETRERE Accumulated impairment losses Z
R-—Z—mE—/F—A0" At 1 January 2014, o
o
—E-FE+-_A=1+—H 31 December 2014 =
r—_ZFE—RF—H—H and 1 January 2015 17
ERER R ERE T+ 7) Impairment loss recognised (Note 15) 2,518
EFEHEHAEEANEIE Loss on re-measurement of disposal group
(Bt 3+ ) (Note 15) 2,222 o
HEMHBRAR ¥ Disposal of subsidiaries/business (4,757) 2
=
b
W-—Z—AF+-A=+—8 At 31 December 2015 - g
P
g
BREE Carrying values g
R-E—FHFE+_A=+—8H At 31 December 2015 9,938 &
RZE—mOF+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2014 22,854
B>
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+\. B E ) 18. GOODWILL (continued)
MEREEI RZEREE XS The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to the cash generating
(fCGUl) » T A& B Bt 1T H H 2 W units (“CGU”), each of which represent an operating entity within the
MaEETALEDHEMBZEETE - A operating segments identified by the Group for the purpose of segment
TARELIRZBEHME reporting. A segment level summary of the goodwill allocation is

presented below:

—E-RF —E—mF
2015 2014
BEEERT BEEETT
HK$ million HK$ million
L] Beer 9,938 10,444
T Retail - 11,718
B Food - 663
g: R Beverage - 29
%
% CGUZ AT Bl & 28 Jh iz (E BB & The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on a
2 BE ZEdEHIRAREEEER value in use calculation. These calculations use cash flow projections
B AFHMBEEMEL 2EFES based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
é RE BUHALEHESRERALSE year period and a discount rate of 10.5% (2014: 9.2%) per annum.
= WEXRSHAE MAARSREHIR Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
FRMEXRAOZTHA(CE—HWF:H nominal growth rates stated below.
DZILEEZ) MNAYTEE -
FEHEBETEEAZTERR: Key assumptions used for the value in use calculations:
BHESREDS G2
EHEBRE

Nominal growth rate beyond
the initial cash flow projections

ZILFEBRER To Our Shareholders

(%)
—E-—EF —ET g%
2015 2014
Ui Beer 2.5%-5% 8%
=& Retall N/A 8%
B Food N/A 8%
/) Beverage N/A 8%
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thHEMmELEE 19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
g PRUE
Brand Exploitation &5t
names rights Total

BEEETLT BEAEERLT ABEET
HK$ milion  HK$ million  HKS$ million

X A Cost
RZ-ZZT—MWOF—HF—H At 1 January 2014 828 84 912
wNE Additions 1 — 1
WENB AR %% Acquisition of subsidiaries/
business 1 — 1
EN EE Exchange difference @) - (4)

R-ZE—NE+_A=+—HK At 31 December 2014 and

—E—HRF—HA—H 1 January 2015 826 84 910 %
HEWB QR %EB Disposal of subsidiaries/ 5
business (212) (80) (292) >
EREHE Exchange difference 47) @) (51) g
3
RZZE—AF+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2015 567 — 567 g
2 #EERE Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
R-—Z—mME—HF—8 At 1 January 2014 336 14 350
RNEF Charge for the year 47 5 50
TEN Z R Exchange difference @) - @)

R-ZE—NMFE+-_A=+—HRK At 31 December 2014 and

SI9PIOYaIBYS INO OL 24 XHGHEY XENE

—E—hHF—HF—H 1 January 2015 381 19 400
PGSR Fis Charge for the year 39 3 42
HEMRBAR ¥ Disposal of subsidiaries/
business (59) (21) (80)
EHER Exchange difference (26) 1) (27)
i
RZF-—AFFTZA=+—H At 31 December 2015 335 - 335 =
g
BREFE Net book values §
NR-_E—FRF+_A=+—H At 31 December 2015 232 - 232 Fg";
3
o
RZZE—WOF+=-_A=+—H At 31 December 2014 445 65 510 3
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b13% % & W%

Notes to the Financial Statements

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

—ZE-AF —E—mF
2015 2014
BEBETT B BHE T
HKS$ million HK$ million

L Unlisted
EhEEFE Share of net assets = 216
SRS Goodwill = 152
- 368

UTHERASER SRR ZHMOMHE

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

BEL associates is set out below:
—E-AfF —E—mF
2015 2014
BEEETT BEEETT
HKS$ million HK$ million
BERE Total assets = 1,928
BE#AE Total liabilities - (1,332)
BEZFE Net assets - 596
ANEBFFEEHLEATEEFME Group's share of net assets of associates = 216
W &= Revenue 1,110 2,351
RNEE (B8), % 7 (Loss)/profit for the year (a1) 50
ERIEEE 2 EBFHAE Group’s share of (loss)/profit of associates
JEIREEE DT AR FE for the period/year from discontinued
(E518),/ &7 operations @ 14
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TH-REEBELEESR 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E-HF —E M
2015 2014
BEEET BEEETT
HK$ million HK$ million
JE LT Unlisted
JE5 B EFE Share of net assets = 1,014
UTRFESAREBAENE ZBMOME The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s joint
BR venture is set out below:
—E-AF —T—-mEF
2015 2014
BEEETT BB EET .
HK$ million HK$ million E
BERE Total assets - 2,659 %’
AfERE Total liabilities = (631) >
o
o
BEEFE Net assets - 2,028 %
S
REBEEAEEMCEEEFEE Group’s share of net assets of joint venture = 1,014
& Revenue 35 177 o
§
NEZmF(EE) Profit/(loss) for the year 4 (156) At
BARERE 7 ERE Group’s share of profit/(loss) of joint venture f:::’
AREBEREEEEDE for the period/year from discontinued %
ANHAEEER,(BE) operations 2 (78) g
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oA ERE 22. AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS
—E-HF —E M
2015 2014
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
R A EH D A {EE  Listed equity shares in Chinese Mainland,
at fair value 12 25
BEAFELTRG Unlisted equity shares in Hong Kong - 7
PE N IE E TG Unlisted equity shares in Chinese Mainland - 1
- 8
Qo
3 12 33
%
£
3 DWW Analysed as:
R E Non-current 12 33
#
%
% TR EEEN AL BEELXRB MG R The fair values of investment in listed equity shares are determined with
B E ° reference to quoted market bid prices.
== =k
g S RN RIE 23. PREPAYMENTS
3
§ —E-RF —ZT—NF
(‘_:; 2015 2014
K BEEET BEEET
1 HK$ million HKS$ million
2
- B Prepaid rent - 285
it BERTETEEZ @A Deposit payment for purchase of fixed assets 188 730
188 1,015

¥R Corporate Governance
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-in 55 24. STOCKS
—E-HF —E M
2015 2014
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
HFEYE Properties held for sale - 1,294
A Raw materials 763 1,886
5% o M B EE R Consumables and packing materials 5,942 7,504
TR Work-in-progress 371 602
SRk Finished goods 668 1,569
HEENE SR Merchandise for resale - 14,835
7,744 27,690
E
3
SthE 5 K H bR W RE 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
g
—E-EF —E-mE 5
2015 2014 i
BEEET ok A== g
HKS million HKS million 3
JEUE 5 AR 3K Trade receivables 715 2,351
ZEREE Provision for doubtful debts (47) (115) "
#
668 2,236 2
a] Uy [ 1 (E Fi Value-added tax recoverable 310 5,677 f
8 f+t 18 Prepayments 320 3,249 <:3
[RENE & Deposits paid 13 877 2
H b fE Y 3B Other receivables 430 3,162 S
JEU— IR A B 5/ IE Amount due from a holding company - 1,038 g
FEU T REIE@HE AT KE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 86 261 g
JiE W Bt & 8 R 3ROR Amounts due from associates - 23
JEWA B ERE Amounts due from joint ventures - 32
B>
e
1,827 16,555 o
g
3
)
|
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Notes to the Financial Statements

tRE S K E M EWRIE @) 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
REB—RETFTEPUTZEER: The Group normally trades with its customers under the following credit
terms:
() &35 (@) cash upon delivery; and
() =Z+=Ah ‘l’ RERIR (o) open credit from 30 to 90 days
R —MF - Bl — R Amount due from a holding company in 2014 included an amount of
@ﬁ.ﬁ,/\lﬁ B 014BETT ° 1L|: IE 7% ﬂE HK$1,014 million which was unsecured, bore interest at 5.04% per
i ﬁ };z FFEB.04%5T B ZEERE annum and fully repaid in 2015.
RZT-—AFABEESS -
R-ZZE—NF - EWRTAaEEKE Amount due from fellow subsidiaries in 2014 included an amount of
B NIEBENIE SIS H & T o JH; /Tf\ HK$254 million which was unsecured, bore interest at 5.05% per
I8 AEEE IR ENER505%F 2 - annum and fully repaid in 2015.
EFRERZZE—AFABHES -
NEEEINERE SER 2R D The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables at the balance
S - sheet date:
—E-HF —E
2015 2014
BEEETT BERET
HK$ million HK$ million
KEHE The Group
0-30k 0-30 days 135 841
31-60K 31-60 days 98 400
61-90K 61-90 days 81 220
> 90K > 90 days 354 775
668 2,236

AEERZEER E’JE%&E@E@E\H&Z%&I@

AnEEEER@ERS

The fair value of the Group’s trade and other receivables at balance
sheet date was approximate to the corresponding carrying amount.
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movement in the provision for doubtful debts

—E-RF —ZT -

2015 2014

BEEET BEEET

HK$ million HKS$ million

R—A—H At 1 January 115 63
BRI EEE Impairment losses recognised 49 48

BOEKETHE s &8 Amounts written off as uncollectible (30) (10)
U BE BT /B 2 A Acquisition of subsidiaries = 13
& BT 8 A &) Disposal of subsidiaries (78) —
EHZER Exchange difference 9) 1
R+—_A=+—8H At 31 December 47 115

B HI{E KX R E RS ER iR Aging of past due but not impaired

—E-RF —E M

2015 2014

BEEET BEBEET

HK$ million HKS$ million

BmEI~E30H Less than 30 days past due 24 154
# H131-60 H 31-60 days past due 8 229
¥ H61-00 B 61-90 days past due 10 54
#EIQO B LA £ Over 90 days past due 11 182
53 619

HMABE - MEREBEHOEKRIE F & Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide

TRBHWEP L FEERE

# -

range of customers for whom there was no recent history of default.
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Zth BEZ R E M BN RIE 26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
ZE-AF —E-mEF
2015 2014
BEEET BEEETT
HK$ million HK$ million
JETE SRR Trade payables 1,792 26,893
SR GG Receipt in advance 744 17,679
TEIREH Accruals 8,966 12,893
Bl e Deposit received 5,018 7,758
A FE T 5k Other payables 2,735 11,018
FEAS —RIE IR A A FUE Amount due to a holding company 174 —
ERTATEENEARZIE  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 598 16
FEAS B 2 N A FIE Amounts due to associates = 3
Qo
g 20,027 76,260
£
<§ BN RAASEENE AR REBERERE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries include an amount of HK$597
BESTE BT - Ih IR R BT - RE million which is unsecured, bear interest at 3.92% per annum and
ﬁ A E302%TENMEREFRE BRI repayable within four months from the reporting date.
b & A R1EE -
B
REEBNENE SRR ZER DT The following is an aging analysis of trade payables at the balance
T sheet date:
s
s —E-FF —T—NF
3 2015 2014
2 BEEET ok A==
2 HK$ million HK$ million
= 0-30K 0-30 days 1,639 16,557
= 31-60% 31-60 days 50 4,207
B 61-90 & 61-90 days 31 1,671
> 90K > 90 days 72 4,438
1,792 26,893
NREEBREEEINE SR E th FE 1~ 3% The fair value of the Group’s trade and other payables at balance sheet
AArBEEHEEEDERS date was approximate to the corresponding carrying amount.
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THERHIER 27A.SHORT TERM LOANS

—E-RF —E-MEF
2015 2014
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
REIEFEHIHGH Current portion of long term loans
—EEHRITER — unsecured bank loans 1,800 7,472
— REIFE T AR IR — long term obligations under finance lease - 2
REHRTEEMERKR Short term bank and other loans
(B¢ and trust receipts
— A — secured — 34
— mEH — unsecured 322 1,517
2,122 9,025
=
1
4
L REIER 27B.LONG TERM LOANS >
o
[}
—E-HEF -"T-mF -
2015 2014 g
BEEET BEEET 3
HK$ million HK$ million
EEBIRITER Unsecured bank loans 6,382 27,344
BB A4 AR Obligations under finance leases - 2 5
g
b=51
6,382 27,346 -
R REAEZ R G Current portion included in current liabilities (1,800) (7,474) g
P
g
4,582 19,872 %
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TR EE F @ 27B.LONG TERM LOANS (Continued)
—E-HF —E—mF
2015 2014
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
REIAEZ I H The non-current portion of long term
FER A T FEIE R liabilities are repayable as follows:
RITEXN Bank Loans
—FUEFEMFR After 1 year, but within 2 years - 6,895
MEANEERFA After 2 years, but within 5 years 4,580 12,975
HF% After 5 years 2 2
2 4,582 19,872
g AREBAEEANOCEAGEERELRE A The aggregate amount of committed bank borrowing facilities available
3 B38BT (= F — W : B #2711 to the Group is HK$6.38 billion (2014: HK$27.11 bilion). As at 31
Br) R-_ZE—RHE+_A=+—H" December 2015, a sum of HK$6.38 billion (2014: HK$26.61 billion) has
] EERARBABEEISEITL(ZE — M been drawn down.
= F 266118 TT) °
REBEUAERARBBELM ZER The Group has floating rate borrowings denominated in Hong Kong
B3 B X5 R EHBORKE FE A REIT Dollars and Renminbi with interest rates linked to HIBOR and the
FE 2 BRI B 44 o lending rate stipulated by the People’s Bank of China respectively.
REBZEBRZERFRNEEERH The effective annual interest rates on the Group’s floating rate
1.02%£3.92% (ZZF— M F : §FF0.90% borrowings range from mainly 1.02% to 3.92% (2014: from 0.90% to
£8.52%) 15 ° 8.52%) per annum.
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“HNERERLT 28. DEFERRED TAXATION

FREEREEERGEZESHOT : The movement in deferred taxation assets and liabilities recognised
during the year is as follows:

RE BEREM
BB Impairment, provision and &%
Tax losses others Total
“Z-Rf TN ZE-HF —T-NF —T-HF —T-NF
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

BEBErT BEEEnT BA%EEx B¥EET A%EER AEBEER
HK$ million  HK$milion HK$million  HK$milion HK$million  HKS$ million

EERIA ﬁ BE Deferred taxation assets
R—A— At 1 January 265 79 2,009 1,461 2,274 1,540
EEAER (Charged)/credited to
(30K) / aEfIJE consolidated profit and %
loss account @) 121 393 453 389 574 %
BHEMEmE RS Charged to other comprehensive
ne income - - - (1) - () g
IR R Relating to business injected 5
E3 1IN by non-controling interest - 65 - 9 - 164 g
HEMB AT, %% Disposal of subsidiaries/business g
(fE=+-2) (Note 31B) (236) - (323) - (559) -
ERHE Exchange rate adjustment (11) - (118) €] (129) €]
]
W+ZA=+—H  At31December 14 265 1,961 2,009 1,975 2,274 i
.
=
BRIEHIBBEENEBANBREEIN RS T Deferred taxation assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward f
ARAKRERFEFNEIE A LR A to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through the future cé
BEEEEMER R_TE—AF+= taxable profits is probable. At 31 December 2015, the Group has P,
A=+—RH AEEBRBERZMNIBES unrecognised tax losses of HK$4,016 million (2014: HK$15,302 million) S
EAREBI06EBEL(ZT—F: B which is uncertain as to whether it can be utilised to set off against %
15,3028 B Jr) + M A % B K ge € 7] future taxable income. Out of this amount, the unrecognised tax loss of e
) B 3% 55 3008 BA K SR A FE AR B U A H HK$4,016 million (2014: HK$14,342 million) will expire within 5 years.

fiz I &t@%ﬁi{@%ﬁﬂﬁwﬁﬁﬁZﬂiﬁﬁw
ZHIEEIEEBELI06EBET(ZZ
PO : B#E14342FHE T) °
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N &

3 S B TH ()

U ABERSEERBERSER
FE 4T B A BB 0 TR 4 P 2

28.

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The components of deferred taxation liabilities recognised in the
consolidated balance sheet and the movements during the year are as

follows:
Ko E
FEZEN
REME hn B B 18 BB
Bt #E  Withholding
Revaluation  Accelerated taxon
of investment tax undistributed &t
properties  depreciation profits Total
BEEELT #A¥esan AKBEERT ABEESER
HKS$ million HKS million HKS million HKS million
g R-Z-—WF—A—H  At1January2014 265 815 751 1,831
g BB ERER Charged/(credited) to consolidated
S o/ (GEA) profit and loss account 115 (24) 10 101
<3 & =N Acquisition of subsidiaries — 16 — 16
eI S IR S A XK Relating to business injected
ﬁff #A by non-controlling interest 280 - - 280
E BEmM2EEENR Charged to other comprehensive
Income 21 — — 21
ERFE Exchange rate adjustment 1) 3) — (4)
é R-ZZE—MNF At 31 December 2014 and
% +ZA=+—Bk 1 January 2015
& —E-RF—A—H 680 804 761 2,245
H BffaEaR Charged/(credited) to consolidated
:; meg,/(GFA) profit and loss account 25 (17) (193) (185)
2 HEH B AR Disposal of subsidiaries (698) (582) (433) (1,713)
E B Exchange rate adjustment @ (31) — (38)
5
H*:%E £¢ At 31 December 2015
— A= — 174 135 309

Under the Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has been provided for
undistributed profits to the extent that declaration of dividends are
anticipated in the foreseeable future.

REBEPEARLMBEDES  BIRMABH
EHHERBEARE —ETNF—H—
B A Bk EX A0 AR P S A6 B AR B T K e
BEEFIBIARDENBEAERELED
RREME RS B ERIETAME
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SHMERBAEE 29. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
R-_E—RE+=—A=+—H Hi3 At 31 December 2015, other non-current liabilities included government
MHEEREEERARELERENKT grants of HK$702 million (2014: HK$865 million) recognised as deferred
WA BTREEL(ZE—HF: 5% revenue. The government grants mainly represent subsidies granted by
865 EBEIT) M@ TE AT EAR PRC governmental authorities towards the purchases of leasehold land.
HMBEBENRESEERE LN
Af o

=t R 30. SHARE CAPITAL

—E-EfF —E e
2015 2014

BHEE HE f&1n & B HE
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal -
shares value shares value E
BER BEEER BER BEBEEST
million HK$ million million HK$ million .
o
BT R BRI Issued and fully paid %
R—A—H At 1 January 2,421 15,740 2,403 2,403 g
1TIEBE RS A Exercise of share options - - 2 14 g

BRI PR A (MfsE+ )  Capital reduction (Note 15) — (10,000) — —

BITUARKR BB, Issue of scrip dividend shares 12 273 16 326

A & B T (B 1% 8 1% Transfer of share premium

&1 B upon abolition of par value - - — 12,997 §
3
R+=-—A=+—H At 31 December 2,433 6,013 2,421 15,740 i
3
o
faE - BRI AMFBEHR M EREM T+ - Note: Details of capital reduction are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements. ":(;,
8
2
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S-FeRERERME 31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT
B RETHZRERE A  Cash flows from operating activities
—E-RF —E-mEF
2015 2014
BEEET BEEEIT
HK$ million HK$ million
BBLRT(E518), % F (Loss)/profit before taxation (2,453) 1,841
FE Adjustments for:
JEEEE N R EEFE Share of net results of associates 4 (14)
ElEEELEEFEFE Share of net results of joint ventures 2 78
HEMRBRAG, E5HE Profit on disposal of subsidiaries/business
Vi ) (744) (12)
BN EHEHEEEED Loss on re-measurement of disposal group
E 18 2,222 —
HEREREEEH Profit on disposal of available
for sale investments 9) (147)
AERENRERA Dividend income from available
for sale investments (1) 7)
ER RS Exchange loss/(gain) 477 71)
FEWBA Interest income (419) (714)
e Interest expenses 463 433
HEBRTEEEFERE Net loss on disposal of fixed assets 113 96
ERRZEETEEREREE Impairment loss recognised on fixed assets 390 524
ERRAZEERERE Impairment loss recognised on goodwil 2,518 —
ERRZIFEREREE Impairment loss recognised on stocks 353 38
we Depreciation 4,364 4,795
H b & Amortisation of other intangible assets 42 52
KEMESHAR Valuation gain on investment properties (108) 610)
BT R U 4 B Government grants recognised (299) (336)
LEECEHRIZKLERE Operating cash inflows before working
Vi capital changes 6,911 5,946
ENEeEe Prepayment for rental deposit 30 (64)
HEiFE 228 Changes in other stocks 3,621 479
B REMERZKBZEH Changes in trade and other receivables 18 2,011
B REMENKEBEZEZH Changes in trade and other payables (2,749) (1,983)
KERB RS Cash generated from operations 7,831 6,389
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- ZERERERM T @ 31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

fisE: RAREBRENALRREEBEREER

NEBEENERIR S EHEH -

Note: The promissory note receivable from CRH has been settled and set off with the
special dividend payable to CRH.

STATEMENT (Continued)
Z HEKBAT %% B Disposal of subsidiaries/business
—E-HF —E—gF
2015 2014
BEEERT ok A==
HK$ million HK$ million
HEEEFE: Net assets disposed of:
EEE Fixed assets 60,242 10
& Goodwill 7,268 —
Hihmp&E Other intangible assets 212 —
REEE QA 2 = Interests in associates 338 —
REELEZER Interests in joint ventures 970 —
AERE Available for sale investments 115 —
AT RIA Prepayment 697 — —
BRI TBE = Deferred taxation assets 559 — g
FE Stocks 14,885 1 S
B 5 & HE b fE W kI8 Trade and other receivables 11,915 14
AR @ A% 1R Taxation recoverable 21 — g
DIERRITETE Pledged bank deposits 410 — =
He MRTERT Cash and bank balances 13,569 — i
B 5 M H b B R IB Trade and other payables (52,177) (13) g
RHEX Short term loans (7,796) —
JET IE Taxation payable (752) —
RHER Long term loans (10,150) —
HEMIERBEE Other non-current liabilities (1,558) - -
RLERIBEAE Deferred taxation liabilities (1,713) — ®
B
=
37,055 12 -
FEFE BRI =R Non-controlling interests (6,539) (13) g
rEEE Reserve released (1,260) ) s
HEWB AR EBHME Profit on disposal of g
il subsidiaries/business 744 12 g
30,000 5
ATRH 3 24T Satisfied by: ;@
REeRE Cash consideration 14,579 5 B
AL E R (M) Promissory note (Note) 15,421 — ];:
30,000 5 g
g
(]
HEMBLAR, £BFREZ Analysis of the net inflow of cash and §
ReERRSEERANTE cash equivalents in respect of disposal °
By of subsidiaries/business
BUWIRERE Cash considerations received 14,579 5
HERSRRITER Cash and bank balances disposed of (13,569) -
1,010 5
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- HgEREREXRMTF @ 31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Continued)

Z HEMBRAR %@ B Disposal of subsidiaries/business (Continued)
R-ZZE—RAFRANHE AR A HEHEHE On 4 May 2015, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
EBRIIVEEWMSR(ZCE—"HRF AT agreement (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 15
ABEBR YAz BIhARARE June 2015) with CRH, pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell
HE MEFEERETRAEEEAER S and CRH agreed to purchase all of the non-beer businesses of the
EBIE MR ¥ 75 AR (B A 7B B 30018 T Group at a total consideration of HK$30,000 million. The disposal was

s HEEEBEN -_ZE—HEFNA—8H completed on 1 September 2015.
TERK °
A WBEHBAG £ C Acquisition of subsidiaries/business
— —E-MEF
o 2015 2014
g BEHET BUEEET
2 HK$ million HKS$ million
g RIWEBRFSEERARE The assets acquired and liabilities recognised
at the dates of acquisition:
] TEE Fixed assets 194 253
b HithmpEE Other intangible assets = 1
i =
e Stocks 51 14
B 5 & E A fE W FRIE Trade and other receivables 20 —
Re RRITET Cash and bank balances 20 —
o B 5 Mk H AR E Trade and other payables (152) (124)
3 EHERK Short term loans (4) —
2 BLEHIAEE Deferred taxation liabilities - (16)
2
2 129 128
i I 22 il AR 3R 4 2 Non-controlling interests (11) ®)
> WEREEsEHE Goodwill on acquisition - 518
-
118 640
o ATH A AT Discharged by:
E e Cash = 340
§ SR R/NETE L N Transfer from associates 10 —
g DETEZIA Equity instruments issued 108 300
8 118 640
-
1’5 WEHBAT #2384 K Analysis of the net outflow of cash and
HEeESERENFEIN cash equivalents in respect of
acquisition of subsidiaries/business’s
undertaking
ENESRE Cash consideration paid - (340)
WHEMSIRe RIRTTHET Cash and bank balances acquired 20 —
20 (340)
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ST EAREIE 32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
—E-RF —E-mEF
2015 2014
BEEET BEEETT
HK$ million HK$ million
REERMARTK 2 EARAYE  Capital commitments outstanding at the
PO balance sheet date are as follows:
B2 4018 15 R B E (M) Contracted but not provided for (Note) 4,262 16,935
M BERBRERTEEZEARAARERLBE Note: Including contractual commitments for the acquisition of fixed assets of
4262B B (=T — W - B¥16,7998 HK$4,262 million (2014: HK$16,799 million).
Bite)
ST E XM EE 33. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS =
%
B {ERABEA A Aslessee
—®-FF -—T-mF g
2015 2014 3
- —_— . 4 — (]
BEEET BEEETT -
HK$ million HK$ million S
REEH BIBETAFHEZE  Atthe balance sheet date, the total
EOBEBRINTEHESZNZ future minimum lease payments under
=B ERERE non-cancellable operating leases are i
payable as follows: §
—E—FR — Within one year 50 6,273 g
—hEE_FEERF — In the second to fifth year inclusive f
(BRERMF) 5 29,051 )
—HEZHE — After five years 5 21,115 2
QO
60 56,439 2
MeRETER S +ECHSEN Operating leases are negotiated for lease terms principally ranged from
% o 1 to 20 years. B
e
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St B EHORE @ 33. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (continued)
Z fEREMEA B Aslessor
—B-HF —ZT -
2015 2014
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HKS$ million
WEEE BB EEZE  Atthe balance sheet date, the total
LR THRRER 2 future minimum lease payments under
SR ERIBEEE non-cancellable operating leases are
receivable as follows:
—E—FR — Within one year = 1,660
—HEF_FEERF — In the second to fifth year inclusive
(BHEEEMS) - 3,105
g —hFEZE — After five years = 703
E - 5,468
]
R-ZE—mME+—_HA=+—H HZY As at 31 December 2014, these properties and retail outlets have
# L EEESH AR TEMAEHAN T committed tenants for lease terms principally ranged from 1 to 20
5 1 204F o years.
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CIRERBEERS 34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

H AXArrg@EEMEBAR(BRAARZE A Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are
BAT)ETZRXSEREERE RS related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation
£ 0 0 EE TR AN EE P O EE - BR AN B S R and are not disclosed in this note. In addition to the transactions and
EZTWBIZ2RX G RESI  NEHHE balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group
TRINEZTEERBERS entered into the following material related party transactions:

—E-RF —ET—-MEF
2015 2014
BEEET BB EET
HK$ million HK$ million
M T3 AREAEM Purchase of goods from
NElEE B AT Fellow subsidiaries 1,145 1,100
SN Associates = 112
B2 THRRRE 2R Receipt of services from %
NEEE 2B R A Fellow subsidiaries 233 79 o
/N Associates 14 20
>
mTHAREEE M Sales of goods to g
— BT A A A holding company 6 1 3
IS/NE] - B /N ellow subsidiaries o}
SREEEZKEAA Fell bsidiari 63 13 G
o
ERNGIE 3 E Rendering of services to 3
—HEERAR] A holding company 15 —
REIEB 2B AT Fellow subsidiaries 6 13
Fl/NE] Associates 5 9 .
& EHAHRIE Operating lease payment to g
BAREEZHERR Fellow subsidiaries 78 110 g
b
AT~ 51 A B WCER S Interest received from 5
— a2 B A 7 A holding company 6 98 e
BARIEBEZHEB AR A fellow subsidiary 10 25 2
g
M TR ZAFE Interest paid to g
—EERA A A holding company = 4 g
RAIEBEZHWERF] A fellow subsidiary 1 2
RIEEFHE R HZE MRMEEIE Transaction under godown management
HEETR S agreement and facilities management B>
M T %) 2 &) U B AR 7% & Receipt of service fee from ?uﬁ
—EERA A A holding company 65 98 B¢
NAEEZ B A A Fellow subsidiaries 75 86 &
el
[=]
BRNINCIFENE- Payment of monthly fee to g
—EERRA A A holding company 6 9 g
NAEEZHEBA A Fellow subsidiaries 18 27 g
Y

As at 31 December 2014, cash and bank balances or pledged bank
deposits included deposits of HK$252 million made by the Group to
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.

R_ZT—NFE+_A=1+—H A&H
REKBEBEEITROER D ANER
(RREASMETEABKERBRITE
) BB BE T

CRH has guaranteed shareholder’s loan(s) up to a maximum aggregate
amount of HK$10,000 million, details are set out in Note 15 to the
financial statements.

EHEEERBREERRES LSS
10,0008 B0 HFRBRHRMBHE
aE+F -
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SIRERBEERS @) 34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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(Continued)

 HEMPEAGBBERIZHEE 2 Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
Rt entities in Chinese Mainland
AREEARFATBEBRRA(ZAA The Group itself is a part of a larger group of companies under CRNC
P BEBFZES)ETN —EREAAFE which is controlled by the PRC government. Apart from the transactions
ZKE BREEBHANAEBERAE with CRNC group and the associates of the Group, it also conducts
BB NREITZ XS KREBINE businesses with entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the
AEXBAEPEPBEBNEZENEE PRC government in the ordinary course of business. The directors are
AN ERETEEEXR -EF of the opinion that those entities other than the CRNC group do not
RE BREFRAANEBRIN ZS5EE have the power to govern or participate in the financial and operating
WHEDSRNRERTANE B 2 B 5% policies of the Group. The transactions including sales and purchases
REREHE BHZEBTRET X5 (B of goods and services and bank deposits and corresponding interest
EEEEMMRBERBITERNERZ income, with these entities are conducted in the ordinary course of the
g FTRABE) IR ANEER —REBBIRES Group’s business. The Group believes that it has provided, at the best
% Mo AREBRE FEETEM E X of its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of related party
g MBS E RO MFTEHBEENK - transactions as summarised above.
o
Qo
A TEEBEASEZHFM Compensation of key management personnel
#®
. XRNTHESERAUESHFEEINE Remuneration paid for key management personnel other than directors
& ZEBABZMEFRBOT or the five highest paid employees are as follows:
—E-RF —E—mF
@ 2015 2014
§ BEERETT BEEET
g HK$ million HK$ million
g EXF & KR Basis salaries and allowances 1.20 3.75
° NESHR Provident fund contribution 0.11 0.23
= TE4L Bonus - 1.00
g
£
ol 1.31 5.20
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L EEEBRKRHEEED 35. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

OF THE COMPANY
B BEAEERXR A Balance Sheet
R-ZE—ARF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2015
—ZE-AF —E—mE
2015 2014
BEEETT BEEETT
HK$ million HK$ million
ERBEE Non-current assets
TEE Fixed assets
—REYHE —Investment properties - 66
—HiWs - MR EERE —Other property, plant and equipment 6 7
R BAR 2R Interests in subsidiaries 8,753 28,595 =
3
%
8,759 28,0668
>
]
RBEE Current assets 3
g 5 K& H Ath & U R IE Trade and other receivables 350 553 o
— o
e NIRTETF Cash and bank balances 929 5,081 S
1,279 5,634
&
mEEE Current liabilities §
B 5N EMENKIE Trade and other payables (506) (1,981) §
3
o
(506) (1,981) <
E‘J"
g
RBEERE Net current assets 773 3,653 g
BEERRBES Total assets less current liabilities 9,532 32,321
FRBEE Non-current liabilities ;@
JE < Bt BB 1 ) R IE Amount due to subsidiaries (2,469) (10,879) =
EERTEA & Deferred taxation liabilities (1) (1) 2
&l
(2,470) (10,880) o
3
2
7,062 21,441 3
BAREE Capital and reserves
f& 7 Share capital 6,013 15,740
FE1E Reserves 1,049 5,701
7,062 21,441
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Z=EHE (J2h%) PR 2 & China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
BT #53R 5T =E Notes to the Financial Statements

ki X PR 2
Notes to the Financial Statements

CHLEEEBREHEEES W@ 35. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

Z

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

RKARZEEES B Reserve movement of the Company
R-ZZFE-—AF+-A=1+—~H At 31 December 2015
W i
L3 b

EER®R g3 %0

WEHM®E Sharesheld

Employee forrestricted

[R{3%E  share-based incentive R & &

Share compensation award Retained &3t
premium reserve scheme profits Total
BEEET BEEBT BEAEBEr AKEER RAEEER
HKS million HKS million HK$ million HKS million HKS million

RZZ—NE—AF—H At 1 January 2014 12,992 172 (451) 2,811 15,524
BIIRODRE Shares issued at premium 5 - - - 5
KREERF Profit for the year - - - 3,718 3713
BENHERBIME Purchase or sale of shares under

RS ol restricted incentive award scheme - - 58 - 58
BEMEBDAER Transfer upon abolition of par value

ERBROAERER under the new Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance (12,997 - — — (12,997
% Dividends - - - (602) (602)
RZE-MF At 31 December 2014 and

+ZA= 1 January 2015

kZ%T—- ﬁﬁ H—H - 172 (393 5,922 5,701
KERRT Profit for the year - - - 15,292 15,292
BEHHERSIE Purchase or sale of shares under

LR ol restricted incentive award scheme - - 368 - 368
BB R A Capital reduction - - - 10,000 10,000
e Dividends - - - (30312) (30312)
R-ZZE-h%F At 31 December 2015

+ZA=+-H - 172 (25) 902 1,049

RRARAIHESRTRREZFEHERABE Reserves of the Company available for distribution to the shareholders
Q2EEBIL(ZZ—F : B¥5860H 5 amounted to HK$902 million (2014: HK$5,860 million).
JT) ©



SINBRERREH

RZFE—A"F=ZA=-H A aH
Anheuser-Busch InBev SA/NV ([ABI]) &7
VYEEWME B -ABIEBEKHR
BERFEMIFBBEE(EM BERA A
([SABMiller Asial) i & & A R & B B &
HREWEESERD HERBHSERH
ERAR([EBEIEEE]) 40%E B 47
B AN 48 %8 - B Bl A~ 2 7) & SABMiller Asia
DRI HEABES1%RA9%  BREAEETT
1,600 &L (HEFR OB 124408 &
T0) AR B B RS 8 16 R R R
FiRe AR EFBARAALEEST LM
RABTEBABEERREHER TN
ATFASEESTFR(BEER R
R ARE) (WMER) AR SER - TR
B EFHSERBEEXNARNATNEE
MEBAR - BEATBHREIER  Z
W bE = I8 (W R TEAK ©

SHRLE RS

FIREFIOAMEA 2T BRES
EFEenN _ZE-RE=AtN\HA#tE-

36.

37.
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 2 March 2016, the Company and Anheuser-Busch InBev SA/NV
(“ABI”) entered into a sales and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
ABI has conditionally agreed to procure SABMiller Asia Limited
(“SABMiller Asia”) to sell, and the Company has conditionally agreed to
acquire, the 49% equity interest in China Resources Snow Breweries
Limited (“China Resources Snow Breweries”), a company currently
owned as to 51% by the Company and 49% by SABMiller Asia, at a
total consideration of US$1,600 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$12,440 million), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth in the sales and purchase agreement. The consideration is
expected to be satisfied by the Company in cash using a combination
of various funding options (including debt and/or equity financing) as
appropriate in compliance with the disclosure and shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Upon completion, China
Resources Snow Breweries will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. The acquisition was not completed as at the date of
approval of the financial statements.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements set out on pages 96 to 169 were approved by
the board of directors on 18 March 2016.
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EE[EE 2 F Principal Subsidiaries

170

3% BN
/Dmm//a/ Subsidiaries

R=—Z—AF+=H=+—H At 31 December 2015
RAF AL
Percentage of capital
BRATEERRES EMEX AEEEE FAERKE WEARRKE
HEBAR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable  held by the heldby FE#¥
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries Principal activities
(=) BF
(1) Beer
REBEMA L
Incorporated in Hong Kong
ZRBMESHERAT 2RRE BB 51.0 - 1000 8%
CRE Beverage Trading Limited 2 ordinary shares Financing
REBEZBEBEMAR YL
e Incorporated in British Virgin Islands
o
E EPRSTEWEERAT 42800400 FREEIE T2 E MK 51.0 51.0 - RARR
3 China Resources Snow Breweries Limited 42,800,400 ordinary shares of US$1 each Investment holding
Qo
<
LR EEL A
i{g Incorporated in Chinese Mainland
&
v EHSEREW))EREERA AR¥124,143,8537C 51.0 - 1000 BEMHEELHER
China Resources Snow RMB124,143,853 Manufacturing and distribution
Breweries (Sichuan) Co., Ltd of beer products
g
3 - SRwE(NT)EREEAT AEH147,047,237 7T 510 - 1000 RENHEBEER
E Chlna Resources Snow RMB147,047,237 7T Manufacturing and distribution
2 Breweries (Nejjiang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
2
" v OEHESEREEMBERAF 31,200,000% 7T 51.0 - 1000 HEMHELBER
%é China Resources Snowflake US$31,200,000 Manufacturing and distribution
- Brewery (Jiiin) Co., Ltd. of beer products
Fe
o OEEERBEMRBE)ERAR AR #260,000,0007C 51.0 - 1000 BEMHEERHER
RMB260,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
g of beer products
f=
g
§ o ERSREBE(RB)BERAR AR 246,000,000 7T 51.0 - 1000 EEMBEGHER
g China Resources Snow RMB246,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
§ Breweries (Anhui) Co., Ltd. of beer products
S
s O OERSREMEGLBRARF AR ¥141,000,0007C 459 - 900 HEMHERBER
g& RMB141,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
A of beer products
o OERSREREEE)BERD AR #570,000,0007C 459 - 90.0 HEMHERBER
China Resources Snow RMB570,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Brewery (Wuhan) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o BERSRBE(RE)ERAR 12,982,255 7T 51.0 - 1000 HHEEEER
US$12,982,255 Distribution of beer products
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RAF AL
Percentage of capital
BRATEERRES EMEX AEEEE FAERKE WEARRKE
HEBAR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable  held by the heldby FE#¥
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries Principal activities
(=) WE (&)
(1)  Beer (Continued)
A B P R L ()
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (continued)
v EESRMEGLR)BRAF 21,000,000% T 51.0 - 1000 BEMHELBER
US$21,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERSREBEEH)ERAR A K #70,000,000 70 51.0 - 1000 BEMBESEER
China Resources Snow RMB70,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Breweries (Shu Cheng) Co., Ltd. of beer products
T ERESREME(ER)BRAA 55,850,000% 7T 51.0 - 1000 BEMHEELHER
US$55,850,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
O OEESREME(RE)BERAT 44,250,000% T 495 - 97.0 HERHERAER
China Resources Snow US$44,250,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Breweries (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o ERSREME(RE BRAR 32,797 869X TT 51.0 - 1000 BEMHEEHER
China Resources Snow US$32,797,869 Manufacturing and distribution
Brewery (Dalian) Co., Ltd. of beer products
T BEESEBECHI) ERAF AR #187,000,0007C 51.0 - 1000 BEMHEELHER
RMB187,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
v EESRERE (BB ERAT A B % 45,000,000 7 51.0 - 1000 REMHELBER
RMB45,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERESREMERM)BERAR AR 69,440,0007C 51.0 - 1000 BEMEEEHER
RMB69,440,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
v EHSRERE(REILERAR 25,800,000 & 51.0 - 1000 BEMBHEREER
China Resources Snow US$25,800,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Breweries (Heilongjiang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o BEEERWE(IH)ARAA 114,000,000F 7t 51.0 - 1000 HEMHEELHER
China Resources Snow US$114,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Breweries (Jiangsu) Limited of beer products
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FE{B A 7 Principal Subsidiaries

3T R RY
Pﬁ/?(a{m/ Subsidiaries

RAF AL
Percentage of capital
BRATEERRES EMEX AEEEE FAERKE WEARRKE
HEBAR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable  held by the heldby FE#¥
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries Principal activities
(=) WE (&)
(1)  Beer (Continued)
A B P R L ()
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (continued)
o BEEERWE(ER)ARAA 15,700,000 1. 51.0 - 1000 HEMHEELHER
China Resources Snow US$15,700,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Breweries (Fujian) Co., Ltd. of beer products
s
g o ERSRBEMMBERAR AR 161,000,0007T 51.0 - 1000 HEMHEEEHER
é’ RMB161,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
§ of beer products
2
T ERSREME(RE)BERAR 20,103,388 7T 51.0 - 1000 SUEMHELHER
K US$20,103,388 Manufacturing and distribution
% of beer products
v EESEME(ER)BRAT 14,000,000 T 51.0 - 1000 REMHELBER
China Resources Snow US$14,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
8 Breweries (Xingan) Co., Ltd. of beer products
3
3 Y EEEERELA)ERAR 11,500,000 7 510 - 1000 BERNHELEES
2 US$11,500,000 Manufacturing and distribution
g of beer products
= _
= v EESERECEN)ERDA 55,800,000% 7T 51.0 - 1000 BEMHERBER
% China Resources Snow US$55,800,000 Manufacturing and distribution
i Breweries (Wenzhou) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o BEERBE(HR)ARAA 31,000,000E 7T 51.0 - 1000 HEMHEELHER
g US$31,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
s of beer products
° o OEESREACTE)BRAF 36,500,000% 7T 51.0 - 1000 HEMHERBER
g US$36,500,000 Manufacturing and distribution
8 of beer products
s
iﬁ o OEHEERE(FRAMARDA AR 121,000,000 51.0 - 1000 REMHEEHER
A RMB21,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o BEEERWE(KEB)ARAA 21,100,000F 7t 51.0 - 1000 BEMHEELHER
US$21,100,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
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EN=P

Percentage of capital

BRATEERRES EMEX AEEEE FAERKE WEARRKE
HEBAR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable  held by the heldby FE#¥
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries Principal activities
(=) WE (&)
(1)  Beer (Continued)
A B P R L ()
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (continued)
o BEEERE(ER)ARAR 88,710,000% ¢ 51.0 - 1000 BEMHEELHER
US$88,710,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
=0
O OERSRBERR)BRAR AR 34,000,000 459 - 900 HEMHEMLEER E
RMB34,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution i
of beer products =
>
g
o OEHERERE(LB)ARAE AR 550,000,000 51.0 - 1000 REMHELTEER 3
RMB550,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution 5
of beer products .§
o BEEERWEGEMNABRAR AR 77,680,000 51.0 - 1000 BEMEELHER
RMB77,680,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products by
i
T BERERBE(ERABR)ERAF AR #110,000,0007T 51.0 - 1000 BEMHEEHER %
RMB110,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution f
of beer products <:3
P
v RESERBECEM BRAF AR #180,000,00070 51.0 - 1000 REAMHEREES 3
RMB180,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution %
of beer products @
o BEEERWERMABRAR 24,000,000F 7T 51.0 - 1000 BEMHEREER
US$24,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution N
of beer products ?ﬂ;
or
v ERSERE(IE)ERAR AR %400,000,0007C 510 - 1000 REMHEEEER g
RMB400,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution é
of beer products ‘g")
3
v EESERE®E)ERAF AR #65,000,0007C 51.0 - 1000 BEMHELBER §
RMB65,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution s
of beer products
v EESRWE (BN ERAR A K #140,000,0007T 51.0 - 1000 REMHELBER
RMB140,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
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3T R RY
/Dﬁ/ka{m/ Subsidiaries

RAF AL
Percentage of capital
ERTZERRE HEMEL AEEEE FAERKE WEARRKE
HEBAR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable  held by the heldby FE#¥
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries Principal activities
(=) WE (&)
(1)  Beer (Continued)
A B P e 5 A A (4D
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (continued)
o OBEEERWE(ZE)ARARA 19,000,000 1. 51.0 - 1000 BEMHEELHER
China Resources Snow US$19,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Breweries (Ningxia) Co., Ltd. of beer products
s
g o BERRB(AER)ERAF 17,000,000% T 51.0 - 1000 BEMBESEER
é’ US$17,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
‘:o‘; of beer products
2
T RREENESEREERAT 30,000,000 7T 51.0 - 1000 BEMHPEREER
i{g Tianjin Binhai New Area US$30,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
% Snow Breweries Co., Ltd of beer products
T OBEERWE(ER)ARAA AR #282,040,0007C 4838 - 9.7 HENHERBER
RMB282,040,000 Manufacturing and distribution
é of beer products
_ﬂg)
5 (2) REREM
2 (2) Investments and Others
2
" REEHSEMAL
%é Incorporated in Cayman Islands
&
Ll Purple Finance Limited SREREEIFTIERR 100.0 100.0 - B%
3 ordinary shares of US$1 each Financing
B 5
Notes:

—. EERR 2EFIMEMBARAABEERABEARIIR M EREHIHAEEXEXEEASAZE N B RAAFE -
1. The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars of all subsidiaries will be of excessive length and therefore the above list contains
only the particulars of the subsidiaries which materially affect the results or assets of the Group.

BRRAZRAEN SRRAZEELEMAERR MBI EMAMAKSIAAEME -

¥R Corporate Governance
N

Unless otherwise stated, the principal country of operation of each company is the same as its place of incorporation.
= HEPBERMEMKZZ AR EEXEZBERARS B ZHELESER -
8% For companies incorporated in the Chinese Mainland, the English name is as shown in the Certificate of Approval of each company.
T RER¥
* Equity Joint Venture
** INE B

* Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise
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AEFIEERHEE Five-Year Financial Summary

—E——F ZT—=F =ZT—= —E—mE Z—E-—=HEF
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
BEEET BAY¥BEERT AKBEERXT BE¥aEET BYEER
HKS$ milion  HK$ million HKS$ million HK$ milion  HK$ million
mE¥EE Consolidated results
= Turnover 110,164 126,236 146,413 168,864 133,103
% 3R A8 F, Profit/(loss) attributable
() to shareholders 3,013 3,945 1,908 (161) (3,995)
BREREF, Basic earnings/(loss)
(E18) per share HK$1.25 HK$1.64 HK$0.79 HK$(0.07) HK$(1.65)
f& % B Dividend per share
A Interim HK$0.15 HK$0.15 HK$0.13 HK$0.11 -
L=331l Special - - - - HK$12.30
RNH Final HK$0.32 HK$0.15 HK$0.14 HK$0.16 -
HK$0.47 HK$0.30 HK$0.27 HK$0.27 HK$12.30
mEEEBMBX  Consolidated balance
sheet
TEE Fixed assets 50,240 56,971 69,117 88,060 25,531
EES Goodwiill 10,755 14,948 19,428 22,854 9,938
Hh A & B Other intangible assets 310 295 562 510 232
EHKE Long term investments 463 517 530 1,415 12
I8~ FRE Prepayments 305 2,258 876 1,015 188
BRI IEE E Deferred taxation assets 762 992 1,540 2,274 1,975
mEBEFE Net current liabilities (2,383) (6,677) (10,454) (21,118) (9,207)
E&EA Employment of capital 60,452 69,304 81,599 95,010 28,669
A% A Share capital 2,399 2,401 2,403 15,740 6,013
& Reserves 35,440 38,341 41,670 33,007 5,990
A% R = Shareholders’ funds 37,839 40,742 44,073 48,747 12,003
JE 20 I B% B4 25 Non-controlling interests 12,633 13,042 15,538 20,876 11,057
EHED Long term loans 8,442 13,352 19,346 19,872 4,582
HthREEE Other non-current liabilities 532 669 811 3,270 718
RLEFHREEE Deferred taxation liabilities 1,006 1,499 1,831 2,245 309
BEERES® Capital employed 60,452 69,304 81,599 95,010 28,669
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AT]ER Corporate Information

RILH
&ﬁ/aﬁa le ﬁ(faﬁm Lion

FTERHTES BIYFHTES
Chairman and Executive Director Independent Non-Executive Directors
B BA Chen Lang = A%  Houang Tai Ninh

. _ ZZRFE  LiKaCheung, Eric
HRATERATES HZ A Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director B2 ®  Bernard Chamwut Chan
AR H N
AT Hong Jie MM SiuKwing Chue, Gordon
BEERBTES ATWE
Vic\je:t Chairman andﬂExecutive Director Company Secretary
BHE  LiuHongi B4 LaiNiHium, Frank
BEREMBERBITES B T
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director Auditor
B i LaiNiHium, Frank % 5 O S B E R
kI TES PricewaterhouseCoopers
Non-Executive Directors SMREER T EA
% X K Du Wgnmin Registered Office and Principal Place of Business
oy MR B 8 (775 B 269 2 M A B30I
[ VEELED 39/F, China Resources Building

FR & Chen Ying
FE Wang Yan

TN

Arfwwab‘/w( fw& (hvestors

26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

BN A EE About The Group

ZILFEBRER To Our Shareholders

NEFEE Bz 17 B R iR
Announcement of Annual Results Share Registrar Stock Codes
201643 418 H SEREERAA RS R H A 00291
18 March 2016 BB 2R ANERI83H TIE 291 HK
&M 02218 P& AL+ 0291.HK
8 TEmERMBFELEFE Tricor Standard Limited ADRA 5% : CRHKY
% Closure of Register of Members Level 22, Hopewell Centre CUSIP: 16940R109
8 BEARLFEREAFEARAGIWMNE E 183 Queen’s Road East Hong Kong Stock Exchange : 00291
5 BEZRRESMD : Hong Kong Bloomberg : 291 HK
g 201645 A20H £201645 A 25H Reuters : 0291.HK
i (EERMXBEEN) ADR symbol : CRHKY
i To determine the identity of members RZEFXEE CUSIP : 16940R109
i’ﬁ who are entitled to attend and vote at the ~ Depositary
annual general meeting: BNY Mellon Shareowner Services REEBE
20 May 2016 to 25 May 2016 (both days ~ P.O.Box 30170, Investor Relations
inclusive) College Station, FH : ir@cre.com.hk
Tx 77842-3170 Email : ir@cre.com.hk
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